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Products and services in Switzerland

Residential Customers 

Swisscom offers products and services from the core business under the Swisscom corporate branding, as well as 
under the secondary brands Wingo and SimplyMobile and the third-party brand M-Budget. In order to provide its 
customers with the best communications experiences, Swisscom is constantly adjusting its portfolio of offerings 
to meet customer needs. The offerings were further simplified following the launch of the inOne subscription 
packages in spring 2017. Their modular structure allows customers to select the individual components according 
to their needs. 

Offerings for private individuals
Thanks to “inOne home”, Swisscom is able to offer private individuals a bundled offering tailored to customer 
needs with a choice of TV and/or fixed-line telephony on top of the broadband connection. For all three compo-
nents, customers can select from three separately priced profiles with varying levels of service. The profiles differ 
mainly in terms of Internet speed, the number of TV channels available, the activation of the recording and replay 
functions, and the free call minutes/SMS allocation. Customers can also choose not to include the TV and fixed-
line telephony components in their individual package. 
In “inOne mobile”, Swisscom has launched a new mobile subscription that provides customers with an even larger 
scope of service. This subscription allows Swisscom customers to make unlimited phone calls and send unlimited 
SMS messages to all Swiss networks, as well as unlimited Internet surfing at flat rates. The profiles in the offering 
mainly differ in terms of mobile data speeds and the inclusive services when abroad. “inOne mobile” customers 
can use their mobile line with the same telephone number on up to three devices at once. Swisscom offers occa-
sional users of the mobile network prepaid services with no monthly subscription fee. The basic tariff of the 
“inOne mobile prepaid” subscription also offers faster surfing speeds and three new bundled packages to meet a 
wide range of customer needs. With “inOne XTRA mobile”, young people under the age of 26 will receive a dis-
count on their subscription. The new “SimplyMobile” subscription, which is available in selected Coop sales chan-
nels, is the first offering in Switzerland in which the data allowance does not expire at the end of the month. 
Customers can now hand their damaged mobile phones into Swisscom Repair Centres and have them repaired 
without the phone leaving the Swisscom Shop, while myCloud offers Swisscom customers a Swiss solution for the 
secure management and sharing of their personal data, such as photos, videos and documents. Customers can 
securely save their important documents, passwords and notes in Docsafe. Swisscom is also continually upgrad-
ing its service offerings, thus catering to changing customer needs. 

Offerings for SMEs
Swisscom offers companies with up to five employees “inOne SME office”, and companies with six employees or 
more “Smart Business Connect”. The two bundled offerings include a broadband connection, a fixed-line tele-
phony service and additional services such as an Internet failover. The “inOne SME office” offering can be expanded 
to include the TV service. Within this offering, customers can choose the components and assemble them into a 
package that meets their needs. In addition, customers with “inOne SME mobile” can make unlimited phone calls 
and send unlimited SMS messages to all Swiss networks, as well as enjoy unlimited surfing, for an all-in flat rate. 
Customers can choose from a range of profiles with different prices and services. In this way, customers only use 
and pay for the services they actually need. 
Thanks to modern collaboration functions (UCC) and modular IT product components (Dynamic Computing Ser-
vices and Business Network Solutions), SMEs are gaining a measure of flexibility in their everyday work, as they can 
modify their IT and communications infrastructure at any time to meet their requirements. Swisscom also offers 
software from the cloud (Storebox, Microsoft Office 365 and HomepageTool) as well as full service solutions. 
Through the digital solutions on offer, Swisscom gives its SME customers the option to work on any device or in 
any location, and sets them up to overcome the challenges of an increasingly interconnected world. Furthermore, 
Swisscom gives SMEs access to information and directory services in the form of localsearch, which makes it easy 
to find addresses, telephone numbers and detailed information on companies – on the Internet, via the mobile 
app and in the printed telephone directory (Local Guide).
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 Enterprise Customers

Digitisation is substantially changing business processes, business models, the customer experience and the 
working world in companies. It therefore requires solid communication networks. Swisscom makes use of its 
many years of experience as an integrated telecommunications and IT company in providing customers with sup-
port during the digitisation process. The company works together with customers to develop future-oriented 
solutions, supported by one of the most comprehensive ICT portfolios in Switzerland. This portfolio comprises 
cloud, outsourcing, workplace and UCC solutions, as well as mobile phone solutions, networking solutions, loca-
tion networking, business process optimisation, SAP solutions, security and authentication solutions (mobile ID) 
and a full range of services tailored to the banking industry, ranging from IT and business outsourcing to trend 
research. Swisscom expanded its cloud offering, IT security, digital consulting and software development in par-
ticular in 2017. In addition to this, Swisscom offers solutions relating to the Internet of Things, ranging from access 
to an international ecosystem to connectivity and service development. The company provides hospitals with 
support in the digitisation of processes and thus increases their efficiency levels. It also helps health insurance 
companies by assuming the operation of their core IT systems. Swisscom is driving digitisation in the healthcare 
sector by providing its networking solutions for service providers and implementing the electronic patient dossier 
system.

Wholesale

Swisscom provides a variety of copper- and fibre-optic-based connectors as per customer requirements. With the 
Carrier Ethernet service, Carrier Line service and TCA leased lines, Swisscom Wholesale provides telecoms service 
providers with high-quality, transparent, point-to-point connections that meet their needs with a range of band-
widths and interfaces and/or a flexible Ethernet service that allows for tailored bandwidths and service level 
agreements. Swisscom also provides basic offerings for the connection of telecommunication systems and 
services (interconnection) as well as infrastructure products such as the shared use of cable ducts.

Products and services in Italy

Fastweb provides its residential and corporate customers with voice and broadband services through its own 
ultrafast broadband network as well as via unbundled access lines and wholesale products of TIM. In 2017, 
Fastweb enhanced its convergence offerings by launching a mobile 4G service on the market, making its coverage 
and performance the best in Italy. Fastweb’s offerings are characterised by a sense of simplicity (three price plans), 
transparency (no promotions or hidden costs) and convergence (fixed network and mobile communications bun-
dled together). Fastweb also affirmed its leading role in the corporate customers sector in 2017, most notably in 
the public administration segment. During the year under review, Fastweb continued upgrading and expanding 
its fibre-optic network. 70% of the Fastweb FTTS network now provides speeds of up to 200 Mbps downstream; 
in addition, the FTTH network has been upgraded to offer speeds of 1 Gbps, and thanks to the joint venture with 
TIM (Flash Fiber), has been expanded to five additional major cities (Catania, Padua, Palermo, Perugia and Venice).
Finally, Fastweb has upgraded its WiFi sharing solution (WoW-Fi), which can turn a customer’s home router into a 
potential Wi-Fi access point for the entire Fastweb community. The new customer modem – known as FastGate – 
has one of the best WiFi performances on the market, while the new mobile app further enhances the customer 
experience.
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 Customer satisfaction

Swisscom Switzerland conducts segment-specific surveys and studies in order to measure general customer 
satisfaction. It measures customer satisfaction twice a year, in the second and fourth quarters of the year. The 
Wholesale segment measures customer satisfaction once a year. For all segments, the most important metrics 
are the extent to which customers are willing to recommend Swisscom to others and the related Net Promoter 
Score (NPS), which depicts the emotional aspects of customer loyalty as well as revealing customers’ attitudes 
towards Swisscom. The NPS is calculated from the difference between promoters (customers who would strongly 
recommend Swisscom) and critics (customers who would only recommend Swisscom with reservations or would 
not recommend the company). Swisscom also conducts the following segment-specific surveys and studies:
>	 The Residential Customers segment conducts representative surveys to determine customer satisfaction and 

the extent to which customers are willing to recommend Swisscom to others. Callers to the Swisscom hotline 
and visitors to the Swisscom Shops are questioned regularly about waiting times and staff friendliness. Product 
studies also regularly survey buyers and users to determine product satisfaction, service and quality.

>	 The Enterprise Customers segment conducts surveys among customers to measure satisfaction along the 
customer experience chain. Feedback instruments are also used at key customer contact points in order to 
determine customer satisfaction. After each interaction with the service desk or after placing orders, IT users 
can submit feedback or enter their comments in the order system. Customers can also assess the quality and 
success of their projects on completion. 

>	 The Wholesale segment measures customer satisfaction along the entire customer experience chain. 

The results of these studies and surveys help Swisscom to improve its services and products and they influence 
the variable performance-related component of employees’ pay. 
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Targets for the variable performance-related component
The targets underlying the variable performance-related component are adopted annually in December for the 
following year by the Board of Directors following a proposal submitted by the Compensation Committee. The 
targets relevant to the reporting year remained largely unchanged in line with the Group’s continuing corporate 
strategy. The targets are based on the Swisscom Group’s budget figures for 2017. 
All members of the Group Executive Board are measured against targets at the levels “Group”, “Customers” and 
“Segments”. Group targets consist of financial targets. Customer targets for the reporting year are measured using 
the Net Promoter Score – a recognised indicator of customer loyalty – taking into account the customer group for 
which the Group Executive Board member is responsible. Further information on customer satisfaction can be 
found in the Management Commentary.

See report
page 34

Segment targets are tailored to the relevant function of each Group Executive Board member and consist of finan-
cial and non-financial targets. As in the previous year, these include financial targets for the Italian subsidiary Fast-
web S.p.A. (Fastweb), based on which the Group Executive Board members delegated by Swisscom to Fastweb’s 
Board of Directors are measured. The target structure is thus aligned to Swisscom’s strategic priorities: strength-
ening the core business in Switzerland by offering the best infrastructure and customer experiences as well as 
through the realisation of new growth opportunities and further developing Fastweb in Italy.
The following table illustrates the target structure valid for the CEO and other Group Executive Board members in 
the year under review, showing the three target levels, individual targets and the respective weighting.

 	  	 	 	 Weighting of targets level
 	  	 Weighting of targets level	 	 of other members of the
Target levels 	 Objectives 	 CEO	 	 Group Executive Board

Group 	 Net revenue 	 18%	 	 12–18%	

 	 EBITDA margin 	 18%	 	 12–18%	

 	 Operating free cash flow 	 24%	 	 16–24%	

Customers 	 Net promoter score 	 20%	 	 20%	

Segments 	 Segment targets 	 20%	 	 20–40%	

Total 	  	 100%	 	 100%	

Achievement of targets 
The Compensation Committee determines the level of target achievement in the following year once the consol-
idated financial statements become available. Its decision is based on a quantitative assessment of the extent to 
which targets have been met using a scale for the overachievement and underachievement of each target. The 
achievement of an individual target can vary from 0% (if the lower limit is not achieved) to 200% (if the upper limit 
is exceeded). 

The overall achievement of targets governing the payment of the performance-related component is calculated 
according to the weighting of the individual targets. The payment is limited to a maximum of 130% of the target 
bonus. In determining the level of target achievement, the Compensation Committee has a degree of discretion 
in assessing the effective management performance, allowing special factors such as fluctuations in exchange 
rates to be taken into account. Based on the overall achievement of targets, the Compensation Committee 
submits a proposal for approval to the Board of Directors for the amount of the performance-related salary 
component to be paid to the Group Executive Board and the CEO.
In the year under review, the financial targets of the Group were on the whole exceeded. The customer targets 
were not fully met. Most of the other targets of the segments were achieved. 

Achievement scale for each target

200%

100%

0%

Payment limited if 130%  
of overall targets are met

At  
target

Upper  
limit

Measured  
performanceLower  

limit

Payment of the performance-related salary component is based on individual target achievement and 
is limited if 130% of overall targets are met (weighted target achievement across all individual targets).
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The subsequent payment of the performance-related component is 105% of the target bonus for the CEO and 
between 102% and 106% of the target bonus for the other members of the Group Executive Board.

Payment of the variable performance-related component
The variable performance-related component is paid in April of the following year, with 25% being paid in the form 
of Swisscom shares, in accordance with the Management Incentive Plan. Group Executive Board members may opt 
to increase this share by up to a maximum of 50%. The remaining portion of the performance-related component 
is settled in cash. In the event of a departure from the Group Executive Board during the course of the year, the 
payment of the performance-related component for the current year is generally made in full in cash. The decision 
of what percentage of the variable performance-related salary component is to be drawn in the form of shares 
must be communicated prior to the end of the reporting year, but no later than in November following the publi-
cation of the third-quarter results. In the year under review, three members of the Group Executive Board opted 
for a higher share component. The shares are allocated on the basis of their tax value, rounded up to whole num-
bers of shares, and are subject to a three-year blocking period. This restriction on disposal also applies if the 
employment relationship is terminated during the blocking period. The share-based remuneration disclosed in the 
year under review is augmented by a factor of 1.19 in order to take account of the difference between the market 
value and the tax value. The market value is determined as of the date of allocation. Shares in respect of the cur-
rent year are allocated in April 2018. 
In April 2017, a total of 2,121 shares (prior year: 1,841 shares) with a tax value of CHF 387 (prior year: CHF 439) per 
share and a market value of CHF 461 (prior year: CHF 522.50) per share were allocated for the 2016 financial year 
to the members of the Group Executive Board. 

Pension fund and fringe benefits
The members of the Group Executive Board, like all eligible employees in Switzerland, are insured against the risks of 
old age, death and disability through the comPlan pension plan (see pension fund regulations at www.pk-complan.
ch). The disclosed pension benefits (amounts which give rise to or increase pension entitlements) encompass all 
savings, guarantee and risk contributions paid by the employer to the pension plan. They also include the pro rata 
costs of the AHV bridging pension paid by comPlan in the event of early retirement and the premium for the 
supplementary life insurance concluded for Swisscom management staff in Switzerland. Further information 
about this is provided in Note 4.3 to the consolidated financial statements.

See report
pages 129—134

With regards to the disclosure of service-related and non-cash benefits and expenses, a tax-based point of view is 
taken. The members of the Group Executive Board are entitled to the use of a company car. The disclosed 
service-related and non-cash benefits rendered therefore include an amount for private use of the company car. 
Out-of-pocket expenses are reimbursed on a lump-sum basis in accordance with expense reimbursement rules 
approved by the tax authorities, and other expenses are reimbursed on an actual cost basis. They are not included 
in the reported remuneration.

http://www.pk-complan.
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 3.3	 Total remuneration 

The following table shows total remuneration paid to the members of the Group Executive Board for the 2016 and 
2017 financial years, broken down into individual components and including the highest amount paid to one 
member. In the year under review, the variable performance-related salary component for members of the Group 
Executive Board (CHF 2,867 thousand in total) was 76.7% of the base salary (CHF 3,736 thousand in total). The total 
remuneration paid to the highest-earning member of the Group Executive Board (CEO, Urs Schaeppi) increased by 
1.9% compared to the prior year. The increase in total remuneration paid to the Group Executive Board and the 
CEO is primarily attributable to the higher variable remuneration as compared to the previous year.

 	 Total	 	 Total	 	 	 	 	
 	 Group	 	 Group	 	 Thereof	 	 Thereof	
 	 Executive Board	 	 Executive Board	 	 Urs Schaeppi	 	 Urs Schaeppi	

In CHF thousand 	 2017	 	 2016	 	 2017	 	 2016	

Fixed base salary paid in cash 	 3,736	 	 3,782	 	 882	 	 882	

Variable performance-related remuneration paid in cash 	 1,966	 	 1,604	 	 486	 	 284	

Variable performance-related remuneration paid in shares 1	 901	 	 975	 	 193	 	 338	

Service-related and non-cash benefits 	 92	 	 84	 	 21	 	 14	

Employer contributions to social security 2	 591	 	 541	 	 145	 	 126	

Retirement benefits 3	 847	 	 1,064	 	 141	 	 189	

Total remuneration to members of the Group Executive Board 	 8,133	 	 8,050	 	 1,868	 	 1,833	

Benefits paid following retirement from Group Executive Board 4	 629	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	

Total remuneration paid to Group Executive Board, 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

incl. benefits paid following retirement from Board 	 8,762	 	 8,050	 	 1,868	 	 1,833	
 		

1 	The shares are reported at market value and are blocked from sale for three years.
2 	Employer contributions to social security (AHV, IV, EO and FAK, incl. administration costs, and daily sickness benefits and accident insurance)
 	 are included in the total remuneration.
3 	The amount for 2016 includes the share attributable to the Group Executive Board members of the non-recurring special pension-fund contribution made to cushion 

the impact of pension reductions resulting from the lowering of the conversion rate.
4 	Contractual compensation payments made during the notice period to a Group Executive Board member who resigned from Board during the financial year.

Total remuneration paid to the members of the Group Executive Board for the 2017 financial year is within the 
maximum total amount approved by the 2016 Annual General Meeting (AGM) for 2017 of CHF 9.7 million. 

3.4	 Minimum shareholding requirement 

The members of the Group Executive Board are required to hold a minimum amount of Swisscom shares. The 
minimum shareholding to be held by the CEO is equivalent to two years’ base salary. The remaining members 
maintain a shareholding equivalent to one year’s base salary. The members of the Group Executive Board have 
four years to build up the required minimum shareholding in the form of the blocked shares paid as part of remu-
neration and, if applicable, through share purchases on the open market. Compliance with the shareholding 
requirement is reviewed annually by the Compensation Committee. If a member’s shareholding falls below the 
minimum requirement due to a drop in the share price or a salary adjustment, the difference must be made up by 
no later than the time of the next review. In justified cases such as personal hardship or legal obligations, the 
Chairman of the Board of Directors can approve individual exceptions at his discretion.
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3.5	 Shareholdings of the members of the Executive Board 

Blocked and non-blocked shares held by members of the Group Executive Board or related parties as at 31 Decem-
ber 2016 and 2017 are listed in the table below: 

Number 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Urs Schaeppi (CEO) 	 3,964	 	 3,229	

Mario Rossi 	 1,236	 	 1,027	

Hans C. Werner 	 1,068	 	 897	

Marc Werner 	 750	 	 382	

Urs Lehner 1	 115	 	 –	

Christian Petit 2	 –	 	 1,337	

Heinz Herren 	 1,586	 	 1,333	

Dirk Wierzbitzki 	 234	 	 64	

Total shares held by the members of the Group Executive Board 	 8,953	 	 8,269	
 		

1 	Joined the Group Executive Board as of 21 June 2017.
2 	Resigned from the Group Executive Board as of 21 June 2017.

None of the individuals/entities required to make notification hold voting shares exceeding 0.1% of the share capital.

3.6	 Employment contracts 

The employment contracts of the members of the Group Executive Board are subject to a twelve-month notice 
period. No termination benefits apply beyond the salary payable for a maximum of twelve months. The employ-
ment contracts stipulate that Swisscom may allow wrongfully awarded or paid remuneration to lapse or reclaim 
such remuneration. They do not contain a non-competition clause or a clause on change of control. 

4	 Other remuneration

4.1	 Remuneration for additional services

Swisscom may pay remuneration to members of the Board of Directors for assignments in Group companies and 
for those performed by order of Swisscom (Article 6.4 of the Articles of Incorporation). The members of the Board 
of Directors were not paid out any remuneration for work of this kind in the year under review.
The members of the Group Executive Board are not entitled to separate remuneration for any directorships they 
hold either within or outside the Swisscom Group.

4.2	 Remuneration for former members of the Board of Directors or Group Executive Board and related parties

In the year under review, no remuneration was paid to former members of the Board of Directors or Group Executive 
Board in connection with their earlier activities as a member of a governing body of the company and/or which are 
not at arm’s length. There were also no payments made to individuals who are closely related to any former or 
current member of the Board of Directors or the Group Executive Board which are not at arm’s length.

4.3	 Loans and credits granted 

Swisscom Ltd has no statutory basis for the granting of loans, credit facilities and pension fund benefits apart from the 
retirement benefits paid to the members of the Board of Directors and Group Executive Board. 
In the 2017 financial year, Swisscom granted no guarantees, loans, advances or credit facilities of any kind either 
to former or current members of the Board of Directors or related parties, or to former or current members of the 
Group Executive Board or related parties. Nor are there any receivables of any kind outstanding. 
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Report of the Statutory Auditor 
To the General Meeting of Shareholders of Swisscom Ltd, Ittigen (Berne) 

 

We have audited the accompanying remuneration report of Swisscom Ltd for the year ended 31 December 2017. 
The audit was limited to the information according to articles 14 - 16 of the Ordinance against Excessive 
compensation in Stock Exchange Listed Companies contained in the sections 2.3, 2.5, 3.3, 3.5 and 4.1 to 4.3 on 
pages 81 to 91 of the remuneration report. 

Responsibility of the Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and overall fair presentation of the remuneration report 
in accordance with Swiss law and the Ordinance against Excessive compensation in Stock Exchange Listed 
Companies (Ordinance). The Board of Directors is also responsible for designing the remuneration system and 
defining individual remuneration packages.  

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the accompanying remuneration report. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the remuneration report complies 
with Swiss law and articles 14 – 16 of the Ordinance. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence on the disclosures made in the remuneration 
report with regard to compensation, loans and credits in accordance with articles 14 – 16 of the Ordinance. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatements in the remuneration report, whether due to fraud or error. This audit also includes evaluating the 
reasonableness of the methods applied to value components of remuneration, as well as assessing the overall 
presentation of the remuneration report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the remuneration report for the year ended 31 December 2017 of Swisscom Ltd. complies with 
Swiss law and articles 14 – 16 of the Ordinance.  

KPMG AG 
 
  

 
 
 
 

 
Hanspeter Stocker Daniel Haas 
Licensed Audit Expert 
Auditor in Charge 

Licensed Audit Expert 

 

Gümligen-Berne, 6 February 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

KPMG AG, Hofgut, PO Box 112, CH-3073 Gümligen-Berne 
 
KPMG AG is a subsidiary of KPMG Holding AG, which is a member of the KPMG network of independent firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative 
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss legal entity. All rights reserved. 
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Consolidated financial statements
Consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income
In CHF million, except for per share amounts 	 Note	 	 2017	 	 2016	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Income statement 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net revenue 	 1.1	 	 11,662	 	 11,643	

Direct costs 	 1.2	 	 (2,666)		 (2,759)	

Personnel expense 	 1.2, 4.1	 	 (3,002)		 (2,947)	

Other operating expense 	 1.2	 	 (2,207)		 (2,112)	

Capitalised self-constructed assets and other income 	 1.2	 	 508	 	 468	

Operating income before depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 	 	 	 4,295	 	 4,293	

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 	 3.2–3.4	 	 (2,164)		 (2,145)	

Operating income 	 	 	 2,131	 	 2,148	

Financial income 	 2.4	 	 44	 	 80	

Financial expense 	 2.4	 	 (204)		 (235)	

Result of equity-accounted investees 	 5.3	 	 (11)		 (3)	

Income before income taxes 	 	 	 1,960	 	 1,990	

Income tax expense 	 6.1	 	 (392)		 (386)	

Net income 	 	 	 1,568	 	 1,604	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Other comprehensive income 	 	 	 	 	 	

Actuarial gains and losses from defined benefit pension plans 	 2.1	 	 679	 	 924	

Other comprehensive income from equity-accounted investees 	 2.1, 5.3	 	 –	 	 (5)	

Items that will not be reclassified to income statement 	 	 	 679	 	 919	

Foreign currency translation adjustments of foreign subsidiaries 	 2.1	 	 143	 	 (99)	

Change in available-for-sale financial assets 	 2.1	 	 (5)		 4	

Change in cash flow hedges 	 2.1	 	 (5)		 9	

Other comprehensive income from equity-accounted investees 	 2.1	 	 2	 	 (2)	

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to income statement 	 	 	 135	 	 (88)	

Other comprehensive income 	 	 	 814	 	 831	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Comprehensive income 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net income 	 	 	 1,568	 	 1,604	

Other comprehensive income 	 	 	 814	 	 831	

Comprehensive income 	 	 	 2,382	 	 2,435	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Share of net income and comprehensive income 	 	 	 	 	 	

Equity holders of Swisscom Ltd 	 	 	 1,570	 	 1,604	

Non-controlling interests 	 	 	 (2)		 –	

Net income 	 	 	 1,568	 	 1,604	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Equity holders of Swisscom Ltd 	 	 	 2,384	 	 2,435	

Non-controlling interests 	 	 	 (2)		 –	

Comprehensive income 	 	 	 2,382	 	 2,435	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Earnings per share 	 	 	 	 	 	

Basic and diluted earnings per share (in CHF) 	 2.1	 	 30.31	 	 30.97	
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Consolidated balance sheet
In CHF million 	 Note	 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Assets 	 	 	 	 	 	

Cash and cash equivalents 	 	 	 525	 	 329	

Trade receivables 	 3.1	 	 2,389	 	 2,425	

Other operating assets 	 3.1	 	 729	 	 680	

Other financial assets 	 	 	 78	 	 177	

Current income tax assets 	 6.1	 	 10	 	 18	

Total current assets 	 	 	 3,731	 	 3,629	

Property, plant and equipment 	 3.2	 	 10,697	 	 10,177	

Goodwill 	 3.3	 	 5,186	 	 5,156	

Intangible assets 	 3.4	 	 1,758	 	 1,756	

Equity-accounted investees 	 5.3	 	 152	 	 193	

Other financial assets 	 	 	 337	 	 262	

Deferred tax assets 	 6.1	 	 197	 	 281	

Total non-current assets 	 	 	 18,327	 	 17,825	

Total assets 	 	 	 22,058	 	 21,454	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Liabilities and equity 	 	 	 	 	 	

Financial liabilities 	 2.2	 	 1,834	 	 1,125	

Trade payables 	 3.1	 	 1,753	 	 1,597	

Provisions 	 3.5	 	 177	 	 182	

Other operating liabilities 	 3.1	 	 1,165	 	 1,123	

Current income tax liabilities 	 6.1	 	 213	 	 125	

Total current liabilities 	 	 	 5,142	 	 4,152	

Financial liabilities 	 2.2	 	 6,452	 	 7,371	

Defined benefit obligations 	 4.3	 	 1,048	 	 1,850	

Provisions 	 3.5	 	 900	 	 780	

Deferred gain on sale and leaseback of real estate 	 2.2	 	 146	 	 158	

Deferred tax liabilities 	 6.1	 	 725	 	 621	

Total non-current liabilities 	 	 	 9,271	 	 10,780	

Total liabilities 	 	 	 14,413	 	 14,932	

Share capital 	 	 	 52	 	 52	

Capital reserves 	 	 	 136	 	 136	

Retained earnings 	 2.1	 	 9,155	 	 8,148	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 2.1	 	 (1,689)		 (1,834)	

Other reserves 	 2.1	 	 2	 	 12	

Equity attributable to equity-holders of Swisscom Ltd 	 	 	 7,656	 	 6,514	

Non-controlling interests 	 	 	 (11)		 8	

Total equity 	 	 	 7,645	 	 6,522	

Total liabilities and equity 	 	 	 22,058	 	 21,454	
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Consolidated statement 
of cash flows
In CHF million 	 Note	 	 2017	 	 2016	

Net income 	 	 	 1,568	 	 1,604	

Income tax expense 	 6.1	 	 392	 	 386	

Result of equity-accounted investees 	 5.3	 	 11	 	 3	

Financial income 	 2.4	 	 (44)		 (80)	

Financial expense 	 2.4	 	 204	 	 235	

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 	 3.2–3.4	 	 2,164	 	 2,145	

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 	 1.2	 	 (24)		 (20)	

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 	 	 	 2	 	 9	

Expense for share-based payments 	 	 	 2	 	 3	

Change in provisions 	 3.5	 	 51	 	 (141)	

Change in defined benefit obligations 	 4.3	 	 36	 	 68	

Change in operating assets and liabilities 	 3.1	 	 165	 	 (17)	

Change in deferred gain from the sale and leaseback of real estate 	 2.2	 	 (12)		 (5)	

Interest received 	 	 	 26	 	 27	

Dividends received 	 5.3	 	 20	 	 17	

Interest paid 	 2.2	 	 (181)		 (184)	

Income taxes paid 	 6.1	 	 (289)		 (328)	

Cash flow from operating activities 	 	 	 4,091	 	 3,722	

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 	 3.2, 3.4	 	 (2,378)		 (2,416)	

Sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 	 	 	 30	 	 27	

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash and cash equivalents acquired 	 5.2	 	 (63)		 (38)	

Purchase of equity-accounted investees 	 5.2	 	 (20)		 (3)	

Proceeds from sale of equity-accounted investees 	 5.2	 	 76	 	 88	

Purchase of other financial assets 	 	 	 (58)		 (196)	

Proceeds from other financial assets 	 	 	 158	 	 92	

Cash flow used in investing activities 	 	 	 (2,255)		 (2,446)	

Issuance of financial liabilities 	 2.2	 	 757	 	 898	

Repayment of financial liabilities 	 2.2	 	 (1,158)		 (999)	

Dividends paid to equity holders of Swisscom Ltd 	 2.1	 	 (1,140)		 (1,140)	

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 	 	 	 (8)		 (8)	

Acquisition of non-controlling interests 	 5.2	 	 (99)		 (4)	

Other cash flows from financing activities 	 	 	 (9)		 (16)	

Cash flow used in financing activities 	 	 	 (1,657)		 (1,269)	

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 	 	 	 179	 	 7	

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 	 	 	 329	 	 324	

Foreign currency translation adjustments in respect of cash and cash equivalents 	 	 	 17	 	 (2)	

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 	 	 	 525	 	 329	
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Consolidated statement 
of changes in equity
 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Equity	 	 	 	 	
 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Foreign	 	 	 	attributable	 	 	 	 	
 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 currency	 	 	 	 to equity	 	 Non-	 	 	
 	 	 	 Share	 	 Capital	 	 Retained	 	 translation	 	 Other	 	 holders of	 	 controlling	 	 Total	

In CHF million 	 	 	 capital	 	 reserves	 	 earnings	 	adjustments	 	 reserves	 	 Swisscom	 	 interests	 	 equity	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		 	 	 	

Balance at 31 December 2015 	 	 	 52	 	 136	 	 6,783	 	 (1,733)		 (1)		 5,237	 	 5	 	 5,242	

Net income 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 1,604	 	 –	 	 –	 	 1,604	 	 –	 	 1,604	

Other comprehensive income 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 919	 	 (101)		 13	 	 831	 	 –	 	 831	

Comprehensive income 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 2,523	 	 (101)		 13	 	 2,435	 	 –	 	 2,435	

Dividends paid 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (1,140)		 –	 	 –	 	 (1,140)		 (8)		 (1,148)	

Treasury shares 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (1)		 –	 	 –	 	 (1)		 –	 	 (1)	

Transactions with 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

non-controlling interests 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (17)		 –	 	 –	 	 (17)		 11	 	 (6)	

Balance at 31 December 2016 	 	 	 52	 	 136		  8,148	 	 (1,834)		 12	 	 6,514	 	 8	 	 6,522	

Net income 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 1,570	 	 –	 	 –	 	 1,570	 	 (2)		 1,568	

Other comprehensive income 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 679	 	 145	 	 (10)		 814	 	 –	 	 814	

Comprehensive income 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 2,249	 	 145	 	 (10)		 2,384	 	 (2)		 2,382	

Dividends paid 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (1,140)		 –	 	 –	 	 (1,140)		 (8)		 (1,148)	

Transactions with 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

non-controlling interests 	 	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (102)		 –	 	 –	 	 (102)		 (9)		 (111)	

Balance at 31 December 2017 	 	 	 52	 	 136		  9,155	 	 (1,689)		 2	 	 7,656	 	 (11)		 7,645	
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Notes to the consolidated 
financial statements
This financial report is a translation from the original German version. In case of any inconsistency the German 
version shall prevail.

About this report

Compared to the prior year, the contents and structure of the 2017 Swisscom consolidated financial statements 
are fundamentally redesigned in order to enhance, for its addressees, the transparency and relevance of the financial 
reporting information for decision-making purposes. These amendments encompass the following:
>	 modification of the structure of the notes.
>	 elimination of irrelevant and immaterial information.
>	 reduction of the complexity of note disclosures through highlighting and the use of tables. 

In addition, the following changes were made to improve the presentation of the consolidated financial statements:
>	 expenses for materials and services used are now designated as «direct costs». Commissions paid to dealers 

are now classified under contract acquisition costs as part of direct costs. In addition, usage charges for net-
works of other telecommunication providers abroad are now disclosed under traffic charges of subsidiaries 
abroad. Until the present, dealer commissions and traffic charges were classified under other operating costs.

>	 all revenue and cost accruals which apply in the normal course of business are now disclosed as current items 
in the balance sheet. 

>	 dividends received as well as interest paid and received are now disclosed under cash flow from operating 
activities. 

The prior-year amounts were restated as follows:

In CHF million 	 Reported	 	 Adjustment	 	 Restated	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Income statement 	 	 	 	 	 	

Direct costs 	 (2,323)		 (436)		 (2,759)	

Other operating expense 	 (2,548)		 436	 	 (2,112)	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance sheet 	 	 	 	 	 	

Current assets 	 3,535	 	 94	 	 3,629	

Non-current assets 	 17,919	 	 (94)		 17,825	

Current liabilities 	 (3,978)		 (174)		 (4,152)	

Non-current liabilities 	 (10,954)		 174	 	 (10,780)	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Cash flow statement 	 	 	 	 	 	

Cash flow from operating activities 	 3,862	 	 (140)		 3,722	

Cash flow used in investing activities 	 (2,402)		 (44)		 (2,446)	

Cash flow used in financing activities 	 (1,453)		 184	 	 (1,269)	



Co
ns

ol
id

at
ed

 fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

N
ot

es
 to

 th
e 

co
ns

ol
id

at
ed

 fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

99

 General information

The Swisscom Group (hereinafter referred to as “Swisscom”) provides telecommunication services and is active 
primarily in Switzerland and Italy. The consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended 31 Decem-
ber 2017 comprise Swisscom Ltd, as parent company, and its subsidiaries. Swisscom Ltd is a limited-liability 
company incorporated in accordance with Swiss law, under a private statute, and has its registered office in Ittigen 
(Berne). Its address is: Swisscom Ltd, Alte Tiefenaustrasse 6, 3048 Worblaufen. Swisscom is listed on the SIX Swiss 
Exchange. The number of issued shares, as in the prior year, aggregated 51,801,943. The shares have a nominal value 
of CHF 1 and are fully paid-up. Each share entitles the holder to one vote. The majority shareholder of Swisscom Ltd 
remains, as in the prior year, the Swiss Confederation (“Confederation”). The Confederation is obligated by current 
law to hold the majority of the capital and voting rights. The Board of Directors of Swisscom has approved the issu-
ance of these consolidated financial statements on 6 February 2018. As of this date, no material post-balance-
sheet events had occurred. The consolidated financial statements will be submitted for approval to the Annual 
General Meeting of Shareholders of Swisscom Ltd to be held on 4 April 2018.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of Swisscom have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and in compliance with the provisions of Swiss law. The reporting period covers twelve 
months. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Swiss francs (CHF) which corresponds to the 
functional currency of Swisscom Ltd. Unless otherwise noted, all amounts are stated in millions of Swiss francs. 
The consolidated financial statements are drawn up on the historical cost basis, unless a standard or interpreta-
tion prescribes another measurement basis for a particular caption in which case this is explicitly stated in the 
financial statement reporting policies. Material financial statement reporting policies of relevance for an under-
standing of the consolidated financial statements are set out in the specific notes to the financial statements.

Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions in applying the financial statement accounting 
policies

The preparation of consolidated financial statements is dependent upon estimates and assumptions being made 
in applying the accounting policies for which management can exercise a certain degree of judgment. This concerns 
the following positions:

Description 	 Further information	

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 	 Note 3.2 and 3.4

Recoverability of Goodwill 	 Note 3.3	

Provisions for dismantlement and restoration costs 	 Note 3.5	

Provision for regulatory and competition law procedures 	 Note 3.5	

Defined benefit obligations 	 Note 4.3	

Amended International Financial Reporting Standards and Interpretations which are to be applied for the first time 
in the accounting period

As from 1 January 2017 onwards, Swisscom adopted various amendments to existing International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and Interpretations, which have no material impact on the results or financial position 
of the Group.

Standard 	 Name 

Amendements to IAS 7 	 Disclosure initiative 

Amendements to IAS 12 	 Recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses 

Further information as to the changes in IFRS which must be applied in 2018 or later are set out in Note 6.3.
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 1	 Operational performance

This chapter sets outs information on the operating performance of Swisscom for the current reporting year. 
The classification according to operating segments corresponds to the reporting system used internally to 
evaluate performance and allocate resources, as well as to Swisscom’s management structure. 

1.1	 Segment information 

General
Swisscom has further increased the level of digitalisation within its organisational structure in order to strengthen 
areas with close customer proximity and boost the company’s effectiveness in the ICT market. In this manner, 
Swisscom strives to improve the customer experience from a single source, simplify processes and enhance effi-
ciency in order to create greater scope for innovation. As a result of the organisational changes, the Small and Medium-
Sized Enterprises segment (SME) of Swisscom Switzerland was split up. The SME telecommunications business is 
now included in the Residential Customers segment as part of segment reporting. Swisscom Directories (local-
search) has been transferred to the new Digital Business division, which is reported under Other Operating 
Segments. In addition, all field service functions of Swisscom Switzerland are reported under the Residential 
Customers segment. Fleet management from the Participations division (Other Operating Segments) has also 
been transferred to the IT, Network & Infrastructure segment and the Health division merged into the Enterprise 
Customers segment. The prior-year amounts were restated accordingly. Segment reporting is now made in 
accordance with the following segments:

Segment 	 Activity 

Residential Customers 	 The segment Residential Customers comprises connection fees for broadband and TV services, fixed-
network and mobilephone subscriptions as well as national and international telephone and data traffic for 
residential customers and customers from small- and medium size enterprises. Furthermore, the segment 
includes the sale of merchandise. 

Enterprise Customers 	 Enterprise Customers focuses on complete communication solutions for large business customers. Its 
product offering in the field of business ICT infrastructure covers the whole range of services from individual 
products to complete business solutions. 

Wholesale 	 This segment comprises the use of Swisscom fixed and mobile networks by other telecommunication 
service providers and the use of third-party networks by Swisscom. It also includes roaming with foreign 
operators whose customers use Swisscom’s mobile networks, as well as broadband services and regulated 
products as a result of the unbundling of the “last mile” for other telecommunication service providers. 

IT, Network & Infrastructure 	 The segment IT, Network & Infrastructure is responsible for the planning, operation and maintenance of 
Swisscom’s network infrastructure and all IT systems. It is responsible for the development and production 
of standardised IT and network services in Switzerland. In addition, IT, Network & Infrastructure also 
includes the support functions Finances, Human Resources and Strategy for Swisscom Switzerland as well 
as the management of real estate and the vehicle fleet in Switzerland. 

Fastweb 	 Fastweb is one of the largest providers of broadband services in Italy. Its product portfolio covers voice, data, 
broadband and TV services as well as video-on-demand for residential and corporate customers. In addition, 
Fastweb offers mobile phone services on the basis of an MVNO contract (as a virtual network operator). It 
also provides comprehensive network services and customised solutions. 

Other Operating Segments 	 Other Operating Segments mainly comprise the areas Digital Business und Participations. Digital Business 
comprises primarily Swisscom Directories AG (localsearch), which is active in the field of online and telephone 
directories. Participations consist principally of the subsidiaries Billag Ltd, cablex Ltd and Swisscom Broadcast 
Ltd. Billag Ltd collects radio and TV license fees on behalf of the Swiss Confederation. cablex Ltd operates in 
the field of construction and maintenance of wired and wireless networks in Switzerland, primarily in the 
field of telecommunication. Swisscom Broadcast Ltd is the leading provider in Switzerland of radio services, 
of cross-platform services for customers in the media field and of securitised radio transmissions. 

 

Swisscom Group

Swisscom Switzerland

  Residential 
Customers

Enterprise 
Customers Wholesale IT, Network  

& Infrastructure
Fastweb Other operating  

segments
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Reporting is made on the basis of the segments “Residential Customers”, “Enterprise Customers”, “Wholesale”, 
and “IT, Network & Infrastructure”, which are grouped under Swisscom Switzerland, as well as “Fastweb” and 
“Other Operating Segments”. In addition, “Group Headquarters”, which includes non-allocated costs, is disclosed 
separately in segment reporting.
Group Headquarters does not charge any management fees to other segments for its financial management 
services, nor does the IT, Network & Infrastructure segment charge any network costs to other segments. The 
remaining services between the segments are recharged at market prices. Segment expense encompasses the 
direct and indirect costs which include personnel expense, other operating costs less capitalised costs of self-
constructed assets and other income. Retirement-benefit expense includes ordinary employer contributions. The 
difference between the ordinary employer contributions and the pension cost as provided for under IAS 19 is 
reported in the column “Eliminations”. In 2017, an expense of CHF 92 million is disclosed under “Eliminations” as a 
pension cost reconciliation item in accordance with IAS 19 (prior year: CHF 72 million). The results of the segments 
“Residential Customers”, “Enterprise Customers” and “Wholesale” correspond to a contribution margin prior to 
network costs. The segment result of IT, Network & Infrastructure consists of operating expenses and deprecia-
tion and amortisation less revenues from the rental and administration of buildings and vehicles as well as capi-
talised costs of property, plant and equipment and other income. The segment results of Swisscom Switzerland 
and of the other operating segments do not reflect the retirement-benefit reconciliation item in accordance with 
IAS 19. The segment results of Fastweb correspond to the operating results. 

Restatement of segment information 2016

In CHF million 	 Reported	 	 Adjustment	 	 Restated	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net revenue 	 	 	 	 	 	

financial year 2016 	 	 	 	 	 	

Residential Customers 	 5,160	 	 1,105	 	 6,265	

Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises 	 1,367	 	 (1,367)		 –	

Enterprise Customers 	 2,611	 	 (71)		 2,540	

Wholesale 	 989	 	 (10)		 979	

IT, Network & Infrastructure (before IT, Network & Innovation) 	 129	 	 44	 	 173	

Elimination 	 (816)		 116	 	 (700)	

Swisscom Switzerland 	 9,440	 	 (183)		 9,257	

Fastweb 	 1,957	 	 –	 	 1,957	

Other Operating Segments 	 594	 	 195	 	 789	

Group Headquarters 	 2	 	 –	 	 2	

Elimination 	 (350)		 (12)		 (362)	

Total net revenue 	 11,643	 	 –	 	 11,643	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Segment result 	 	 	 	 	 	

financial year 2016 	 	 	 	 	 	

Residential Customers 	 2,748	 	 753	 	 3,501	

Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises 	 847	 	 (847)		 –	

Enterprise Customers 	 722	 	 32	 	 754	

Wholesale 	 388	 	 (9)		 379	

IT, Network & Infrastructure (before IT, Network & Innovation) 	 (2,508)		 17	 	 (2,491)	

Swisscom Switzerland 	 2,197	 	 (54)		 2,143	

Fastweb 	 124	 	 –	 	 124	

Other Operating Segments 	 27	 	 54	 	 81	

Group Headquarters 	 (114)		 –	 	 (114)	

Reconciliation pension cost 	 (72)		 –	 	 (72)	

Elimination 	 (14)		 –	 	 (14)	

Total segment result 	 2,148	 	 –	 	 2,148	
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Segment information 2017

 	 	 	 	 	 Other	 	 Group	 	 	 	 	
 	 Swisscom	 	 	 	 Operating	 	 Head-	 	 Elimi-	 	 	

2017, in CHF million 	 Switzerland	 	 Fastweb	 	 Segments	 	 quarters	 	 nation	 	 Total	

Residential customers 	 5,971	 	 1,097	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 7,068	

Corporate customers 	 2,428	 	 791	 	 529	 	 1	 	 –	 	 3,749	

Wholesale customers 	 578	 	 267	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 845	

Net revenue from external customers 	 8,977	 	 2,155	 	 529	 	 1	 	 –	 	 11,662	

Net revenue from other segments 	 81	 	 9	 	 321	 	 –	 	 (411)		 –	

Net revenue 	 9,058	 	 2,164	 	 850	 	 1	 	 (411)		 11,662	

Direct costs 	 (1,943)		 (716)		 (31)		 –	 	 24	 	 (2,666)	

Indirect costs 1	 (3,615)		 (603)		 (639)		 (112)		 268	 	 (4,701)	

Segment result before depreciation and amortisation 	 3,500	 	 845	 	 180	 	 (111)		 (119)		 4,295	

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 	 (1,485)		 (589)		 (96)		 –	 	 6	 	 (2,164)	

Segment result 	 2,015	 	 256	 	 84	 	 (111)		 (113)		 2,131	

Financial income and financial expense, net 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (160)	

Result of equity-accounted investees 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (11)	

Income before income taxes 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1,960	

Income tax expense 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (392)	

Net income 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1,568	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Segment result before depreciation and amortisation 	 3,500	 	 845	 	 180	 	 (111)		 (119)		 4,295	

Capital expenditure in property, plant and equipment 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

and intangible assets 	 (1,654)		 (692)		 (58)		 –	 	 26	 	 (2,378)	

Change in provisions 	 39	 	 (4)		 9	 	 7	 	 –	 	 51	

Change in defined benefit obligations 	 (56)		 (1)		 –	 	 1	 	 92	 	 36	

Change in operating net working capital 	 184	 	 38	 	 (50)		 7	 	 (14)		 165	

Other 2	 (11)		 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 1	 	 (10)	

Operating free cash flow 	 2,002	 	 186	 	 81	 	 (96)		 (14)		 2,159	
 						    

1	 Including capitalised costs of self-constructed assets and other income.					   

2	 Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, non-cash change in net working capital from operating activities, change in deferred gain from the sale and 
leaseback of real estate, and dividend payments to owners of non-controlling interests.					   

Segment information Swisscom Switzerland 2017

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 IT,	 	 	 	 Total	
 	 Residential	 	 Enterprise	 	 Whole-	 	 Network &	 	 Elimi-	 	 Swisscom	

2017, in CHF million 	 Customers	 	 Customers	 	 sale	 	Infrastructure	 	 nation	 	 Switzerland	

Telecom services 	 5,363	 	 1,101	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 6,464	

Solution business 	 –	 	 1,084	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 1,084	

Merchandise 	 451	 	 197	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 648	

Wholesale 	 –	 	 –	 	 578	 	 –	 	 –	 	 578	

Revenue other 	 157	 	 20	 	 –	 	 26	 	 –	 	 203	

Net revenue from external customers 	 5,971	 	 2,402	 	 578	 	 26	 	 –	 	 8,977	

Net revenue from other segments 	 82	 	 106	 	 366	 	 141	 	 (614)		 81	

Net revenue 	 6,053	 	 2,508	 	 944	 	 167	 	 (614)		 9,058	

Direct costs 	 (1,397)		 (728)		 (478)		 (12)		 672	 	 (1,943)	

Indirect costs 1	 (1,144)		 (948)		 (20)		 (1,445)		 (58)		 (3,615)	

Segment result before depreciation and amortisation 	 3,512	 	 832	 	 446	 	 (1,290)		 –	 	 3,500	

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 	 (126)		 (84)		 –	 	 (1,275)		 –	 	 (1,485)	

Segment result 	 3,386	 	 748	 	 446	 	 (2,565)		 –	 	 2,015	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Capital expenditure in property, plant and equipment 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

and intangible assets 	 (186)		 (72)		 –	 	 (1,396)		 –	 	 (1,654)	
 						    

1	 Including capitalised costs of self-constructed assets and other income.					   
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Segment information 2016

 	 	 	 	 	 Other	 	 Group	 	 	 	 	
 	 Swisscom	 	 	 	 Operating	 	 Head-	 	 Elimi-	 	 	

2016, in CHF million, restated 	 Switzerland	 	 Fastweb	 	 Segments	 	 quarters	 	 nation	 	 Total	

Residential customers 	 6,132	 	 988	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 7,120	

Corporate customers 	 2,452	 	 769	 	 519	 	 1	 	 –	 	 3,741	

Wholesale customers 	 591	 	 191	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 782	

Net revenue from external customers 	 9,175	 	 1,948	 	 519	 	 1	 	 –	 	 11,643	

Net revenue from other segments 	 82	 	 9	 	 270	 	 1	 	 (362)		 –	

Net revenue 	 9,257	 	 1,957	 	 789	 	 2	 	 (362)		 11,643	

Direct costs 	 (2,028)		 (721)		 (34)		 –	 	 24	 	 (2,759)	

Indirect costs 1	 (3,613)		 (515)		 (591)		 (116)		 244	 	 (4,591)	

Segment result before depreciation and amortisation 	 3,616	 	 721	 	 164	 	 (114)		 (94)		 4,293	

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 	 (1,473)		 (597)		 (83)		 –	 	 8	 	 (2,145)	

Segment result 	 2,143	 	 124	 	 81	 	 (114)		 (86)		 2,148	

Financial income and financial expense, net 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (155)	

Result of equity-accounted investees 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (3)	

Income before income taxes 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1,990	

Income tax expense 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (386)	

Net income 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1,604	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Segment result before depreciation and amortisation 	 3,616	 	 721	 	 164	 	 (114)		 (94)		 4,293	

Capital expenditure in property, plant and equipment 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

and intangible assets 	 (1,755)		 (633)		 (49)		 –	 	 21	 	 (2,416)	

Change in provisions 	 (160)		 1	 	 4	 	 14	 	 –	 	 (141)	

Change in defined benefit obligations 	 (3)		 –	 	 1	 	 (2)		 72	 	 68	

Change in operating net working capital 	 (62)		 45	 	 –	 	 (41)		 41	 	 (17)	

Other 2	 4	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 4	

Operating free cash flow 	 1,640	 	 134	 	 120	 	 (143)		 40	 	 1,791	
 						    

1	 Including capitalised costs of self-constructed assets and other income.					   

2	 Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, non-cash change in net working capital from operating activities, change in deferred gain from the sale and 
leaseback of real estate, and dividend payments to owners of non-controlling interests.					   

Segment information Swisscom Switzerland 2016

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 IT,	 	 	 	 Total	
 	 Residential	 	 Enterprise	 	 Whole-	 	 Network &	 	 Elimi-	 	 Swisscom	

2016, in CHF million, restated 	 Customers	 	 Customers	 	 sale	 	Infrastructure	 	 nation	 	 Switzerland	

Telecom services 	 5,518	 	 1,144	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 6,662	

Solution business 	 –	 	 1,072	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 1,072	

Merchandise 	 457	 	 180	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 637	

Wholesale 	 –	 	 –	 	 591	 	 –	 	 –	 	 591	

Revenue other 	 157	 	 25	 	 –	 	 31	 	 –	 	 213	

Net revenue from external customers 	 6,132	 	 2,421	 	 591	 	 31	 	 –	 	 9,175	

Net revenue from other segments 	 133	 	 119	 	 388	 	 142	 	 (700)		 82	

Net revenue 	 6,265	 	 2,540	 	 979	 	 173	 	 (700)		 9,257	

Direct costs 	 (1,427)		 (772)		 (562)		 (12)		 745	 	 (2,028)	

Indirect costs 1	 (1,187)		 (920)		 (38)		 (1,423)		 (45)		 (3,613)	

Segment result before depreciation and amortisation 	 3,651	 	 848	 	 379	 	 (1,262)		 –	 	 3,616	

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 	 (150)		 (94)		 –	 	 (1,229)		 –	 	 (1,473)	

Segment result 	 3,501	 	 754	 	 379	 	 (2,491)		 –	 	 2,143	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Capital expenditure in property, plant and equipment 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

and intangible assets 	 (187)		 (126)		 –	 	 (1,442)		 –	 	 (1,755)	
 						    

1	 Including capitalised costs of self-constructed assets and other income.					   
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Disclosure by geographical regions

 	 2017	 	 2016	

 	 	 	 Non-current	 	 	 	 Non-current	

In CHF million 	 Net revenue	 	 assets	 	 Net revenue	 	 assets	

Switzerland 	 9,476	 	 14,400	 	 9,665	 	 14,273	

Italy 	 2,155	 	 3,359	 	 1,948	 	 2,877	

Other countries 	 31	 	 34	 	 30	 	 132	

Not allocated 	 –	 	 534	 	 –	 	 543	

Total 	 11,662	 	 18,327	 	 11,643	 	 17,825	

Disclosure by products and services

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	

Telecom services 	 8,269	 	 8,321	

Solution business 	 1,084	 	 1,072	

Merchandise 	 699	 	 697	

Wholesale 	 845	 	 782	

Revenue other 	 765	 	 771	

Total net revenue 	 11,662	 	 11,643	

Accounting policies

Category 	 Revenue recognition 

Telecom services 	 The telecom services include the provision of mobile and fixed-line telecommunications in Switzerland and 
abroad. 

 	 Mobile phone services encompass basic subscription charges; and in addition, domestic and international 
mobile phone traffic generated by Swisscom customers in Switzerland or abroad as well as roaming by 
foreign operators whose customers use the Swisscom network. Swisscom offers subscriptions at a fixed 
monthly flat-rate fee, the revenue from which is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
contract. Depending on the subscription, revenue is recorded on the basis of the actual minutes used. 
Connection fees are deferred and released to income over the minimum contract term on a straight-line 
basis. If no minimum contract term has been agreed, revenue is recognised on the date of connection. If a 
mobile handset is sold as a part of a bundled offering with a subscription, it is treated as a multi-component 
transaction. The price of the entire multi-component transaction is spread on a pro-rata basis over the 
various component parts on the basis of the respective individual sales prices thereof. In this respect, the 
revenue to be recognised for each individual component is limited by that part of the total consideration 
provided by the customer for the multi-component transaction whose payment is not dependent on the 
provision of additional services. 

 	 Fixed-network services encompass primarily national and international telephony traffic for residential 
and business customers, as well as business with prepaid calling cards. Revenue from telephony services is 
recorded at the time the calls are made. Revenue from the sale of prepaid call cards is deferred and released 
to income as and when actual minutes are used or when the cards expire. 

 	 Swisscom provides bundled service offerings which include Internet and TV as well as an optional fixed-line 
connection with telephony services. The subscription fees are fixed (flat rate). Revenue is recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the contractual term. 

Solution business 	 Services in the field of communication and IT solutions primarily include consultancy services as well as 
the implementation, maintenance and operation of communication infrastructures. Furthermore, they 
include applications and services as well as the integration, operation and maintenance of data networks 
and outsourcing services. Revenues from customer-specific construction contracts are accounted for using 
the percentage-of-completion method which is based on the ratio of costs incurred to date to the estimated 
total costs. Revenue for long-term outsourcing contracts is recorded based on the volume of services 
provided to the customer. Start-up costs relating to and the integration of new outsourcing transactions are 
capitalised as other assets and amortised on a straight-line basis over the duration of the contract. Revenue 
from maintenance is recorded evenly over the term of the maintenance contracts. 

Merchandise 	 Revenue arising from the sale of mobile phones, fixed-line devices, routers, TV-Boxes and other accessories 
is recorded at the time of delivery and when the service is provided. 

Wholesale 	 The services encompass primarily leased lines and the use of Swisscom’s fixed network by other 
telecommunication service providers (roaming). Revenue from leased lines is recorded on a straight-line 
basis over the duration of the contract. Roaming services are recorded as revenue on the basis of the minutes 
used or the agreed contractual rates at the time the service is provided. Revenue from roaming services with 
other telecommunication service providers is recorded gross. 
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 1.2	 Operating expenses 

Direct costs

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	

Customer premises equipment and merchandise 	 1,128	 	 1,141	

Services purchased 	 431	 	 471	

Traffic fees of foreign subsidiaries 	 400	 	 392	

International traffic fees 	 302	 	 282	

Costs of obtaining a contract 	 296	 	 304	

National traffic fees 	 109	 	 169	

Total direct costs 	 2,666	 	 2,759	

Indirect costs

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	

Salary and social security expenses 	 2,856	 	 2,868	

Other personnel expense 	 146	 	 79	

Total personnel expense 1	 3,002	 	 2,947	 	 	 	 	

Information technology cost 	 306	 	 271	

Maintenance expense 	 284	 	 256	

Rental expense 	 206	 	 199	

Energy costs 	 105	 	 114	

Advertising and selling expenses 	 249	 	 216	

Consultancy expenses and freelance workforce 	 176	 	 191	

Administration expense 	 108	 	 122	

Allowances for receivables 	 91	 	 94	

Miscellaneous operating expenses 	 682	 	 649	

Total other operating expense 	 2,207	 	 2,112	 	 	 	 	

Capitalised self-constructed assets 	 (327)		 (347)	

Income from litigations 2	 (102)		 (60)	

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 	 (24)		 (20)	

Miscellaneous income 	 (55)		 (41)	

Total capitalised self-constructed assets and other income 	 (508)		 (468)	 	 	 	 	

Total indirect costs 	 4,701	 	 4,591	
 		

1	 See Note 4.1.	
2	 See Note 3.5.	

Capitalised costs of self-constructed assets include personnel costs for the production of technical installations, 
the construction of network infrastructures and the development of software for internal use.

Accounting policies
Subscriber acquisition costs
Swisscom pays commissions to dealers for the acquisition and retention of customers. The commission payable is 
dependent on the type of subscription. Subscriber acquisition and loyalty-programme costs are expensed imme-
diately and disclosed as costs of obtaining a contract. 
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 2	 Capital and financial risk management

Set out below are the procedures and guidelines governing the active management of equity resources and of 
the financial risks to which Swisscom is exposed. Swisscom strives to achieve a robust capital equity basis which 
guarantees its ability to continue as a going concern and to offer its investors an appropriate return based on 
the risks assumed. Furthermore, Swisscom maintains financial resources to enable it to make capital invest-
ments which will provide future benefits to customers and enhanced returns to investors. 

2.1	 Capital management and equity

Net-debt-to-EBITDA ratio
Swisscom strives to achieve a net indebtedness of approximately 1.9 x EBITDA (operating result before taxes, 
interest and depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses). Exceeding this ratio temporarily is permitted. 
Net debt consists of total financial liabilities less cash and cash equivalents, current financial assets as well as 
non-current fixed interest-bearing certificates of deposit and derivative financial instruments for financing 
received. The net-debt-to-EBITDA ratio is as follows:

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Net debt 	 7,447	 	 7,846	

Operating income before depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 	 4,295	 	 4,293	

Ratio net debt/EBITDA 	 1.7	 	 1.8	

Equity ratio
Swisscom strives to achieve an equity ratio of 30%, at a minimum. The equity ratio is computed as follows:

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Equity 	 7,645	 	 6,522	

Total assets 	 22,058	 	 21,454	

Equity ratio in % 	 34.7	 	 30.4	

Dividend policy
Swisscom aims to achieve a stable dividend policy which is based on cash-flow generation and allocation of capital. 
Distributable reserves are not determined on the basis of the equity as reported in the consolidated financial 
statements but rather on the basis of equity as reported in the statutory financial statements of the parent company, 
Swisscom Ltd. At 31 December 2017, Swisscom Ltd’s distributable reserves amounted to CHF 5,251 million. 
The dividend is proposed by the Board of Directors and must be approved by the Annual General Meeting of 
Shareholders. Treasury shares are not entitled to a dividend. Swisscom paid the following dividends in 2016 and 2017:

In CHF million, except where indicated 	 2017	 	 2016	

Number of registered shares eligible for dividend (in millions of shares) 	 51.801	 	 51.800	

Ordinary dividend per share (in CHF) 	 22.00	 	 22.00	

Dividends paid 	 1,140	 	 1,140	

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting of Swisscom Ltd to be held on 4 April 2018 
the payment of an ordinary dividend of CHF 22 per share in respect of the 2017 financial year. This equates to an 
aggregate dividend distribution of CHF 1,140 million. The expected dividend payment date is on 10 April 2018. 

Earnings per share

In CHF million, except where indicated 	 2017	 	 2016	

Share of net income attributable to equity holders of Swisscom Ltd 	 1,570	 	 1,604	

Weighted average number of shares outstanding (number) 	 51,800,771	 	 51,800,352	

Basic and diluted earnings per share (in CHF) 	 30.31	 	 30.97	
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Supplementary information on equity 

Development of retained earnings and other reserves as well as comprehensive income 2017

 	 	 	 Foreign	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
 	 	 	 currency	 	 	 	 	 	 Equity	 	 Non-	 	 	
 	 Retained	 	 translation	 	 Fair value	 	 Hedging	 	 holders of	 	 controlling	 	 	

In CHF million 	 earnings	 	 adjustments	 	 reserve	 	 reserve	 	 Swisscom	 	 interests	 	 Total	

Balance at 31 December 2016 	 8,148	 	 (1,834)		 9	 	 3	 	 6,326	 	 8	 	 6,334	

Net income 	 1,570	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 1,570	 	 (2)		 1,568	

Actuarial gains and losses from defined 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

benefit pension plans 	 850	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 850	 	 –	 	 850	

Income tax expense 	 (171)		 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (171)		 –	 	 (171)	

Items that will not be reclassified 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

to income statement 	 679	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 679	 	 –	 	 679	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

of foreign subsidiaries 	 –	 	 166	 	 –	 	 –	 	 166	 	 –	 	 166	

Change in fair value 	 –	 	 –	 	 (11)		 –	 	 (11)		 –	 	 (11)	

Gains and losses transferred to income statement 	 –	 	 (4)		 5	 	 (6)		 (5)		 –	 	 (5)	

Equity-accounted investees 	 –	 	 2	 	 –	 	 –	 	 2	 	 –	 	 2	

Income tax expense 	 –	 	 (19)		 1	 	 1	 	 (17)		 –	 	 (17)	

Items that are or may be reclassified 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

subsequently to income statement 	 –	 	 145	 	 (5)		 (5)		 135	 	 –	 	 135	

Other comprehensive income 	 679	 	 145	 	 (5)		 (5)		 814	 	 –	 	 814	

Comprehensive income 	 2,249	 	 145	 	 (5)		 (5)		 2,384	 	 (2)		 2,382	

Dividends paid 	 (1,140)		 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (1,140)		 (8)		 (1,148)	

Transactions with 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

non-controlling interests 	 (102)		 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (102)		 (9)		 (111)	

Balance at 31 December 2017 	 9,155	 	 (1,689)		 4	 	 (2)		 7,468	 	 (11)		 7,457	

Development of retained earnings and other reserves as well as comprehensive income 2016

 	 	 	 Foreign	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
 	 	 	 currency	 	 	 	 	 	 Equity	 	 Non-	 	 	
 	 Retained	 	 translation	 	 Fair value	 	 Hedging	 	 holders of	 	 controlling	 	 	

In CHF million 	 earnings	 	 adjustments	 	 reserve	 	 reserve	 	 Swisscom	 	 interests	 	 Total	

Balance at 31 December 2015 	 6,783	 	 (1,733)		 5	 	 (6)		 5,049	 	 5	 	 5,054	

Net income 	 1,604	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 1,604	 	 –	 	 1,604	

Actuarial gains and losses from defined 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

benefit pension plans 	 1,162	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 1,162	 	 –	 	 1,162	

Equity-accounted investees 	 (5)		 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (5)		 –	 	 (5)	

Income tax expense 	 (238)		 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (238)		 –	 	 (238)	

Items that will not be reclassified 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

to income statement 	 919	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 919	 	 –	 	 919	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

of foreign subsidiaries 	 –	 	 (21)		 –	 	 –	 	 (21)		 –	 	 (21)	

Change in fair value 	 –	 	 –	 	 7	 	 8	 	 15	 	 –	 	 15	

Gains and losses transferred to income statement 	 –	 	 5	 	 (3)		 2	 	 4	 	 –	 	 4	

Equity-accounted investees 	 –	 	 (2)		 –	 	 –	 	 (2)		 –	 	 (2)	

Income tax expense 	 –	 	 (83)		 –	 	 (1)		 (84)		 –	 	 (84)	

Items that are or may be reclassified 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

subsequently to income statement 	 –	 	 (101)		 4	 	 9	 	 (88)		 –	 	 (88)	

Other comprehensive income 	 919	 	 (101)		 4	 	 9	 	 831	 	 –	 	 831	

Comprehensive income 	 2,523	 	 (101)		 4	 	 9	 	 2,435	 	 –	 	 2,435	

Dividends paid 	 (1,140)		 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (1,140)		 (8)		 (1,148)	

Treasury shares 	 (1)		 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (1)		 –	 	 (1)	

Transactions with 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

non-controlling interests 	 (17)		 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (17)		 11	 	 (6)	

Balance at 31 December 2016 	 8,148	 	 (1,834)		 9	 	 3	 	 6,326	 	 8	 	 6,334	
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2.2	 Financial liabilities

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	

Balance at 1 January 	 8,496	 	 8,593	

New bank loans 	 177	 	 2	

Issuance of debenture bonds 	 500	 	 700	

Issuance of private placements 	 –	 	 175	

Issuance of other financial liabilities 	 80	 	 21	

Issuance of financial liabilities 	 757	 	 898	

Repayment of bank loans 	 (247)		 (599)	

Repayment of debenture bonds 	 (640)		 –	

Repayment of private placements 	 (250)		 (375)	

Repayment of finance lease liabilities 	 (19)		 (22)	

Repayment of other financial liabilities 	 (2)		 (3)	

Repayment of financial liabilities 	 (1,158)		 (999)	

Interest expense 	 160	 	 168	

Interest payments 	 (181)		 (184)	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 224	 	 (20)	

Change in finance lease liabilities 	 (26)		 19	

Change in fair value 	 (3)		 2	

Other changes 	 17	 	 19	

Balance at 31 December 	 8,286	 	 8,496	

					   

Bank loans 	 760	 	 753	

Debenture bonds 	 6,137	 	 6,140	

Private placements 	 493	 	 738	

Finance lease liabilities 	 461	 	 508	

Derivative financial instruments 1	 60	 	 63	

Other financial liabilities 2	 375	 	 294	

Total financial liabilities 	 8,286	 	 8,496	

Thereof current financial liabilities 	 1,834	 	 1,125	

Thereof non-current financial liabilities 	 6,452	 	 7,371	
 		

1	 See Note 2.5.	
2	 See Note 5.1.	

Credit lines
Swisscom has two confirmed lines of credit from banks each amounting to CHF 1,000 million maturing in 2020 and 
2022, respectively. As of 31 December 2017, none of these lines of credit had been drawn down, as in the prior year.

Bank loans

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Carrying amount	

 	 	 	 Par value	 	 Nominal	 	 Effective	 	 	 	 	

In CHF million 	 Maturity years	 	 in currency	 	 interest rate	 	 interest rate	 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Bank loans in CHF 1	 2016–2017	 	 70	 	 –0.20%	 	 –0.20%	 	 –	 	 70	

Bank loans in EUR 1	 2016–2017	 	 60	 	 0.05%	 	 –0.22%	 	 –	 	 64	

 	 	 	 	 	 Euribor	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Bank loans in EUR 1, 3	 2013–2020	 	 180	 	 +0.386%	 	 0.11%	 	 211	 	 258	

Bank loans in EUR 2	 2015–2020	 	 200	 	 0.76%	 	 –0.52%	 	 238	 	 219	

Bank loans in EUR 2, 3	 2017–2024	 	 150	 	 0.67%	 	 0.67%	 	 175	 	 –	

Bank loans in USD 2	 2009–2028	 	 54	 	 8.30%	 	 4.62%	 	 74	 	 76	

Bank loans in USD 2	 2009–2028	 	 48	 	 7.65%	 	 4.63%	 	 62	 	 66	

Total bank loans 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 760	 	 753	
 						    

1	 Variable interest-bearing.	
2	 Fixed interest-bearing.	
3	 Designated for hedge accounting of net investments in foreign operations.
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During the fourth quarter of 2017, Swisscom took up a bank loan of EUR 150 million maturing in 2024. The financing 
so received was applied to repay existing loans. In 2016, Swisscom took up short-term bank loans on a weekly and 
monthly basis in the amounts of CHF 70 million and EUR 60 million. 
The bank loans may become due for immediate repayment if the shareholding of the Swiss Confederation in the 
capital of Swisscom falls below one third or if another shareholder can exercise control over Swisscom.

Debenture bonds

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Carrying amount	

 	 	 	 Par value	 	 Nominal	 	 Effective	 	 	 	 	

In CHF million 	 Maturity years	 	 in currency	 	 interest rate	 	 interest rate	 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Debenture bond in CHF 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: CH0032254739) 	 2007–2017	 	 600	 	 3.75%	 	 3.76%	 	 –	 	 610	

Debenture bond in CHF 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: CH0104691628) 	 2009–2018	 	 1,385	 	 3.25%	 	 3.44%	 	 1,396	 	 1,434	

Debenture bond in EUR 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: XS0972165848) 	 2013–2020	 	 500	 	 2.00%	 	 2.22%	 	 585	 	 535	

Debenture bond in EUR 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: XS1051076922) 1	 2014–2021	 	 500	 	 1.88%	 	 2.06%	 	 585	 	 536	

Debenture bond in CHF 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: CH0114695379) 	 2010–2022	 	 500	 	 2.63%	 	 2.81%	 	 500	 	 500	

Debenture bond in CHF 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: CH0268988174) 	 2015–2023	 	 250	 	 0.25%	 	 –0.37%	 	 253	 	 253	

Debenture bond in CHF 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: CH0188335365) 	 2012–2024	 	 500	 	 1.75%	 	 1.77%	 	 504	 	 504	

Debenture bond in EUR 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: XS1288894691) 1	 2015–2025	 	 500	 	 1.75%	 	 –0.06%	 	 599	 	 554	

Debenture bond in CHF 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: CH0247776138) 	 2014–2026	 	 200	 	 1.50%	 	 1.47%	 	 202	 	 202	

Debenture bond in CHF 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: CH0344583783) 	 2016–2027	 	 200	 	 0.38%	 	 –0.39%	 	 197	 	 198	

Debenture bond in CHF 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: CH0362748359) 	 2017–2027	 	 350	 	 0.38%	 	 0.38%	 	 351	 	 –	

Debenture bond in CHF 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: CH0317921663) 	 2016–2028	 	 200	 	 0.38%	 	 0.30%	 	 202	 	 202	

Debenture bond in CHF 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: CH0254147504) 	 2014–2029	 	 160	 	 1.50%	 	 1.47%	 	 161	 	 161	

Debenture bond in CHF 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: CH0336352775) 	 2016–2032	 	 300	 	 0.13%	 	 0.14%	 	 299	 	 299	

Debenture bond in CHF 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: CH0373476164) 	 2017–2033	 	 150	 	 0.75%	 	 0.71%	 	 151	 	 –	

Debenture bond in CHF 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

(ISIN: CH0268988182) 	 2015–2035	 	 150	 	 1.00%	 	 0.96%	 	 152	 	 152	

Total debenture bonds 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 6,137	 	 6,140	
 						    

1	 Designated for hedge accounting of net investments in foreign operations.					   

In the second quarter of 2017, Swisscom took up a debenture bond of a nominal amount of CHF 350 million with 
a coupon rate of 0.375% and a duration of 10 years. In the fourth quarter of 2017, Swisscom issued a debenture 
bond of a nominal amount of CHF 150 million with a coupon rate of 0.75% and a term of 16 years. The funds 
received were applied to repay existing debt. In the third quarter of 2017, Swisscom repaid a debenture bond of a 
nominal amount of CHF 600 million upon maturity.
In 2016, Swisscom issued three debenture bonds of an aggregate nominal amount of CHF 700 million. The financing 
so received was applied to repay existing loans. 
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Private placements

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Carrying amount	

 	 	 	 Par value	 	 Nominal	 	 Effective	 	 	 	 	

In CHF million 	 Maturity years	 	 in currency	 	 interest rate	 	 interest rate	 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Private placements in CHF 	 2007–2017	 	 250	 	 0.80%	 	 1.56%	 	 –	 	 249	

Private placements in CHF 	 2007–2018	 	 72	 	 Variable	 	 1.31%	 	 71	 	 70	

Private placements in CHF 	 2007–2019	 	 278	 	 Variable	 	 1.25%	 	 272	 	 269	

Private placements in CHF 	 2016–2031	 	 150	 	 0.56%	 	 0.56%	 	 150	 	 150	

Total private placements 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 493	 	 738	

In the fourth quarter of 2017, Swisscom repaid a private placement of CHF 250 million on maturity. In 2016, a 
maturing private placement of CHF 150 million was prolonged for a further term of 15 years. 
The Swiss-franc-denominated private placements with a carrying value of CHF 343 million maturing in 2018 to 
2019 may become due for immediate repayment if the shareholding of the Swiss Confederation in the capital of 
Swisscom falls below 35% or if another shareholder can exercise control over Swisscom. The investors in the 
remaining private placements are entitled to resell their investments to Swisscom should the Swiss Confederation 
permanently give up its majority shareholding in Swisscom.

Finance lease liabilities
Swisscom concluded two agreements in 2001 for the sale of real estate. At the same time, Swisscom entered into 
long-term agreements to lease back part of the real estate sold which, in part, qualify as finance leases. The gain 
realised on real estate classified as finance leases was deferred. As of 31 December 2017, the deferred gains 
totalled CHF 146 million (prior year: CHF 158 million). The deferred gains are released to other income over the 
term of the individual leases. The effective interest rate of the finance lease liabilities was 4.9%. 
The minimum lease payments, financial liabilities and the future payment thereof, in terms of their net present 
value, relating to these leaseback agreements are set out in the following table:

 	 Minimum lease payments	 	 Carrying amount	

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Within 1 year 	 48	 	 45	 	 23	 	 16	

Between 1 and 5 years 	 144	 	 149	 	 48	 	 40	

After 5 years 	 793	 	 984	 	 390	 	 452	

Total minimum lease payments/carrying amount 	 985	 	 1,178	 	 461	 	 508	

Thereof current finance lease liabilities 	 	 	 	 	 23	 	 16	

Thereof non-current finance lease liabilities 	 	 	 	 	 438	 	 492	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net carrying amount of buildings acquired under finance lease 	 	 	 	 	 328	 	 382	

Accounting policies
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value less direct transaction costs. In subsequent accounting periods, 
they are re-measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Finance leases
A lease is recorded as a finance lease when substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an 
asset are passed on. The asset is initially recorded at the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum 
lease payments and is amortised over the lesser of the asset’s estimated useful life and the lease term. The interest 
component of the lease payments is recognised as interest expense over the lease term computed on the basis of 
the effective interest method. Lease contracts for land and buildings are recorded separately if the lease payments 
can be reliably allocated. Gains on sale-and-leaseback transactions are deferred and released on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term as other income. Losses on sale-and-leaseback transactions are expensed immediately. 
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2.3	 Operating leases

Operating leases relate primarily to the rental of real estate held for business purposes. In 2017, payments for 
operating leases amounted to CHF 201 million (prior year: CHF 198 million). Future minimum lease payments in 
respect of operating lease contracts are as follows:

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Within 1 year 	 178	 	 162	

Between 1 and 2 years 	 157	 	 142	

Between 2 and 3 years 	 138	 	 126	

Between 3 and 4 years 	 112	 	 113	

Between 4 and 5 years 	 85	 	 88	

After 5 years 	 317	 	 305	

Total minimum lease payments from operating lease 	 987	 	 936	

Accounting policies
Lease arrangements which do not transfer all the significant risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating 
leases. Payments are recorded as other operating expense using the straight-line method over the lease period. 
Gains and losses on sale-and-leaseback transactions are recorded directly in the income statement.

2.4	 Financial result

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	

Interest income on financial assets 	 11	 	 13	

Foreign exchange gains 	 10	 	 7	

Change in fair value of interest rate swaps 1	 8	 	 –	

Gain from sale of equity-accounted investees 2	 6	 	 42	

Capitalised borrowing costs 	 5	 	 6	

Other financial income 	 4	 	 12	

Total financial income 	 44	 	 80	

Interest expense on financial liabilities 	 (160)		 (168)	

Interest expense on defined benefit obligations 3	 (11)		 (25)	

Present-value adjustments on provisions 4	 (6)		 (11)	

Change in fair value of interest rate swaps 1	 –	 	 (10)	

Other financial expense 	 (27)		 (21)	

Total financial expense 	 (204)		 (235)	

Financial income and financial expense, net 	 (160)		 (155)	 		

Net interest expense 	 (149)		 (155)	
 	 	 	 	

1	 See Note 2.5.
2	 See Note 5.2.
3	 See Note 4.3.
4	 See Note 3.5.
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 2.5	 Financial risk management

Swisscom is exposed to various financial risks arising from its business and financing activities. Financial risk 
management is conducted in accordance with established guidelines with the objective of containing the potential 
adverse effects thereof on the financial situation of Swisscom. The identified risks and measures to minimise 
them are presented below:

Risk 	 Source 	 Risk reduction 

Currency risks 	 Swisscom is exposed to foreign exchange changes 	 >	 Reduction in volatility by use of financial instruments 

 	 which can impact the Group’s cash flows, 		  and designation for hedge-accounting purposes 

 	 financial result and equity. 		  (foreign-currency transaction and translation risk) 

 	  	 >	 Deployment of foreign currency forward transactions, 
 	  		  foreign-currency options and currency swaps 

 	  	 >	 Foreign-currency financing (EUR & USD) 

 	  	  

Interest rate risk 	 Interest-rate risks result from changes in interest rates 	 >	 Active interest-rate risk management 

 	 which can negatively impact the financial situation 	 >	 Deployment of interest-rate swaps to reduce 

 	 of Swisscom. Interest-rate fluctuations can impact the 		  the volatility of planned cash flows 

 	 market value of certain financial assets, liabilities and 	  

 	 hedging instruments. 	  

Credit risks 	 Through its operating business activities and derivative 	 >	 Guideline establishing minimum requirements 

from operating 	 financial instruments and financial investments, 		  for counterparties 

business activities 	 Swisscom is exposed to the risk of default 	 >	 Designated counterparty limits 

and financial 	 of a counterparty. 	 >	 Employment of netting agreements foreseen under 

transactions 	  		  ISDA (International Swaps and Derivatives Association) 

 	  	 >	 Use of collateral agreements 

Liquidity risk 	 Prudent liquidity management involves the holding 	 >	 Procedures and principles 

 	 of adequate reserves of cash and cash equivalents, 		  to ensure adequate liquidity 

 	 negotiable securities as well as the possibility 	 >	 Two guaranteed bank credit lines 

 	 of obtaining corresponding credits. 		  each of CHF 1,000 million 

Foreign exchange risks
As regards financial instruments, the currency risks and hedging contracts for foreign currencies as of 31 Decem-
ber 2016 and 2017 are to be analysed as follows:

 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

In CHF million 	 EUR	 	 USD	 	 EUR	 	 USD	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Cash and cash equivalents 	 89	 	 3	 	 55	 	 3	

Trade receivables 	 7	 	 3	 	 8	 	 10	

Other financial assets 	 103	 	 230	 	 93	 	 244	

Financial liabilities 	 (2,377)		 (144)		 (2,161)		 (148)	

Trade payables 	 (71)		 (80)		 (66)		 (68)	

Net exposure at carrying amounts 	 (2,249)		 12	 	 (2,071)		 41	

Net exposure to forecasted cash flows in the next 12 months 	 1	 	 (405)		 89	 	 (470)	

Net exposure before hedges 	 (2,248)		 (393)		 (1,982)		 (429)	

Forward currency contracts 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (4)	

Foreign currency swaps 	 83	 	 189	 	 97	 	 406	

Currency swaps 	 819	 	 –	 	 752	 	 –	

Hedges 	 902	 	 189	 	 849	 	 402	

Net exposure 	 (1,346)		 (204)		 (1,133)		 (27)	

In addition, Swisscom has financial liabilities outstanding as of 31 December 2017 with an aggregate nominal 
value of EUR 1,330 million (CHF 1,555 million) (prior year: EUR 1,240 million; CHF 1,332 million) which were designated 
as net investments in foreign shareholdings for hedge-accounting purposes.
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Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The following sensitivity analysis shows the impact on the income statement should the EUR/CHF and USD/CHF 
exchange rates change in line with their implicit volatility over the next twelve months. This analysis assumes that 
all other variables, in particular the interest rate level, remain constant. 

 	 Income impact	 	 Hedges for	 	 	 	 Hedges for	
 	 on balance sheet	 	 balance sheet	 	 Planned	 	 planned	
 	 items	 	 items	 	 cash flows	 	 cash flows	In CHF million 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

31.12.2017 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

EUR volatility 6.25% 	 140	 	 (56)		 –	 	 –	

USD volatility of 7.78% 	 (1)		 5	 	 32	 	 (20)	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

31.12.2016 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

EUR volatility of 7.47% 	 155	 	 (63)		 (7)		 –	

USD volatility of 10.35% 	 (4)		 7	 	 49	 	 (49)	

The volatility of the balance sheet positions and planned cash flows is partially offset by the volatility of the related 
hedging contracts.

Interest rate risks
The structure of interest-bearing financial instruments at nominal values is as follows:

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Fixed interest-bearing financial liabilities 	 7,220	 	 7,331	

Variable interest-bearing financial liabilities 	 655	 	 765	

Total interest-bearing financial liabilities 	 7,875	 	 8,096	

Fixed interest-bearing financial assets 	 (127)		 (117)	

Variable interest-bearing financial assets 	 (603)		 (489)	

Total interest-bearing financial assets 	 (730)		 (606)	

Total interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities, net 	 7,145	 	 7,490	 	 	 	 	

Variable interest-bearing 	 52	 	 276	

Variable through interest rate swaps 	 1,244	 	 1,177	

Variable interest-bearing, net 	 1,296	 	 1,453	

Fixed interest-bearing 	 7,093	 	 7,214	

Variable through interest rate swaps 	 (1,244)		 (1,177)	

Fixed interest-bearing, net 	 5,849	 	 6,037	

Total interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities, net 	 7,145	 	 7,490	

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
A shift in interest rates by 100 basis points has no material impact on the income statement and equity as of 
31 December 2016 and 2017. 

Credit risks
Credit risks from financial transactions
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents and other financial assets exposed to credit risk (excluding trade 
debtors) may be analysed as follows:

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Cash and cash equivalents 	 525	 	 329	

Loans and receivables 	 201	 	 274	

Derivative financial instruments 	 100	 	 41	

Other assets valued at fair value 	 61	 	 63	

Total carrying amount of financial assets 	 887	 	 707	
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The carrying amounts analysed by Standard & Poor’s rating of the counterparties may be summarised as follows:

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

AAA 	 34	 	 14	

AA– to AA+ 	 433	 	 351	

A– to A+ 	 342	 	 243	

BBB– to BBB+ 	 22	 	 57	

Without rating 	 56	 	 42	

Total 	 887	 	 707	

Financial risks from operating activities
Credit risks on trade receivables and other receivables arise from the Group’s operating activities. Credit risks from 
other receivables are insignificant. The split of trade receivables by operating segment is as follows:

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	 	 	 	 	

Trade receivables 	 	 	 	

Residential Customers 	 956	 	 1,020	

Enterprise Customers 	 531	 	 495	

Wholesale 	 102	 	 149	

IT, Network & Infrastructure 	 43	 	 82	

Swisscom Switzerland 	 1,632	 	 1,746	

Fastweb 	 814	 	 744	

Other Operating Segments 	 136	 	 118	

Total trade receivables 	 2,582	 	 2,608	 	 	 	 	

Allowances for doubtful debts 	 	 	 	

Residential Customers 	 (47)		 (48)	

Enterprise Customers 	 (3)		 (3)	

Wholesale 	 –	 	 (1)	

IT, Network & Infrastructure 	 (2)		 (2)	

Swisscom Switzerland 	 (52)		 (54)	

Fastweb 	 (131)		 (116)	

Other Operating Segments 	 (10)		 (13)	

Total allowances for doubtful debts 	 (193)		 (183)	 	 	 	 	

Trade receivables, net 	 	 	 	

Total trade receivables, net 	 2,389	 	 2,425	

The due dates of trade receivables as well as the related valuation allowances are to be analysed as follows:

 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

In CHF million 	 Gross amount	 	 Allowances	 	 Gross amount	 	 Allowances	

Not due 	 1,824	 	 (4)		 1,881	 	 (7)	

Past due up to 3 months 	 377	 	 (18)		 366	 	 (3)	

Past due 4 to 6 months 	 124	 	 (17)		 92	 	 (7)	

Past due 7 to 12 months 	 90	 	 (24)		 101	 	 (25)	

Past due over 1 year 	 167	 	 (130)		 168	 	 (141)	

Total 	 2,582	 	 (193)		 2,608	 	 (183)	
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The table below presents the changes in valuation allowances for trade receivables.

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	

Balance at 1 January 	 183	 	 184	

Additions to allowances 	 93	 	 95	

Write-off of irrecoverable receivables subject to allowance 	 (90)		 (92)	

Release of unused allowances 	 (3)		 (4)	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 10	 	 –	

Balance at 31 December 	 193	 	 183	

Liquidity risk
Contractual maturities including estimated interest payable

 	 Carrying	 	 Contractual	 	 Due within	 	 Due within	 	 Due within	 	 Due after	

In CHF million 	 amount	 	 payments	 	 1 year	 	 1 to 2 years	 	 3 to 5 years	 	 5 years	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

31.12.2017 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Bank loans 	 760	 	 830	 	 80	 	 80	 	 328	 	 342	

Debenture bonds 	 6,137	 	 6,575	 	 1,497	 	 67	 	 1,836	 	 3,175	

Private placements 	 493	 	 514	 	 74	 	 280	 	 2	 	 158	

Finance lease liabilities 	 461	 	 985	 	 48	 	 42	 	 102	 	 793	

Other financial liabilities 	 375	 	 375	 	 235	 	 109	 	 28	 	 3	

Trade payables 	 1,753	 	 1,753	 	 1,718	 	 23	 	 12	 	 –	

Other payables 	 343	 	 343	 	 340	 	 3	 	 –	 	 –	

Derivative financial instruments 	 60	 	 108	 	 7	 	 4	 	 11	 	 86	

Total 	 10,382	 	 11,483	 	 3,999	 	 608	 	 2,319	 	 4,557	

 	 Carrying	 	 Contractual	 	 Due within	 	 Due within	 	 Due within	 	 Due after	

In CHF million 	 amount	 	 payments	 	 1 year	 	 1 to 2 years	 	 3 to 5 years	 	 5 years	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

31.12.2016 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Bank loans 	 753	 	 826	 	 207	 	 73	 	 367	 	 179	

Debenture bonds 	 6,140	 	 6,658	 	 731	 	 1,533	 	 1,248	 	 3,146	

Private placements 	 738	 	 765	 	 253	 	 73	 	 281	 	 158	

Finance lease liabilities 	 508	 	 1,178	 	 45	 	 44	 	 105	 	 984	

Other financial liabilities 	 294	 	 294	 	 4	 	 261	 	 3	 	 26	

Trade payables 	 1,597	 	 1,597	 	 1,576	 	 10	 	 11	 	 –	

Other payables 	 299	 	 299	 	 299	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	

Derivative financial instruments 	 63	 	 108	 	 4	 	 4	 	 11	 	 89	

Total 	 10,392	 	 11,725	 	 3,119	 	 1,998	 	 2,026	 	 4,582	
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Derivative financial instruments

 	 Contract value 	 	 Positive fair value 	 	 Negative fair value 	

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Interest rate swaps in CHF 	 425	 	 425	 	 2	 	 3	 	 (3)		 (2)	

Currency swaps in EUR 	 819	 	 752	 	 97	 	 29	 	 –	 	 –	

Total fair value hedges 	 1,244	 	 1,177	 	 99	 	 32	 	 (3)		 (2)	

Currency swaps in USD 	 149	 	 235	 	 –	 	 4	 	 (2)		 –	

Total cash flow hedges 	 149	 	 235	 	 –	 	 4	 	 (2)		 –	

Interest rate swaps in CHF 	 200	 	 200	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (54)		 (60)	

Currency swaps in USD 	 210	 	 335	 	 1	 	 5	 	 (1)		 (1)	

Currency swaps in EUR 	 101	 	 97	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	

Forward currency contracts in USD 	 –	 	 4	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	

Total other derivative financial instruments 	 511	 	 636	 	 1	 	 5	 	 (55)		 (61)	

Total derivative financial instruments 	 1,904	 	 2,048	 	 100	 	 41	 	 (60)		 (63)	

Thereof current derivative financial instruments 	 	 	 	 	 1	 	 9	 	 (4)		 (1)	

Thereof non-current derivative financial instruments 	 	 	 	 	 99	 	 32	 	 (56)		 (62)	

Accounting policies
Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently re-measured at fair value. The 
method of recording the fluctuations in fair value depends on the underlying transaction and the objective pursued 
by entering such transaction. On the date a derivative contract is entered into, management designates the 
purpose of the hedging relationship: hedge of the fair value of an asset or liability (“fair value hedge”) or a hedge 
of future cash flows in the case of future transactions (“cash flow hedge”). Changes in the fair value of derivative 
financial instruments that were designated as hedging instruments for “fair value hedges” are recognised in the 
income statement. Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that were designated as “cash 
flow hedges” are dealt with in other comprehensive income and recognised in the hedging reserve as part of 
equity. If a hedge of a future transaction subsequently results in the recording of a financial asset or financial 
liability, the amount included in equity is recognised in the income statement in the same period in which the 
financial asset or financial liability impacts the results. Otherwise, the amounts recorded in equity are recognised 
in the income statement as income or expense in the same period the cash flows of the intended or agreed future 
transaction occur. Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are not designated as hedging 
instruments are taken immediately to income.

Valuation categories and fair value of financial instruments 
Estimation of fair values
Fair values are allocated to one of the following three hierarchical levels:
>	 Level 1: exchange quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
>	 Level 2: other factors which are observable on markets for assets and liabilities, either directly or indirectly;
>	 Level 3: factors that are not based on observable market data.

The fair value of publicly traded equity and debt instruments of Level 1 is based upon their -exchange quotations 
as of the balance-sheet date. The fair value of Level 2 financial assets and liabilities which are not quoted on 
exchanges are computed on the basis of future maturing payments discounted at market interest rates. Level 3 
assets consist of investments in various investment funds and individual companies. The fair value is determined 
on the basis of a computational model. Interest-rate and currency swaps are discounted at market rates. 
Foreign-currency forward transactions and foreign-currency swaps are valued by reference to foreign exchange 
forward rates as of the balance sheet date.
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 Valuation categories and fair value of financial instruments
The carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are summarised in the following 
table. Not included therein are cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and payables as well as miscellaneous 
receivables and liabilities whose carrying amount corresponds to a reasonable estimation of their fair value.

 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

 	 Carrying	 	 Fair	 	 	 	 Carrying	 	 Fair	 	 	

In CHF million 	 amount	 	 value	 	 Level	 	 amount	 	 value	 	 Level	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Other financial assets 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Term deposits 	 7	 	 7	 	 2	 	 93	 	 93	 	 2	

Certificates of deposit 	 145	 	 162	 	 2	 	 152	 	 168	 	 2	

Loans 	 49	 	 49	 	 2	 	 29	 	 29	 	 2	

Loans and receivables 	 201	 	 218	 	 	 	 274	 	 290	 	 	

Equity instruments valued at fair value 	 10	 	 10	 	 1	 	 15	 	 15		  1	

Equity instruments valued at fair value 	 2	 	 2	 	 3	 	 5	 	 5		  3	

Equity instruments valued at cost 	 41	 	 41	 	 –	 	 41	 	 41	 	 –	

Available-for-sale 	 53	 	 53	 	 	 	 61	 	 61	 	 	

Debt instruments held for trading 	 61	 	 61	 	 1	 	 63	 	 63	 	 1	

Derivative financial instruments 	 100	 	 100	 	 2	 	 41	 	 41	 	 2	

Fair value through profit or loss 	 161	 	 161	 	 	 	 104	 	 104	 	 	

Total other financial assets 	 415	 	 432	 	 	 	 439	 	 455	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Financial liabilities 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Bank loans 	 760	 	 788	 	 2	 	 753	 	 782	 	 2	

Debenture bonds 	 6,137	 	 6,439	 	 1	 	 6,140	 	 6,517	 	 1	

Private placements 	 493	 	 504	 	 2	 	 738	 	 758	 	 2	

Finance lease liabilities 	 461	 	 879	 	 2	 	 508	 	 1,049	 	 2	

Derivative financial instruments 	 60	 	 60	 	 2	 	 63	 	 63	 	 2	

Other financial liabilities 	 375	 	 375	 	 2	 	 294	 	 294	 	 2	

Total financial liabilities 	 8,286	 	 9,045	 	 	 	 8,496	 	 9,463	 	 	

Financial assets amounting to CHF 145 million (prior year: CHF 152 million) are not freely available, as they serve 
as security for bank loans. 
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3	 Operating assets and liabilities

The following section discloses information on the movement in net current assets as well as in material 
non-current tangible and intangible assets. In addition, it provides information as to the allocation of goodwill 
over the individual cash-generating units and on the results of any applicable impairment tests. Furthermore, 
movements in provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets are presented in this section.

3.1	 Net current operating assets

Movements in operating assets and liabilities

 	 	 	 Operational	 	 Other	 	 	

In CHF million 	 31.12.2016	 	 changes	 	 changes	  1	 31.12.2017	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Financial year 2017 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Trade receivables 	 2,425	 	 (98)		 62	 	 2,389	

Other operating assets 	 680	 	 29	 	 20	 	 729	

Trade payables 	 (1,597)		 (85)		 (71)		 (1,753)	

Other operating liabilities 	 (1,123)		 (11)		 (31)		 (1,165)	

Total operating assets and liabilities, net 	 385	 	 (165)		 (20)		 200	
 				  

1 	Foreign currency translation and adjustments from acquisition and sale of subsidiaries.			 

 	 	 	 Operational	 	 Other	 	 	

In CHF million 	 31.12.2015	 	 changes	 	 changes	  1	 31.12.2016	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Financial year 2016 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Trade receivables 	 2,396	 	 34	 	 (5)		 2,425	

Other operating assets 	 631	 	 53	 	 (4)		 680	

Trade payables 	 (1,486)		 (117)		 6	 	 (1,597)	

Other operating liabilities 	 (1,171)		 47	 	 1	 	 (1,123)	

Total operating assets and liabilities, net 	 370	 	 17	 	 (2)		 385	
 				  

1 	Foreign currency translation and adjustments from acquisition and sale of subsidiaries.			 

As of 31 December 2017, the portion of other operating assets which will be consumed 12 months after the 
balance sheet date amounts to CHF 85 million (prior year: CHF 94 million) and that of other operating liabilities 
CHF 145 million (prior year: CHF 174 million).

Trade receivables

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Billed revenue 	 2,389	 	 2,401	

Accrued revenue 	 193	 	 207	

Allowances 	 (193)		 (183)	

Total trade receivables 1	 2,389	 	 2,425	
 		

1	 Credit risks. See Note 2.5.	
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Other operating assets

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Accruals from international roaming traffic 	 35	 	 45	

Receivables from construction contracts 	 41	 	 29	

Receivables from collection activities 	 10	 	 9	

Other receivables 	 34	 	 31	

Allowances 	 (7)		 (7)	

Total other receivables 	 113	 	 107	

Inventories 	 168	 	 154	

Prepaid expenses 	 277	 	 263	

Advance payments made 	 74	 	 51	

Costs to fulfill a contract 	 69	 	 67	

Value-added taxes receivable 	 20	 	 4	

Other non-financial assets 	 8	 	 34	

Total other non-financial assets 	 448	 	 419	

Total other operating assets 	 729	 	 680	

Other operating liabilities

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Accruals for variable performance-related bonus 	 157	 	 143	

Accruals from international roaming traffic 	 43	 	 32	

Liabilities from collection activities 	 16	 	 18	

Liabilities from construction contracts 	 8	 	 14	

Miscellaneous liabilities 	 119	 	 92	

Total other liabilities 	 343	 	 299	

Deferred revenue 	 460	 	 440	

Value-added taxes payable 	 91	 	 94	

Accruals for annual holiday, overtime 	 66	 	 62	

Advance payments received 	 19	 	 30	

Other non-financial liabilities 	 186	 	 198	

Total other non-financial liabilities 	 822	 	 824	

Total other operating liabilities 	 1,165	 	 1,123	

Deferred revenues mainly comprise deferred payments for prepaid cards and prepaid subscription fees.

Accounting policies
Operating assets and liabilities
Total operating assets and liabilities used in the normal course of business are disclosed as current items in the 
balance sheet.

Trade receivables
Trade and other receivables are measured at amortised cost less impairment losses. Impairment losses on trade 
receivables are recognised, depending on the nature of the underlying transaction, in the form of individual 
valuation allowances or portfolio-based general valuation allowances which cover the anticipated default risk. 
As regards portfolio-based general valuation allowances, financial assets are grouped together based on hetero
geneous credit-risk attributes and reviewed collectively for impairment and whenever required, valuation allowances 
are recognised. In addition to contractually foreseen payment conditions, historical default rates are taken into 
consideration in determining the expected future cash flows from the portfolio. Valuation allowances for trade 
receivables are recognised as other operating expense. 
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3.2	 Property, plant and equipment

 	 	 	 Land, buildings	 	 	 	 Advances made	 	 	
 	 Technical	 	 and leasehold	 	 	 	 and assets	 	 	

In CHF million 	 installations	 	 improvements	  1	 Other assets	 	 under construction	 	 Total	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

At cost 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance at 31 December 2015 	 26,129	 	 2,762	 	 3,838	 	 362	 	 33,091	

Additions 	 1,423	 	 7	 	 242	 	 197	 	 1,869	

Disposals 	 (550)		 (30)		 (141)		 (1)		 (722)	

Adjustment to dismantlement and restoration costs 	 (47)		 –	 	 (2)		 –	 	 (49)	

Reclassifications 	 108	 	 5	 	 82	 	 (204)		 (9)	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 (40)		 (1)		 –	 	 –	 	 (41)	

Balance at 31 December 2016 	 27,023	 	 2,743	 	 4,019	 	 354	 	 34,139	

Additions 	 1,298	 	 4	 	 270	 	 234	 	 1,806	

Disposals 	 (663)		 (63)		 (137)		 –	 	 (863)	

Adjustment to dismantlement and restoration costs 	 36	 	 –	 	 13	 	 –	 	 49	

Reclassifications 	 95	 	 4	 	 107	 	 (226)		 (20)	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 386	 	 8	 	 1	 	 2	 	 397	

Balance at 31 December 2017 	 28,175	 	 2,696	 	 4,273	 	 364	 	 35,508	 				    	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance at 31 December 2015 	 (18,716)		 (1,996)		 (2,524)		 –	 	 (23,236)	

Depreciation 	 (1,103)		 (37)		 (308)		 –	 	 (1,448)	

Disposals 	 550	 	 13	 	 136	 	 –	 	 699	

Reclassifications 	 1	 	 1	 	 –	 	 –	 	 2	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 21	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 21	

Balance at 31 December 2016 	 (19,247)		 (2,019)		 (2,696)		 –	 	 (23,962)	

Depreciation 	 (1,114)		 (35)		 (315)		 –	 	 (1,464)	

Disposals 	 668	 	 17	 	 132	 	 –	 	 817	

Reclassifications 	 21	 	 –	 	 (12)		 –	 	 9	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 (208)		 (3)		 –	 	 –	 	 (211)	

Balance at 31 December 2017 	 (19,880)		 (2,040)		 (2,891)		 –	 	 (24,811)	 				    	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net carrying amount 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2017 	 8,295	 	 656	 	 1,382	 	 364	 	 10,697	

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2016 	 7,776	 	 724	 	 1,323	 	 354	 	 10,177	

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2015 	 7,413	 	 766	 	 1,314	 	 362	 	 9,855	
 					   

1	 Buildings acquired under finance lease. See Note 2.2.				  

Commitments for future capital expenditures
Firm contractual commitments for future investments in property, plant and equipment as of 31 December 2017 
aggregated CHF 857 million (prior year: CHF 741 million).

Non-cash investing and financing transactions 
Additions to property, plant and equipment include additions from finance leases amounting to CHF 20 million 
(prior year: CHF 19 million). As a result of changes in the assumptions made in estimating the provisions for 
dismantlement and restoration costs, an increase of CHF 49 million (prior year: decrease of CHF 49 million) was 
recognised in property, plant and equipment with no impact on the income statement. See Note 3.5.
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Material accounting judgements or estimation uncertainties
Management estimates the useful economic lives and residual values of technical facilities, real estate and other 
installations and equipment on the basis of the anticipated period over which economic benefits will accrue to the 
company from the use of the assets. Useful economic lives are reviewed annually on the basis of historical and 
forecast expectations concerning future technological developments, economic and legal changes as well as 
further external factors. 

Accounting policies
Property, plant and equipment is recorded at acquisition or manufacturing cost less accumulated depreciation/
amortisation and impairment losses. In addition to the purchase cost and the costs directly attributable to bringing 
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management, purchase or manufacturing cost also includes the estimated costs for dismantling and restoration 
of the site. External borrowing costs are capitalised insofar as they can be allocated directly to the acquisition or 
production of a qualifying asset. Costs of replacement, renewal or renovation of property, plant and equipment 
are capitalised as replacement investments if a future inflow of economic benefits is probable and the purchase 
or manufacturing costs can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the parts replaced is de-recognised. 
Systematic depreciation/amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method except for land, which is not 
depreciated. The estimated useful lives for the main categories of property, plant and equipment are:

Category 	 Years	

Ducts 1	 40	

Cables 1	 30	

Transmission and switching equipment 1	 4 to 15	

Other technical installations 1	 3 to 15	

Buildings and leasehold improvements 	 10 to 40	

Other installations 	 3 to 15	
 	

1	 Technical installations.

Whenever significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment comprise individual components with 
differing useful lives, each component is depreciated/amortised separately. The process for determining useful 
estimated lives takes into account the anticipated use by the company, the expected wear and tear, technological 
developments as well as empirical values with comparable assets. Leasehold improvements and installations in 
leased premises are amortised on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lives and the 
remaining minimum lease term. The impact from changing useful economic lives and residual values are recorded 
on a prospective basis.
If indications exist that the value of an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. 
If the recoverable amount of the asset, which is the greater of the fair value less costs to sell and the value in use, 
is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is written down to the recoverable amount.
The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is de-recognised upon disposal or whenever no 
future economic benefits are expected from its use. Gains and losses arising on the disposal of property, plant and 
equipment are recorded as other income or other operating expenses.
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3.3	 Goodwill

 	 	 	 Small and	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
 	 Residential	 	medium-sized	 	 Enterprise	 	 	 	 	 	 	
 	 Customers	 	 enterprises	 	 Customers	 	 	 	 Other	 	 	
 	 Swisscom	 	 Swisscom	 	 Swisscom	 	 	 	cash-generating	 	 	

In CHF million 	 Switzerland	 	 Switzerland	  1	 Switzerland	 	 Fastweb	 	 units	  2	 Total	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

At cost 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance at 31 December 2015 	 2,620	 	 656	 	 907	 	 1,916	 	 445	 	 6,544	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (17)		 (1)		 (18)	

Balance at 31 December 2016 	 2,620	 	 656	 	 907	 	 1,899	 	 444	 	 6,526	

Additions 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 2	 	 –	 	 2	

Reclassifications 	 656	 	 (656)		 25	 	 –	 	 (25)		 –	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 1	 	 –	 	 –	 	 169	 	 3	 	 173	

Balance at 31 December 2017 	 3,277	 	 –	 	 932	 	 2,070	 	 422	 	 6,701	 					     	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Accumulated impairment losses 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance at 31 December 2015 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (1,383)		 –	 	 (1,383)	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 13	 	 –	 	 13	

Balance at 31 December 2016 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (1,370)		 –	 	 (1,370)	

Impairment losses 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (23)		 (23)	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (122)		 –	 	 (122)	

Balance at 31 December 2017 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (1,492)		 (23)		 (1,515)	 					     	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net carrying amount 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2017 	 3,277	 	 –	 	 932	 	 578	 	 399	 	 5,186	

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2016 	 2,620	 	 656	 	 907	 	 529	 	 444	 	 5,156	

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2015 	 2,620	 	 656	 	 907	 	 533	 	 445	 	 5,161	
 						    

1	 Telecom business with small and medium-sized enterprises in Switzerland.					   

2	 The cash-generating units include Wholesale Swisscom Switzerland, Swisscom Directories and Improve Digital.				  

	

Swisscom amended its organisational structure and dissolved the Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises Swisscom 
Switzerland segment and merged the Health division into the segment Enterprise Customers Swisscom Switzer-
land (see Note 1.1). The segment Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises Swisscom Switzerland consisted of the 
cash-generating units Telecommunications Business with small and medium-sized enterprises in Switzerland 
(SME telecommunications business) and Swisscom Directories. The SME telecommunications business was fully 
merged into the organisation and business processes of the Residential Customers Swisscom Switzerland unit. 
Accordingly, the previous goodwill amounting to CHF 656 million was transferred to the cash-generating unit 
Residential Clients Swisscom Switzerland. The goodwill of Swisscom Directories continues to be classified in the 
consolidated financial statements under other cash-generating units. In connection with the merger of Health 
division, goodwill amounting to CHF 25 million was transferred to the cash-generating unit Enterprise Customers 
Swisscom Switzerland.

Impairment testing
In the fourth quarter of 2017 and after completion of business planning, individual goodwill amounts were sub-
jected to an impairment test. The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is determined based on its value 
in use, using the discounted cash flow (DCF) method. The projected free cash flows are estimated on the basis of 
the business plans approved by management. In general, the business plans cover a three-year period. A planning 
horizon of five years is used for the impairment test of Fastweb. For the free cash flows extending beyond the 
detailed planning period, a terminal value was computed by capitalising the normalised cash flows using an 
assumed long-term constant growth rate. The growth rates applied are those customarily assumed for the country 
or market. The discount rate is derived from the Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM). This latter comprises the 
weighted cost of own equity and external borrowing costs. For the risk-free interest rate underlying the discount 
rate, the yield from government bonds (abroad – Germany) with a duration of 10 years and a zero-interest rate is 
used, subject to a minimum interest rate of 1.5% (Switzerland) and 2.0% (abroad). In the prior year, a minimum 
interest rate of 2.5% (Switzerland) and 3.0% (abroad) was used. For cash-generating units abroad, a risk premium 
for the country risk is then added. 
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Discount rates and long-term growth rates

 	 2017	 	 2016	

 	 WACC	 	 WACC	 	 Long-term	 	 WACC	 	 WACC	 	 Long-term	

Cash-generating unit 	 pre-tax	 	 post-tax	 	 growth rate	 	 pre-tax	 	 post-tax	 	 growth rate	

Residential Customers Swisscom Switzerland 	 5.92%	 	 4.64%	 	 0%	 	 6.66%	 	 5.25%	 	 0%	

Enterprise Customers Swisscom Switzerland 	 5.88%	 	 4.64%	 	 0%	 	 6.64%	 	 5.25%	 	 0%	

SME telecommunication business Switzerland 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 6.66%	 	 5.25%	 	 0%	

Fastweb 	 9.10%	 	 7.02%	 	 1.0%	 	 9.63%	 	 7.38%	 	 1.0%	

Other cash-generating units 	 5.88–14.38%	 	 4.64–9.72%	 	 0–1.5%	 	 6.6–12.2%	 	 5.3–9.5%	 	 0–1.0%	

The discount rates used take into consideration the specific risks relating to the cash-generating unit being 
considered. The projected cash flows and management assumptions are corroborated by external sources of 
information.

Results and sensitivity of impairment tests
Residential Customers and Enterprise Customers Swisscom Switzerland
As of the measurement date, the recoverable amount at all cash-generating units, based on their value in use, was 
higher than the carrying amount relevant for the impairment test. Swisscom believes none of the anticipated 
changes in key assumptions which can rationally be expected would cause the carrying amount of the cash-
generating units to exceed the recoverable amount.

Fastweb
As of the date of the impairment test, no impairment of goodwill resulted. The recoverable amount exceeded the 
net carrying amount by EUR 332 million (CHF 386 million). In the prior year, the difference amounted to EUR 710 mil-
lion (CHF 768 million). The following changes in material assumptions lead to a situation where the value in use 
equates to the net carrying amount:

 	 2017	 	 2016	

 	 Assumptions	 	 Sensitivity	 	 Assumptions	 	 Sensitivity	

Average annual growth rate with the same EBITDA margin 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

as in the business plan 	 5.2%	 	 2.8%	 	 6.3%	 	 4.3%	

Normalised EBITDA margin 	 33%	 	 31%	 	 34%	 	 31%	

Normalised capital expenditure rate 	 21%	 	 23%	 	 20%	 	 23%	

Post-tax discount rate 	 7.02%	 	 7.71%	 	 7.38%	 	 8.84%	

Long-term growth rate 	 1.0%	 	 0.1%	 	 1.0%	 	 –0.8%	

Material accounting judgements or estimation uncertainties
The allocation of goodwill to the cash-generating units as well as the computation of the recoverable amount is 
subject to Management’s judgement. This comprises the estimation of future cash flows, the determination of 
the discounting factor and the rate of growth on the basis of historic data and forecast expectations.

Accounting policies
For the purposes of the impairment test, goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating units. The impairment test 
is performed annually on a mandatory basis. If there is any indication during the year that goodwill may be 
impaired, the cash-generating unit is tested for impairment at that time. An impairment loss is recognised if the 
recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is lower than its carrying amount. The recoverable amount is the 
greater of the fair value less costs of disposal and the value in use. 
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3.4	 Intangible assets

 	 	 	 Internally	 	 	 	 Brands and	 	 Other	 	 	
 	 Purchased	 	 generated	 	 	 	 customer	 	 intangible	 	 	

In CHF million 	 software	 	 software	 	 Licenses	 	 relations	 	 assets	 	 Total	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

At cost 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance at 31 December 2015 	 2,035	 	 1,471	 	 454	 	 1,332	 	 612	 	 5,904	

Additions 	 187	 	 138	 	 –	 	 –	 	 247	 	 572	

Disposals 	 (75)		 (202)		 (3)		 (12)		 (51)		 (343)	

Reclassifications 	 31	 	 71	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (93)		 9	

Business combinations 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 22	 	 –	 	 22	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 (12)		 (1)		 –	 	 (10)		 (1)		 (24)	

Balance at 31 December 2016 	 2,166	 	 1,477	 	 451	 	 1,332	 	 714	 	 6,140	

Additions 	 215	 	 152	 	 5	 	 –	 	 225	 	 597	

Disposals 	 (105)		 (443)		 (52)		 (852)		 (61)		 (1,513)	

Reclassifications 	 39	 	 228	 	 9	 	 –	 	 (256)		 20	

Business combinations 	 2	 	 1	 	 –	 	 53	 	 –	 	 56	

Sales of subsidiaries 	 (4)		 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (4)	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 115	 	 12	 	 –	 	 27	 	 14	 	 168	

Balance at 31 December 2017 	 2,428	 	 1,427	 	 413	 	 560	 	 636	 	 5,464	 					     	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance at 31 December 2015 	 (1,586)		 (970)		 (143)		 (1,120)		 (224)		 (4,043)	

Amortisation 	 (234)		 (246)		 (29)		 (94)		 (86)		 (689)	

Impairment losses 	 (2)		 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (6)		 (8)	

Disposals 	 75	 	 200	 	 3	 	 12	 	 45	 	 335	

Reclassifications 	 (1)		 2	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (3)		 (2)	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 10	 	 1	 	 –	 	 10	 	 2	 	 23	

Balance at 31 December 2016 	 (1,738)		 (1,013)		 (169)		 (1,192)		 (272)		 (4,384)	

Amortisation 	 (234)		 (277)		 (26)		 (55)		 (78)		 (670)	

Impairment losses 	 (2)		 (5)		 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (7)	

Disposals 	 105	 	 442	 	 52	 	 852	 	 46	 	 1,497	

Sales of subsidiaries 	 4	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 4	

Reclassifications 	 9	 	 (33)		 (7)		 –	 	 22	 	 (9)	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 (93)		 (9)		 –	 	 (26)		 (9)		 (137)	

Balance at 31 December 2017 	 (1,949)		 (895)		 (150)		 (421)		 (291)		 (3,706)	 					     	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net carrying amount 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2017 	 479	 	 532	 	 263	 	 139	 	 345	 	 1,758	

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2016 	 428	 	 464	 	 282	 	 140	 	 442	 	 1,756	

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2015 	 449	 	 501	 	 311	 	 212	 	 388	 	 1,861	

As of 31 December 2017, other intangible assets included advance payments made and uncompleted development 
projects of CHF 171 million (prior year: CHF 215 million).
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 Commitments for future capital expenditures
As of 31 December 2017, firm contractual commitments for future investments in intangible assets aggregated 
CHF 84 million (prior year: CHF 104 million).

Material accounting judgements or estimation uncertainties
Management estimates the useful economic lives and residual values of intangible assets on the basis of the 
anticipated period over which economic benefits will accrue to the company from the use of the assets. Useful 
economic lives are reviewed annually on the basis of historical and forecast expectations concerning future 
technological developments, economic and legal changes as well as further external factors. 

Accounting policies
Mobile phone licenses, self-developed software as well as other intangible assets are recorded at purchase or 
manufacturing cost less accumulated amortisation. Intangible assets resulting from business combinations, such 
as brands and customer relationships, are recorded at fair market value as of the date of acquisition, less accumu-
lated amortisation and impairment losses. Systematic amortisation of mobile phone licenses is based on the term 
of the contract. It begins as soon as the related network is operational, unless other information is at hand which 
would suggest the need to modify the useful lives. The impact from changing useful economic lives and residual 
values are recorded on a prospective basis. Systematic amortisation is computed on a straight-line basis over the 
following estimated useful economic lives:

Category 	 Years	

Software internally generated and purchased 	 3 to 7	

Brands and customer relationships 	 5 to 10	

Licenses 	 2 to 16	

Other intangible assets 	 3 to 10	

If indications exist that the value of an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. 
If the recoverable amount of the asset, which is the greater of the fair value less costs to sell and the value in use, 
is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is written down to the recoverable amount.

3.5	 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Provisions

 	 Dismantlement	 	 Regulatory	 	 	 	 	 	 	
 	 and restoration	 	 and competition	 	 Termination	 	 	 	 	

In CHF million 	 costs	 	 law proceedings	 	 benefits	  1	 Other	 	 Total	

Balance at 31 December 2016 	 542	 	 150	 	 79	 	 191	 	 962	

Additions to provisions 	 61	 	 6	 	 95	 	 85	 	 247	

Present-value adjustments 	 8	 	 –	 	 –	 	 (1)		 7	

Release of unused provisions 	 (8)		 –	 	 (34)		 (36)		 (78)	

Use of provisions 	 (3)		 –	 	 (28)		 (32)		 (63)	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 2	 	 2	

Balance at 31 December 2017 	 600	 	 156	 	 112	 	 209	 	 1,077	

Thereof current provisions 	 –	 	 –	 	 98	 	 79	 	 177	

Thereof non-current provisions 	 600	 	 156	 	 14	 	 130	 	 900	
 					   

1	 See Note 4.1.				  

Provisions for dismantling and restoration costs 
The provisions are computed by reference to estimates of future anticipated dismantling costs and are discounted 
using an average interest rate of 1.19% (prior year: 1.18%). The effect of using different interest rates amounted to 
CHF 1 million (prior year: CHF 47 million). The cost index used for computing the dismantling costs was amended 
resulting in an impact of CHF 55 million (prior year: CHF –103 million). In 2017, as a result of reassessments, adjust-
ments totalling CHF 53 million (prior year: CHF 49 million) were recorded under property, plant and equipment, 
without impacting the income statement, and CHF 1 million (prior year: CHF 4 million) which was recognised in 
the income statement. The non-current portion of the provisions is expected to be settled after 2020. An increase 
of estimated costs by 10% would result in an increase of CHF 57 million in the amount of the provision. A shift in 
the timing of dismantling by a further ten years would lead to a reduction in the provision by CHF 76 million. 
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Provisions for regulatory and competition-law proceedings 
In accordance with the revised Telecommunications Act, Swisscom provides access services (incl. interconnection) 
to other telecommunication service providers in Switzerland. In previous years, several telecommunication service 
providers demanded from the Federal Communications Commission (ComCom) a reduction in the prices charged 
to them by Swisscom. The determination of the prices for access services during 2013 to 2017 is still pending. 
In 2009, the Competition Commission (Weko) levied a penalty totalling CHF 220 million on Swisscom for abuse of 
a market-dominant position in the case of ADSL services during the period through to the end of 2007. Swisscom 
has appealed against the ruling to the Federal Administrative Court. In September 2015, the Federal Administrative 
Court in principle upheld the Weko decision and reduced the penalty imposed on Swisscom by Weko from CHF 220 
million to CHF 186 million. As a result of the decision, Swisscom recognised a provision of CHF 186 million in the 
third quarter of 2015. Swisscom does not consider the penalty to be justified and has lodged an appeal to the 
Federal Court. At the beginning of 2016, it paid the penalty of CHF 186 million as no suspensive effect was granted. 
In the event that a legally enforceable finding as to market abuse is reached, civil-law claims might be asserted 
against Swisscom.
On the basis of legal opinions, Swisscom has established provisions for regulatory and competition-law proceedings. 
Any applicable payments will depend upon the date on which legally-binding decrees and decisions are issued and 
could occur within five years.

Other provisions
Other provisions include provisions for environmental, contractual and non-income-related tax risks. Any applicable 
payments of the non-current portion of the provisions could likely occur within three years. 

Contingent liabilities arising from competition-law proceedings 
The Competition Commission (Weko) is conducting several proceedings against Swisscom. In the event that a 
legally enforceable finding of market abuse is reached, Weko can impose a penalty on Swisscom. In addition, claims 
under civil law might be asserted against Swisscom. In April 2013, Weko initiated an investigation against Swisscom 
pursuant to the Anti-Trust Law in the area of broadcasting live-sport events on pay TV. In May 2016, Weko decreed a 
penalty of CHF 72 million on Swisscom in these proceedings. 
In November 2015, in its investigation as to the invitation to tender for the corporate network of the Swiss Post in 
2008, Weko reached the conclusion that Swisscom has a market-dominant position on the market for broadband 
access for business clients. Because of this conduct judged to be unlawful under Competition Law, Weko ruled a 
penalty of CHF 8 million. 
Swisscom has challenged the rulings of Weko concerning live sports broadcasts on pay TV as well as of the invitation 
to tender for the corporate network of the Swiss Post in the Federal Administrative Court as it considers that it has 
conducted itself in a lawful manner. Swisscom considers the levying of sanctions in the court of last appeal as 
improbable for which reason no provisions have been recognised in the consolidated financial statements as of and 
for the year ended 31 December 2017, as in the prior year. In view of the past proceedings conducted by Weko, 
further proceedings against Swisscom might be initiated.

Contingent assets from litigation
In 2015, the Italian competition authorities (AGCM) found TIM (formerly Telecom Italia) guilty of unlawful conduct 
as a market-dominant company and imposed a penalty of EUR 104 million. Related to the same matter, Fastweb has 
claimed damages from TIM and initiated legal action in connection therewith. In the fourth quarter of 2015, Fastweb 
and TIM reached an out-of-court settlement which encompassed the contested receivables of both parties due 
from each other. In the second quarter of 2017, TIM made a payment of EUR 95 million (CHF 102 million). For Fastweb, 
there exists no further uncertain receivable arising from the settlement to which conditions are attached. 
See Note 1.2.
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 Material accounting judgements or estimation uncertainties
The provisions for dismantling and restoration costs relate to the dismantling of telecommunication installations 
and transmitter stations as well as the restoration to its original state of land held by third party owners. The level 
of the provisions is determined to a significant degree by the estimation of future dismantling and restoration 
costs as well as the timing of the dismantling. 
Provisions for pending litigation are measured on the basis of available information and an estimate of probable 
expected cash outflows. Depending on the outcome of these proceedings, claims may be made against the group 
which are not or not fully be covered by provisions or existing insurance. The provisions so established constitute 
the best possible estimate of the ultimate liability. 
Possible liabilities whose occurrence as of the balance-sheet date cannot be assessed, or liabilities, the level of 
which cannot be reliably estimated, are disclosed as contingent liabilities. 

Accounting policies
Provisions are raised whenever a legal or de facto liability exists as a result of an occurrence in the past, the 
outflow of resources to settle the liability is probable and the amount of the liability can be estimated reliably. 
Provisions are discounted if the effect is material.

Provisions for dismantling and restoration costs
Swisscom is legally obligated to dismantle transmitter stations and telecommunication installations located on 
land belonging to third parties following decommissioning and to restore to its original state the property owned 
by third parties in the locations where these installations are erected. The costs of dismantling are capitalised as 
part of the acquisition costs of the installations and are amortised over the useful lives of the installations. The 
provisions are measured at the present value of the aggregate future costs and are reported under long-term 
provisions. Whenever the provision is re-measured, the present value of the changes in the liability are either added 
to or deducted from the cost of the related capitalised asset. The amount deducted from the cost of the related 
capitalised asset shall not exceed its net carrying amount. Any excess is taken directly to income.

Provisions for termination benefits
Costs relating to the implementation of personnel downsizing programmes are expensed in the period when 
management commits itself to a downsizing plan, it is probable that a liability has been incurred, the amount 
thereof can be reliably estimated, and the implementation of the programme has started or the individuals 
involved have been advised in sufficient detail as to the main terms of the downsizing programme. A public 
announcement and/or communication to personnel associations are deemed to be equivalent to commencing 
the implementation of the programme.
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 4	 Employees

Swisscom has over 20,000 employees, of which 17,700 are in Switzerland. In this section is to be found information 
about the employee headcount and personnel expense, the compensation paid to individuals in key positions, 
as well as retirement-benefit obligations.

4.1	 Employee headcount and personnel expense

Employee headcount

In full-time equivalent 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	 	 Change	

Residential Customers 	 5,638	 	 6,065	 	 –7.0%	

Enterprise Customers 	 4,605	 	 4,651	 	 –1.0%	

Wholesale 	 88	 	 88	 	 0.0%	

IT, Network & Infrastructure 	 4,826	 	 5,072	 	 –4.9%	

Swisscom Switzerland 	 15,157	 	 15,876	 	 –4.5%	

Fastweb 	 2,504	 	 2,468	 	 1.5%	

Other Operating Segments 	 2,580	 	 2,493	 	 3.5%	

Group Headquarters 	 265	 	 290	 	 –8.6%	

Total headcount 	 20,506	 	 21,127	 	 –2.9%	

Thereof Switzerland 	 17,688	 	 18,372	 	 –3.7%	

Thereof foreign countries 	 2,818	 	 2,755	 	 2.3%	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Average number of employees 	 20,836	 	 21,453	 	 –2.9%	

Personnel expense

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	

Salary and wage costs 	 2,214	 	 2,268	

Social security expenses 	 257	 	 253	

Expense of defined benefit plans 1	 375	 	 338	

Expense of defined contribution plans 	 10	 	 9	

Expense for share-based payments 	 2	 	 3	

Termination benefits 	 61	 	 20	

Other personnel expense 	 83	 	 56	

Total personnel expense 	 3,002	 	 2,947	

Thereof Switzerland 	 2,759	 	 2,718	

Thereof foreign countries 	 243	 	 229	
 		

1	 See Note 4.3.

Termination benefits
Swisscom supports employees affected by downsizing through a social plan. Depending on the relevant social 
plan as well as age and length of service, certain employees affected by downsizing may transfer to the employment 
company Worklink AG. The employment company Worklink AG hires out participating employees to third parties 
on a temporary basis.
The net expense for personnel reduction plans amounts to CHF 61 million. This amount consists of newly estab-
lished provisions of CHF 95 million, less the release of provisions no longer required of CHF 34 million. During 2016, 
Swisscom announced that the cost basis in Switzerland is to be reduced by CHF 60 million per annum until 2020. 
In view of the sustained market pressure in its core business, higher efficiency potential through digitalisation and 
the necessary time and means for developing new business in growth areas, such as the Cloud and security, 
Swisscom has raised this target for 2018 to 2020 to CHF 100 million per annum. Swisscom continues to achieve 
cost savings principally through a streamlining of work processes and an on-going reduction of job vacancies in 
declining business areas. The measures planned will result in the elimination of positions in Switzerland and in 
employees participating in the social plan.
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4.2	 Key management compensation

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	

Current compensation 	 1.4	 	 1.4	

Share-based payments 	 0.7	 	 0.7	

Social security contributions 	 0.1	 	 0.1	

Total compensation to members of the Board of Directors 	 2.2	 	 2.2	

Current compensation 	 5.8	 	 5.5	

Share-based payments 	 0.9	 	 1.0	

Benefits paid following retirement from Group Executive Board 	 0.6	 	 –	

Pension contributions 	 0.9	 	 1.1	

Social security contributions 	 0.6	 	 0.5	

Total compensation to members of the Group Executive Board 	 8.8	 	 8.1	

Total compensation to members of the Board of Directors and of the Group Executive Board 	 11.0	 	 10.3	

Individuals in key positions of Swisscom are the members of the Group Executive Board and the Board of Directors 
of Swisscom Ltd. Compensation paid to members of the Board of Directors consists of basic emoluments plus 
functional allowances and meeting attendance fees. One third of the entire compensation of the Board of Directors 
(excluding meeting allowances) is paid in the form of equity shares. Compensation paid to the members of the 
Group Executive Board consists of a fixed basic salary component settled in cash, a variable performance-related 
portion settled in cash and shares, payments in kind and non-cash benefits as well as pension and social insurance 
benefits. 25% of the variable performance-related share of the members of the Group Executive Board is paid out 
in shares. The Group Executive Board members may elect to increase this share to 50%. 
The disclosures required by the Swiss Ordinance against Excessive Compensation in Listed Companies (OaEC) are 
set out in the chapter containing the Remuneration Report. Shares in Swisscom Ltd held by the members of the 
Board of Directors and Group Executive Board are set out in the notes to the consolidated financial statements of 
Swisscom Ltd. 

4.3	 Post-employment benefits

Defined benefit plans
comPlan
The majority of employees in Switzerland is insured for the risks of old age, death and disability by the Swisscom 
retirement-benefit scheme. The retirement-benefit scheme is implemented through the medium of the comPlan 
pension plan which has the legal form of a foundation. The supreme governing body of the pension plan is the 
Foundation Council which is made up of an equal number of representatives of the employees and the employer. 
The pension-fund rules, together with the legal provisions concerning occupational pension plans, constitute the 
formal regulatory framework of the pension plan. Individual retirement-savings accounts are maintained for each 
beneficiary, to which are credited savings contributions varying with age as well as interest accruing. The rate of 
interest to be applied to the retirement-savings accounts is set each year by the Foundation Council, having regard 
to the financial situation of the pension fund. The amounts credited to the individual savings accounts are funded 
by savings contributions of the employer and employees. In addition, the employer pays risk contributions to fund 
death and disability benefits. The standard retirement age is 65. Employees are entitled to early retirement with a 
reduced old-age pension. The amount of the old-age pension results from multiplying the individual retire-
ment-savings account by a conversion rate set out in the pension-fund rules. The retirement benefits can also be 
paid out, in full or in part, in the form of a capital payment. In case of early retirement, the employer finances 
additionally a OASI bridging pension until the standard retirement age. The amount of disability pensions is deter-
mined as a percentage of the insured salary and is independent of the number of service years. 
The formal regulatory framework contains various provisions concerning risk sharing between the beneficiaries 
and the employer. In the event of a funding shortfall, computed in accordance with Swiss financial statement 
accounting principles (Swiss GAAP ARR), the Foundation Council lays down measures which lead to an elimination 
of the funding deficit and a restoration of a financial equilibrium within a timeframe of 5 to 7 years. The measures 
may consist of the levying of restructuring contributions, a lower level of interest or zero interest accruing on the 
accumulated employee savings, the lowering of benefits or in a combination of such measures. Should a structural 
funding shortfall exist as a result of insufficient current interest-induced funding, the top priority is to remedy this 
situation by adapting future benefits. The employer’s restructuring contributions must, at a minimum, be equal 
to the sum of employee restructuring contributions. Under the formal regulatory framework, the employer has no 



Co
ns

ol
id

at
ed

 fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

N
ot

es
 to

 th
e 

co
ns

ol
id

at
ed

 fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

130

legal obligation to pay additional contributions to eliminate more than 50% of a funding shortfall. In the case of 
Swisscom, a de-facto obligation over and above the legal minimum obligation to pay additional or restructuring 
contributions derives from customary company-specific practice in the past. The upper limit of the employer’s 
share of future benefit costs within the meaning of IAS 19.87(c) is assumed to be at the level of the de-facto 
obligation. 
As a result of the low interest-rate level and increasing life expectancy, the Foundation Council decided in 2016 
upon various measures to ensure a financial equilibrium. The core elements of the measures comprise a lowering 
of the conversion rate and an increase in recurring savings contributions of the employees and employer. In addition 
to this, special contributions are to be credited to the savings accounts of older beneficiaries over a maximum 
period of 5 years in order to cushion the impact of future pension reductions. Swisscom bears a share of the costs 
of the special contributions through an extraordinary payment of CHF 50 million in 2017. The remaining costs of 
an anticipated amount of approx. CHF 250 million will be financed by using freely available funds of comPlan. The 
various measures gave rise in 2016 to a past-service cost of CHF 3 million. This is based on a revaluation of the net 
pension-fund obligations using the market values of the plan assets valid as of the date of the pension-fund 
amendment and the current actuarial assumptions which take into account the risk-sharing features. Ignoring the 
risk-sharing features, a negative past-service cost of CHF 546 million would have resulted in 2016 from the plan 
amendment.
In accordance with the Swiss accounting standards relevant for the pension fund (Swiss GAAP ARR), the funding 
surplus at 31 December 2017 amounts to CHF 0.8 billion with a coverage ratio of around 108% (prior year: 101%). 
The main reasons for the difference compared with IFRS are the use of a higher discount rate as well as a different 
actuarial measurement method with a deferred recognition of the costs of future retirement-benefit benefits. 

Other pension plans
Other pension plans exist for individual Swiss subsidiary companies which are not affiliated to comPlan and for 
Fastweb. Employees of the Italian subsidiary Fastweb have acquired entitlements to future pension benefits up to 
the end of 2006 which are recorded in the balance sheet as defined-benefit obligations. 

Pension cost from defined-benefit pension plans

In CHF million 	 comPlan	 	 Other plans	 	 2017	 	 comPlan	 	 Other plans	 	 2016	

Current service cost 	 368	 	 2	 	 370	 	 322	 	 8	 	 330	

Plan amendments 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 3	 	 –	 	 3	

Administration expense 	 4	 	 1	 	 5	 	 4	 	 1	 	 5	

Total recognised in personnel expense 	 372	 	 3	 	 375	 	 329	 	 9	 	 338	

Interest expense on net defined benefit obligations 	 11	 	 –	 	 11	 	 25	 	 –	 	 25	

Total recognised in financial expense 	 11	 	 –	 	 11	 	 25	 	 –	 	 25	

Total expense of defined benefit plans 			   	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

recognised in income statement 	 383		  3	 	 386	 	 354	 	 9	 	 363	

In CHF million 	 comPlan	 	 Other plans	 	 2017	 	 comPlan	 	 Other plans	 	 2016	

Actuarial gains and losses from 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Change of the demographical assumptions 	 (131)		 –	 	 (131)		 102	 	 –	 	 102	

Change of the financial assumptions 	 (72)		 –	 	 (72)		 (280)		 2	 	 (278)	

Experience adjustments to defined benefit obligations 	 (17)		 –	 	 (17)		 36	 	 (3)		 33	

Change in share of employee contribution (risk sharing) 1	 246	 	 –	 	 246	 	 (711)		 –	 	 (711)	

Return on plan assets excluding the part 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

recognised in financial result 	 (879)		 3	 	 (876)		 (308)		 –	 	 (308)	

Expense (income) of defined benefit plans 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

recognised in other comprehensive income 	 (853)		 3	 	 (850)		 (1,161)		 (1)		 (1,162)	
 						    

1	 The reason behind the decrease in the share of employee contribution of CHF 246 million is the reduction in the structural funding shortfall, which is mainly 
attributable to the positive result on plan assets.					   

In 2016, the impact of the initial application of risk-sharing features in the financial assumptions totalled 
CHF 856 million, of which CHF 711 million is attributable to the limit on the employer share and CHF 145 million 
to required amendments of future benefits.
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Status of pension plans

In CHF million 	 comPlan	 	 Other plans	 	 2017	 	 comPlan	 	 Other plans	 	 2016	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Defined benefit obligations 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance at 1 January 	 11,635	 	 105	 	 11,740	 	 12,183	 	 117	 	 12,300	

Current service cost 	 368	 	 2	 	 370	 	 322	 	 8	 	 330	

Interest cost on defined benefit obligations 	 78	 	 –	 	 78	 	 113	 	 1	 	 114	

Employee contributions 	 186	 	 –	 	 186	 	 178	 	 2	 	 180	

Benefits paid 	 (471)		 (1)		 (472)		 (325)		 (9)		 (334)	

Actuarial losses (gains) 	 26	 	 –	 	 26	 	 (853)		 (1)		 (854)	

Business combinations 	 –	 	 1	 	 1	 	 –	 	 1	 	 1	

Plan amendments 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 3	 	 –	 	 3	

Transfer of pension plans to comPlan 	 72	 	 (72)		 –	 	 14	 	 (14)		 –	

Balance at 31 December 	 11,894	 	 35	 	 11,929	 	 11,635	 	 105	 	 11,740	 		  	 			   	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Plan assets 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance at 1 January 	 9,826	 	 64	 	 9,890	 	 9,307	 	 74	 	 9,381	

Interest income on plan assets 	 67	 	 –	 	 67	 	 88	 	 1	 	 89	

Employer contributions 	 335	 	 3	 	 338	 	 268	 	 3	 	 271	

Employee contributions 	 186	 	 –	 	 186	 	 178	 	 2	 	 180	

Benefits paid 	 (471)		 –	 	 (471)		 (325)		 (9)		 (334)	

Return (expense) on plan assets excluding the part 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

recognised in financial result 	 879	 	 (3)		 876	 	 308	 	 –	 	 308	

Administration expense 	 (4)		 (1)		 (5)		 (4)		 (1)		 (5)	

Transfer of pension plans to comPlan 	 46	 	 (46)		 –	 	 6	 	 (6)		 –	

Balance at 31 December 	 10,864	 	 17	 	 10,881	 	 9,826	 	 64	 	 9,890	 		  	 			   	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net defined benefit obligations 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net defined benefit obligations recognised at 31 December 	 1,030	 	 18	 	 1,048	 	 1,809	 	 41	 	 1,850	

Movements in recognised defined-benefit obligations are to be analysed as follows:

In CHF million 	 comPlan	 	 Other plans	 	 2017	 	 comPlan	 	 Other plans	 	 2016	

Balance at 1 January 	 1,809	 	 41	 	 1,850	 	 2,876	 	 43	 	 2,919	

Pension cost, net 	 383	 	 3	 	 386	 	 354	 	 9	 	 363	

Employer contributions and benefits paid 	 (335)		 (4)		 (339)		 (268)		 (3)		 (271)	

Business combinations 	 –	 	 1	 	 1	 	 –	 	 1	 	 1	

Expense (income) of defined benefit plans 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

recognised in other comprehensive income 	 (853)		 3	 	 (850)		 (1,161)		 (1)		 (1,162)	

Transfer of pension plans to comPlan 	 26	 	 (26)		 –	 	 8	 	 (8)		 –	

Balance at 31 December 	 1,030	 	 18	 	 1,048	 	 1,809	 	 41	 	 1,850	

The weighted average duration of the net present value of the recorded defined-benefit obligations is 17 years 
(prior year: 18 years).
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Breakdown of pension plan assets
comPlan

 	 	 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

 	 Investment	 	 	 	 Not	 	 	 	 	 	 Not	 	 	

Category 	 strategy	 	 Quoted	 	 quoted	 	 Total	 	 Quoted	 	 quoted	 	 Total	

Government bonds Switzerland 	 8.0%	 	 1.8%	 	 3.5%	 	 5.3%	 	 2.3%	 	 4.5%	 	 6.8%	

Corporate bonds Switzerland 	 6.0%	 	 5.7%	 	 0.0%	 	 5.7%	 	 6.0%	 	 0.0%	 	 6.0%	

Government bonds developed markets, World 	 10.0%	 	 7.4%	 	 0.0%	 	 7.4%	 	 8.4%	 	 0.0%	 	 8.4%	

Corporate bonds developed markets, World 	 9.0%	 	 10.0%	 	 0.0%	 	 10.0%	 	 9.2%	 	 0.0%	 	 9.2%	

Government bonds emerging markets, World 	 7.0%	 	 7.4%	 	 0.0%	 	 7.4%	 	 7.2%	 	 0.0%	 	 7.2%	

Private debt 	 6.0%	 	 0.0%	 	 6.2%	 	 6.2%	 	 0.0%	 	 6.2%	 	 6.2%	

Third-party debt instruments 	 46.0%	 	 32.3%	 	 9.7%	 	 42.0%	 	 33.1%	 	 10.7%	 	 43.8%	

Equity shares Switzerland 	 5.0%	 	 5.5%	 	 0.0%	 	 5.5%	 	 5.2%	 	 0.0%	 	 5.2%	

Equity shares developed markets, World 	 12.0%	 	 13.2%	 	 0.0%	 	 13.2%	 	 13.3%	 	 0.0%	 	 13.3%	

Equity shares emerging markets, World 	 8.0%	 	 8.4%	 	 0.0%	 	 8.4%	 	 8.4%	 	 0.0%	 	 8.4%	

Equity instruments 	 25.0%	 	 27.1%	 	 0.0%	 	 27.1%	 	 26.9%	 	 0.0%	 	 26.9%	

Real estate Switzerland 	 11.0%	 	 7.1%	 	 4.7%	 	 11.8%	 	 7.5%	 	 4.6%	 	 12.1%	

Real estate World 	 6.0%	 	 3.6%	 	 2.5%	 	 6.1%	 	 3.7%	 	 1.2%	 	 4.9%	

Real estate 	 17.0%	 	 10.7%	 	 7.2%	 	 17.9%	 	 11.2%	 	 5.8%	 	 17.0%	

Commodities 	 4.0%	 	 2.1%	 	 2.0%	 	 4.1%	 	 1.9%	 	 2.0%	 	 3.9%	

Private markets 	 7.0%	 	 0.0%	 	 8.3%	 	 8.3%	 	 0.0%	 	 7.0%	 	 7.0%	

Cash and cash equivalents and other investments 	 1.0%	 	 0.0%	 	 0.6%	 	 0.6%	 	 0.0%	 	 1.4%	 	 1.4%	

Cash and cash equivalents and 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

alternative investments 	 12.0%	 	 2.1%	 	 10.9%	 	 13.0%	 	 1.9%	 	 10.4%	 	 12.3%	

Total plan assets 	 100.0%	 	 72.2%	 	 27.8%	 	 100.0%	 	 73.1%	 	 26.9%	 	 100.0%	

The Foundation Council determines the investment strategy and tactical bandwidths within the framework of 
the legal provisions. Within its terms of reference, the Investment Commission undertakes the asset allocation 
and is the central steering, coordination and monitoring body for the management of the pension-plan assets. 
The investment strategy pursues the goal of achieving the highest possible return on assets within the framework 
of its risk tolerance and thus of generating income on a long-term basis to meet all financial obligations. This is 
achieved through a broad diversification of risks over various investment categories, markets, currencies and 
industry segments in both developed and emerging markets. The interest rate duration of interest-bearing assets 
is 6.56 years (prior year: 5.52 years) and the average rating of these assets is A–. Within the overall portfolio, all 
foreign currency positions are hedged against the Swiss franc following a currency strategy to the extent neces-
sary to meet a pre-determined ratio of 88% (CHF or CHF-hedged). The unquoted and therefore lesser liquid invest-
ments make up 27.8% of total plan assets. Following this investment strategy, comPlan anticipates a target value 
for the value fluctuation reserve of 17.8% (basis: 2018 financial year). 

Additional information on plan assets 
As of 31 December 2017, plan assets include Swisscom Ltd shares and bonds with a fair value of CHF 6 million 
(prior year: CHF 5 million). The effective return on plan assets in 2017 amounted to CHF 943 million (prior year: 
CHF 397 million). 
In 2018, Swisscom expects to make payments to the pension funds for regulatory employee contributions totalling 
CHF 270 million.
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Assumptions underlying actuarial computations

 	 2017	 	 2016	

Assumptions 	 comPlan	 	 Other plans	 	 comPlan	 	 Other plans	

Discount rate at 31 December 	 0.69%	 	 1.30%	 	 0.64%	 	 0.91%	

Expected rate of salary increases 	 1.08%	 	 –	 	 1.08%	 	 0.74%	

Expected rate of pension increases 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	

Interest on old age savings accounts 	 0.69%	 	 –	 	 0.64%	 	 1.03%	

Share of employee contribution to funding shortfall 	 40%	 	 –	 	 40%	 	 –	

Life expectancy at age of 65 – men (number of years) 	 22.10	 	 22.10	 	 22.26	 	 22.26	

Life expectancy at age of 65 – women (number of years) 	 23.90	 	 23.90	 	 24.32	 	 24.32	

The discount rate is based upon CHF-denominated corporate bonds with an AA rating of domestic and foreign 
issuers and listed on the Swiss Exchange SIX. The development of salaries corresponds to the historical average of 
recent years. No future growth in pensions is anticipated as comPlan has insufficient fluctuation reserves avail-
able. The interest rate used to compute interest accruing on the individual retirement savings is the discount rate. 
In 2017, life-expectancy assumptions are arrived at for the first time through a projection of future mortality 
improvements in accordance with the continuous mortality investigation model (CMI), based on the mortality 
improvements actually observed in Switzerland in the past. The computations are made with a future long-term 
mortality improvement rate of 1.75%. The first-time application of the CMI model gave rise to a reduction in net 
retirement-benefit obligations by CHF 100 million, which was recognised in other comprehensive income as a 
change in accounting estimate. In the previous year, BVG 2015 generation tables were used for the life-expectancy 
assumption.
The risk-sharing attributes contained in the formal regulatory framework relating to the handling of funding 
shortfalls were taken into account in the financial assumptions in two steps. As a first step, it is assumed that the 
Foundation Council will decide on a gradual lowering of future pensions by 5.4% (prior year: 5.6%) over a period of 
10 years in order to close the interest-induced structural funding gap. This is based upon a forecast for the future 
conversion rate using a mixed rate for the mandatory and extra-mandatory portions. The conversion rate in the 
mandatory portion applies the current legal conversion rate. In the extra-mandatory portion, the conversion rate 
is computed with the discount rate of 0.69%. As a second step, the present value of the remaining funding gap 
between the regulatory contributions and the benefits amended in the first step are spread over the employer 
and the employees. The legal and de-facto obligation of the employer to pay additional contributions is unchanged 
and assumed to be limited to 60% of the funding gap. This is based on the legal and regulatory provisions concerning 
the elimination of funding shortfalls as well as the measures actually decided upon by the Foundation Council and 
the employer in the past. Assuming the limitation of the employer’s share of the funding shortfall, this results in 
a reduction in defined-benefit obligations of CHF 465 million (prior year: CHF 711 million), which corresponds to 
the expected employee contribution. The effect of taking this into consideration for the first time was dealt with 
as a change in accounting estimate in 2016 and recognised in other comprehensive income. In 2017, the reduction 
of the employee contribution was recognised in other comprehensive income.

Sensitivity analysis comPlan 
Sensitivity analysis 2017

 	 Defined benefit obligations	 	 Current service cost	  1

 	 Increase	 	 Decrease	 	 Increase	 	 Decrease	

In CHF million 	 Assumption	 	 Assumption	 	 Assumption	 	 Assumption	

Discount rate (change +/–0.5%) 	 (556)		 650	 	 (39)		 47	

Expected rate of salary increases (change +/–0.5%) 	 44	 	 (41)		 7	 	 (7)	

Expected rate of pension increases (change +0.5%; –0.0%) 	 536	 	 –	 	 29	 	 –	

Interest on old age savings accounts (change +/–0.5%) 	 21	 	 (19)		 8	 	 (7)	

Share of employee contribution to funding shortfall (change +/–10%) 	 (116)		 116	 	 –	 	 –	

Life expectancy at age of 65 (change +/–0.5 year) 	 126	 	 (127)		 5	 	 (5)	
 				  

1	 The sensitivity refers to the current service cost recorded in personnel expense.		
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 Sensitivity analysis 2016

 	 Defined benefit obligations	 	 Current service cost	  1

In CHF million 	 Increase Assumption	 	Decrase Assumption	 	Increase Assumption	 	Decrase Assumption	

Discount rate (change +/–0.5%) 	 (574)		 670	 	 (40)		 48	

Expected rate of salary increases (change +/–0.5%) 	 47	 	 (45)		 7	 	 (7)	

Expected rate of pension increases (change +0.5%; –0.0%) 	 547	 	 –	 	 30	 	 –	

Interest on old age savings accounts (change +/–0.5%) 	 25	 	 (23)		 8	 	 (8)	

Share of employee contribution to funding shortfall (change +/–10%) 	 (178)		 178	 	 –	 	 –	

Life expectancy at age of 65 (change +/–0.5 year) 	 128	 	 (129)		 5	 	 (5)	
 				  

1	 The sensitivity refers to the current service cost recorded in personnel expense.		

The sensitivity analysis takes into consideration the movement in defined-benefit obligations as well as current-
service costs in adjusting the actuarial assumptions by half a percentage point and half a year, respectively. In the 
process, only one of the assumptions is adjusted each time, the other parameters remaining unchanged. In the 
sensitivity analysis, in view of a negative movement in pension increases, no change was made as the reduction 
in pension benefits is not possible.

Material accounting judgements or estimation uncertainties
The determination of post-employment retirement benefit obligations requires an estimation of the future service 
periods, the development of future salaries and pensions as well as interest accruing on the accumulated employee 
savings accounts, the timing of contractual pension benefit payments and the employees’ share of the funding 
shortfall. This evaluation is made on the basis of prior experience and anticipated future trends. Anticipated 
future payments are discounted with the yields of Swiss-franc-denominated corporate bonds of domestic and 
foreign issuers and quoted on the Swiss Exchange with a AA rating. The discount rates match the anticipated 
payment maturities of the liabilities.

Accounting policies
Actuarial computations of the pension expense and related defined-benefit obligations are undertaken using the 
projected unit credit method. Current service costs, past service costs arising from pension-plan amendments 
and plan settlements as well as administrative costs are reported in the income statement under personnel 
expense and interest accruing on net obligations as finance expense. Actuarial gains and losses and the return on 
plan assets, except for amounts reflected in net interest income, are reported under other comprehensive income.
The assumptions regarding net future benefits are set out in the formal set of regulations governing the pension 
plan in compliance with legal provisions. As regards the Swiss pension plans, the relevant formal regulations com-
prise the rules of the pension fund as well as the relevant laws, ordinances and directives concerning occupational 
benefit plans, in particular the provisions contained therein concerning funding and measures to be taken to 
eliminate funding shortfalls. From 2016 onwards, risk-sharing features are taken into account in defining financial 
assumptions in the formal regulatory framework which limits the employer’s share of the costs of future benefits 
as well as imposing obligations on employees, where applicable, to make additional contributions to eliminate 
funding deficits.
Should the level of committed long-term disability benefits (disability pensions), irrespective of the number of 
service years, be the same for all insured employees, the costs for these benefits are recognised on the date on 
which the event causing the disability occurs.
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 5	 Scope of consolidation

The following section sets out details of the Group structure of Swisscom as well as note disclosures concerning 
subsidiary companies, joint ventures and associated companies. In addition, material changes in Group structure 
are discussed, together with their impact on the consolidated financial statements.

5.1	 Group structure

Swisscom Ltd is the parent company of the Group and holds principally direct majority shareholdings in Swisscom 
(Switzerland) Ltd, Swisscom Broadcast Ltd and Swisscom Directories Ltd. Fastweb S.p.A. (Fastweb) is held indirectly 
via Swisscom (Switzerland) Ltd as well as an intermediate company in Italy. Swisscom Re Ltd in Liechtenstein is the 
Group’s in-house reinsurance company. 
Swisscom holds a 69% shareholding in Swisscom Directories Ltd, the remaining shares being held by Tamedia. 
Swisscom has granted Tamedia a put option, and Tamedia has granted Swisscom a call option for Tamedia’s 31% 
shareholding. The put and call options may be exercised as from mid-2018, respectively. As of 31 December 2017, 
the fair value of the put option amounts to CHF 231 million (prior year: CHF 233 million), which has been recognised 
in the consolidated financial statements of Swisscom Ltd under other financial liabilities. See Note 2.2.

5.2	 Material changes in scope of consolidation

Net cash flows from the acquisition and disposal of participations may be analysed as follows: 

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016

Expenses for business combinations net of cash and cash equivalents acquired 	 (44)		 (6)

Expenses for deferred consideration arising on business combinations 	 (19)		 (32)

Expenses for shareholdings accounted for using the equity method 	 (20)		 (3)

Proceeds from sale of equity-accounted investees 	 76	 	 88

Acquisition of non-controlling interests 	 (99)		 (4)

Total cash flow from the purchase and sale of shareholdings, net 	 (106)		 43

In order to accelerate the development of blockchain applications, Swisscom Ltd has established Swisscom Block-
chain Ltd, of which Swisscom holds 70% of the capital as majority shareholder, the remaining 30% shares being 
owned by management. 
In 2017, the Italian subsidiary Fastweb acquired the large corporate-client business of Tiscali for a purchase price 
of EUR 45 million (CHF 50 million). In November 2017, Swisscom acquired the remaining minority shares in Mila Ltd, 
of Sellbranch AB as well as of CT Cinetrade Ltd with its subsidiary companies Teleclub AG, Kitag Kino-Theater AG 
and of PlazaVista Entertainment AG. Furthermore, in 2017 Swisscom increased its shareholding in Swisscom Digital 
Technology SA from 51% to 75%.
In September 2017, Swisscom sold its shareholding in AWIN AG for a sales price of EUR 62 million (CHF 71 million). 
This sale resulted in a gain on disposal of CHF 1 million which was recognised in other financial income in the third 
quarter of 2017. In December 2016, Swisscom sold its shareholding in Metroweb S.p.A. for a sales price of 
EUR 80 million (CHF 86 million) resulting in a gain on disposal of CHF 41 million which was recognised in other 
financial income.

Accounting policies
Consolidation
Subsidiaries are all companies over which Swisscom Ltd has the effective ability of controlling their financial and 
business policies. Control is generally assumed where Swisscom Ltd directly or indirectly holds the majority of the 
voting rights or potential voting rights of the company. Companies acquired and sold are included in consolidation 
from the date on which they are acquired and deconsolidated from the date they are disposed of, respectively. 
Intercompany balances and transactions, income and expenses, shareholdings and dividends as well as unrealised 
gains and losses are fully eliminated. Non-controlling interests in subsidiary companies are reported in the consol-
idated balance sheet within equity separately from that attributable to the shareholders of Swisscom Ltd. The 
non-controlling interests in net income or loss are shown in the consolidated income statement as a component 
of the consolidated net income or loss. Movements in shareholdings of subsidiary companies are reported as 
transactions within equity insofar as control existed previously and continues to exist. Put options granted to 
owners of non-controlling interests are disclosed as financial liabilities. The balance sheet date for all consolidated 
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subsidiaries is 31 December. There are no material restrictions on the transfer of funds from the subsidiaries to the 
parent company. 
Shareholdings over which Swisscom exercises significant influence but does not have control, are accounted for 
using the equity method. A significant influence is generally assumed to exist whenever between 20% and 50% of 
the voting rights are held. 

Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. As of the date of the business combination, 
acquisition costs are recognised at fair value. The purchase consideration includes the amount of cash paid as well 
as the fair value of the assets ceded, liabilities incurred or assumed as well as own equity instruments ceded. 
Liabilities depending on future events based upon contractual agreements are recognised at fair value. At the 
time of acquisition, all identifiable assets and liabilities that satisfy the recognition criteria are recognised at their 
fair values. The difference between the cost of acquisition and the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities 
acquired or assumed is accounted for as goodwill after taking into account any non-controlling interests. 

5.3	 Equity-accounted investees

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	

Balance at 1 January 	 193	 	 223	

Additions 	 26	 	 11	

Disposals 	 (76)		 (41)	

Dividends 	 (20)		 (17)	

Share of net results 	 17	 	 26	

Share of other comprehensive income 	 2	 	 (7)	

Foreign currency translation adjustments 	 10	 	 (2)	

Balance at 31 December 	 152	 	 193	

In 2017, an aggregate negative amount of CHF 11 million (prior year: CHF 3 million) was recognised as the attributable 
share of net results in equity-accounted investees. Included therein are impairment losses of CHF 28 million (prior 
year: CHF 29 million) on loans which are considered as net investments in equity-accounted investees.

Selected key performance indicators for equity-accounted investees 

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	 	 	 	 	

Income statement 	 	 	 	

Net revenue 	 2,120	 	 2,453	

Operating expense 	 (2,065)		 (2,371)	

Operating income 	 55	 	 82	

Net income 	 17	 	 34		 	 	 	 	 	

Balance sheet at 31 December 	 	 	 	

Current assets 	 942	 	 1,178	

Non-current assets 	 860	 	 202	

Current liabilities 	 (926)		 (899)	

Non-current liabilities 	 (485)		 (113)	

Equity 	 391	 	 368	
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5.4	 Group companies

Group companies in Switzerland

 	  	 Share of capital	 	 	 	 	 	 	
 	 Registered 	 and voting right	 	 	 	 Share capital	 	 	

Registered name 	 office 	 in %	 	 Currency	 	 in million	 	 Segment	  4 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Switzerland 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Admeira Ltd 1,3	 Berne 	 33	 	 CHF	 	 0.3	 	 OTH	

Ad Unit Ltd. 2	 Zurich 	 69	 	 CHF	 	 0.1	 	 OTH	

BFM Business Fleet Management Ltd 1	 Ittigen 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 1.0	 	 SCS	

Billag Ltd 1	 Fribourg 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 0.1	 	 OTH	

cablex Ltd 2	 Berne 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 5.0	 	 OTH	

CT Cinetrade AG 1	 Zurich 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 0.5	 	 SCS	

Datasport Ltd 2	 Gerlafingen 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 0.2	 	 SCS	

finnova ltd bankware 2,3	 Lenzburg 	 9	 	 CHF	 	 0.5	 	 SCS	

Global IP Action Ltd 2	 Pfäffikon 	 75	 	 CHF	 	 0.2	 	 OTH	

kitag kino-theater Ltd 2	 Zurich 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 1.0	 	 SCS	

Medgate Ltd 2,3	 Basel 	 40	 	 CHF	 	 0.7	 	 SCS	

Medgate Technologies Ltd 2,3	 Zug 	 40	 	 CHF	 	 0.1	 	 SCS	

Mila AG 2	 Zurich 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 0.4	 	 SCS	

Mona Lisa Capital AG 2	 Ittigen 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 5.0	 	 OTH	

MyStrom Ltd 2	 Ittigen 	 52	 	 CHF	 	 0.1	 	 OTH	

PlazaVista Entertainment AG 2	 Zurich 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 0.1	 	 SCS	

SEC consult (Switzerland) Ltd 2,3	 Zurich 	 47	 	 CHF	 	 0.1	 	 OTH	

siroop Ltd 2,3	 Zurich 	 50	 	 CHF	 	 0.1	 	 OTH	

SmartLife Care Ltd 2	 Wangen 	 48	 	 CHF	 	 0.2	 	 OTH	

Swisscom Blockchain Ltd 2	 Zurich 	 70	 	 CHF	 	 0.1	 	 SCS	

Swisscom Broadcast Ltd 1	 Berne 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 25.0	 	 OTH	

Swisscom Digital Technology SA 1	 Geneva 	 75	 	 CHF	 	 0.1	 	 SCS	

Swisscom Directories Ltd 1	 Zurich 	 69	 	 CHF	 	 2.2	 	 OTH	

Swisscom eHealth Invest GmbH 2	 Ittigen 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 1.4	 	 GHQ	

Swisscom Energy Solutions Ltd 2	 Ittigen 	 52	 	 CHF	 	 13.3	 	 OTH	

Swisscom Event & Media Solutions Ltd 2	 Ittigen 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 0.1	 	 OTH	

Swisscom Health AG 2	 Ittigen 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 0.1	 	 SCS	

Swisscom Real Estate Ltd 1	 Ittigen 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 100.0	 	 SCS	

Swisscom IT Services Finance Custom Solutions Ltd 2	 Olten 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 0.1	 	 SCS	

Swisscom (Switzerland) Ltd 1	 Ittigen 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 1,000.0	 	 SCS	

Swisscom Services Ltd 2	 Ittigen 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 0.1	 	 SCS	

Swisscom Ventures Ltd 2	 Ittigen 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 2.0	 	 GHQ	

Teleclub AG 2	 Zurich 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 1.2	 	 SCS	

Teleclub Programm AG 2,3	 Zurich 	 33	 	 CHF	 	 0.6	 	 SCS	

VirtualAds AG 2	 Basel 	 83	 	 CHF	 	 1.1	 	 OTH	

Worklink AG 1	 Berne 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 0.5	 	 GHQ	 	  	 	 	  	 		

1	 Participation directly held by Swisscom Ltd. 	 		

2	 Participation indirectly held by Swisscom Ltd. 	 		

3	 Investment is accounted for using the equity method. Through its representation on the Board of Directors of the company, Swisscom can exercise a significant 
influence. 	 		

4	 SCS = Swisscom Switzerland, FWB = Fastweb, OTH = Other, GHQ = Group Headquarters (unallocated costs). 	 		
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Group companies in other countries

 	  	 Share of capital	 	 	 	 	 	 	
 	 Registered 	 and voting right	 	 	 	 Share capital	 	 	

Registered name 	 office 	 in %	 	 Currency	 	 in million	 	 Segment	  4 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Belgium 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Belgacom International Carrier Services Ltd 2,3	 Brussels 	 22	 	 EUR	 	 1.5	 	 SCS	 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Germany 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Abavent GmbH 2	 Kempten 	 100	 	 EUR	 	 0.3	 	 SCS	

Mila Europe GmbH 2	 Berlin 	 100	 	 EUR	 	 –	 	 SCS	

Swisscom Telco GmbH 2	 Leipzig 	 100	 	 EUR	 	 –	 	 GHQ	

VirtualAds Services GmbH 2	 Leipzig 	 83	 	 EUR	 	 –	 	 OTH	 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

France 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

local.fr SA 2	 Bourg-en-Bresse 	 100	 	 EUR	 	 0.9	 	 OTH	

SoftAtHome SA 2,3	 Colombes 	 10	 	 EUR	 	 6.5	 	 SCS	 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Italy 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Fastweb S.p.A. 2	 Milan 	 100	 	 EUR	 	 41.3	 	 FWB	

Flash Fiber S.r.l. 2,3	 Milan 	 20	 	 EUR	 	 –	 	 FWB	

Swisscom Italia S.r.l. 2	 Milan 	 100	 	 EUR	 	 505.8	 	 GHQ	 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Liechtenstein 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Swisscom Re Ltd 1	 Vaduz 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 5.0	 	 GHQ	 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Luxembourg 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

DTF GP S.A.R.L 2	 Luxembourg 	 100	 	 EUR	 	 –	 	 OTH	

Digital Transformation Fund 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Initial Limited Partner SCSp 2	 Luxembourg 	 100	 	 CHF	 	 –	 	 OTH	 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Netherlands 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Improve Digital B.V. 2	 Amsterdam 	 100	 	 EUR	 	 –	 	 OTH	

NGT International B.V. 2	 Capelle a/d IJssel 	 100	 	 EUR	 	 –	 	 OTH	 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Austria 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Swisscom IT Servics Finance SE 2	 Vienna 	 100	 	 EUR	 	 3.3	 	 SCS	 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Sweden 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Sellbranch AB 2	 Stockholm 	 100	 	 SEK	 	 0.1	 	 OTH	 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Singapore 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Swisscom IT Services Finance Pte Ltd 2	 Singapore 	 100	 	 SGD	 	 0.1	 	 SCS	 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

USA 	  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Swisscom Cloud Lab Ltd 2	 Delaware 	 100	 	 USD	 	 –	 	 SCS	
	

1	 Participation directly held by Swisscom Ltd. 	 		

2	 Participation indirectly held by Swisscom Ltd. 	 		

3	 Investment is accounted for using the equity method. Through its representation on the Board of Directors of the company, Swisscom can exercise a significant 
influence. 	 		

4	 SCS = Swisscom Switzerland, FWB = Fastweb, OTH = Other, GHQ = Group Headquarters (unallocated costs).
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 6	 Other disclosures

This section sets out information which is not already disclosed in the other parts of the report. It includes, 
for instance, disclosures regarding income taxes and related parties. 

6.1	 Income taxes 

Income tax expense

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	

Current income tax expense 	 349	 	 305	

Adjustments recognised for current tax of prior periods 	 20	 	 –	

Deferred tax expense 	 23	 	 81	

Total income tax expense recognised in income statement 	 392	 	 386	

Thereof Switzerland 	 338	 	 339	

Thereof foreign countries 	 54	 	 47	

In addition, other comprehensive income includes current and deferred income taxes which may be analysed as 
follows:

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	

Foreign currency translation adjustments of foreign subsidiaries 	 19	 	 83	

Actuarial gains and losses from defined benefit pension plans 	 171	 	 238	

Change in the fair value of available-for-sale financial investments 	 (1)		 1	

Gains and losses from cash flow hedges transferred to income statement 	 (1)		 –	

Total income tax expense recognised in other comprehensive income 	 188	 	 322	

In the past, income taxes on foreign-currency related impairment losses on Group subsidiaries were recognised 
under other comprehensive income. As a result of restructuring in 2016, these impairment losses can no longer be 
asserted for tax purposes. The resultant effect on income taxes in other comprehensive income in 2016 amounts 
to CHF 79 million.
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Analysis of income taxes
The applicable income tax rate which serves to prepare the following analysis of income tax expense is the 
weighted average income tax rate calculated on the basis of the Group’s operating subsidiaries in Switzerland. The 
applicable income-tax rate is 20.4% (prior year: 20.9%). The decrease in the applicable income tax rate is a conse-
quence of lower cantonal tax rates. 

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	

Income before income taxes in Switzerland 	 1,724	 	 1,817	

Income before income taxes foreign countries 	 236	 	 173	

lncome before income taxes 	 1,960	 	 1,990	

Applicable income tax rate 	 20.4%	 	 20.9%	

Income tax expense at the applicable income tax rate 	 400	 	 416	 	 	 	 	

Reconciliation to reported income tax expense 	 	 	 	

Effect from result of shareholdings accounted for using the equity method 	 2	 	 1	

Effect of tax rate changes on deferred taxes 	 (12)		 (2)	

Effect of use of different income tax rates in Switzerland 	 2	 	 (8)	

Effect of use of different income tax rates in foreign countries 	 20	 	 5	

Effect of non-recognition of tax loss carry-forwards 	 11	 	 6	

Effect of recognition and offset of tax loss carry-forwards not recognised in prior years 	 (14)		 (12)	

Effect of exclusively tax-deductible expenses and income 	 (37)		 (26)	

Effect of non-taxable income and non-deductible expenses 	 –	 	 6	

Effect of income tax of prior periods 	 20	 	 –	

Total income tax expense 	 392	 	 386	 	 	 	 	

Effective income tax rate 	 20.0%	 	 19.4%	

Current income tax assets and liabilities

In CHF million 	 2017	 	 2016	

Current income tax liabilities at 1 January, net 	 107	 	 125	

Recognised in income statement 	 369	 	 305	

Recognised in other comprehensive income 	 16	 	 5	

Income taxes paid in Switzerland 	 (279)		 (324)	

Income taxes paid in foreign countries 	 (10)		 (4)	

Current income tax liabilities at 31 December, net 	 203	 	 107	

Thereof current income tax assets 	 (10)		 (18)	

Thereof current income tax liabilities 	 213	 	 125	

Thereof Switzerland 	 198	 	 105	

Thereof foreign countries 	 5	 	 2	
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Deferred income tax assets and liabilities

 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

 	 	 	 	 	 Net	 	 	 	 	 	 Net	

In CHF million 	 Assets	 	 Liabilities	 	 amount	 	 Assets	 	 Liabilities	 	 amount	

Property, plant and equipment 	 34	 	 (623)		 (589)		 36	 	 (568)		 (532)	

Intangible assets 	 –	 	 (309)		 (309)		 –	 	 (326)		 (326)	

Provisions 	 102	 	 (51)		 51	 	 78	 	 (76)		 2	

Defined benefit obligations 	 186	 	 –	 	 186	 	 359	 	 –	 	 359	

Tax loss carry-forwards 	 90	 	 –	 	 90	 	 118	 	 –	 	 118	

Other 	 153	 	 (110)		 43	 	 138	 	 (99)		 39	

Total tax assets (tax liabilities) 	 565	 	 (1,093)		 (528)		 729	 	 (1,069)		 (340)	

Thereof deferred tax assets 	 	 	 	 	 197	 	 	 	 	 	 281	

Thereof deferred tax liabilities 	 	 	 	 	 (725)		 	 	 	 	 (621)	

Thereof Switzerland 	 	 	 	 	 (588)		 	 	 	 	 (435)	

Thereof foreign countries 	 	 	 	 	 60	 	 	 	 	 	 95	

Tax loss carry-forwards for which no deferred tax assets were recognised, expire as follows:

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Expiring within 1 year 	 –	 	 –	

Expiring within 2 to 7 years 	 125	 	 86	

No expiration 	 39	 	 27	

Total unrecognised tax loss carry-forwards 	 164	 	 113	

Thereof Switzerland 	 114	 	 72	

Thereof foreign countries 	 50	 	 41	

Deferred tax liabilities of CHF 6 million (prior year: none) were recognised on the undistributed earnings of subsidiaries 
as of 31 December 2017. Temporary differences of subsidiaries and equity-accounted investees, on which no 
deferred income taxes are recognised as of 31 December 2017, amounted to CHF 1,117 million (prior year: 
CHF 1,390 million). 

Accounting policies
Income taxes encompass all current and deferred taxes which are based on income. Taxes which are not based on 
income, such as taxes on real estate and on capital are recorded as other operating expenses. Deferred taxes are 
computed using the balance sheet liability method whereby deferred taxes are recognised in principle on all temporary 
differences. Temporary differences arise from differences between the carrying amount of a balance sheet position 
in the consolidated financial statements and its value as reported for tax purposes and which will reverse in future 
periods. Deferred tax assets are only recognised as assets to the extent that it is probable that they can be offset 
against future taxable income. Income tax liabilities on undistributed profits of Group companies are only recognised 
if the distribution of profits is to be made in the foreseeable future. Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are netted whenever they relate to the same taxing authority and taxable entity.
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 6.2	 Related parties

Majority shareholder and equity-accounted investees
Majority shareholder
Pursuant to the Swiss Federal Telecommunication Enterprises Act (TEA), the Swiss Confederation (“the Confederation”) 
is obligated to hold a majority of the share capital and voting rights of Swisscom. On 31 December 2017, the 
Confederation, as majority shareholder, continued to hold 51% of the issued shares of Swisscom Ltd. Any reduction 
of the Confederation’s holding below a majority shareholding would require a change in law which would need to 
be voted upon by the Swiss Parliament and would also be subject to a facultative referendum by Swiss voters. As 
the majority shareholder, the Swiss Confederation has the power to control the decisions of the annual general 
meetings of shareholders which are taken by the absolute majority of validly cast votes. This relates primarily to 
resolutions concerning dividend distributions and the election of the members of the Board of Directors. Swisscom 
supplies telecommunication services to and in addition, procures services from the Confederation. The Confederation 
comprises the various ministries and administrative bodies of the Confederation and the other companies 
controlled by the Confederation (primarily the Swiss Post, Swiss Federal Railways, RUAG as well as Skyguide). All 
transactions are conducted on the basis of normal customer/supplier relationships and on conditions applicable to 
unrelated third parties. In addition, financing transactions are entered into with the Swiss Post on normal commercial 
terms.

Equity-accounted investees
Services provided to/by equity-accounted investees are based upon market prices. Such participations are listed 
in Note 5.3.

Transactions and balances 

In CHF million 	 Income	 	 Expense		  Receivables		  Liabilities	 	 	 					     	

Financial year 2017 	 	 					     	

Confederation 	 247	 	 127	 	 269	 	 163	

Equity-accounted investees 	 77	 	 88	 	 20	 	 3	

Total 2017/Balance at 31 December 2017 	 324	 	 215	 	 289	 	 166	

In CHF million 	 Income	 	 Expense		  Receivables		  Liabilities	 	 	 					     	

Financial year 2016 	 	 					     	

Confederation 	 233	 	 131	 	 164	 	 233	

Equity-accounted investees 	 36	 	 146	 	 11	 	 6	

Total 2016/Balance at 31 December 2016 	 269	 	 277	 	 175	 	 239	

Occupational pension schemes and compensation payable to individuals in key positions
Transactions between Swisscom and the various pension funds are detailed in Note 4.3. Compensation paid to 
individuals in key positions are disclosed in Note 4.2.
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 6.3	 Other accounting policies

Foreign currency translation
Foreign-currency transactions which are not denominated in the functional currency are translated into the functional 
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary items as of the balance 
sheet date are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date 
and non-monetary items are translated using the exchange rate on the date of the transaction. Translation 
differences are recognised in the income statement. Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries and associates reporting 
in a different functional currency are translated at the exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date 
whereas the income statement and the cash flow statement are translated at average exchange rates. Translation 
differences arising from the translation of net assets and income statements are recorded in other 
comprehensive income. 

Significant foreign-currency translation rates

 	 Closing rate	 	 Average rate	

Currency 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	 	 31.12.2015	 	 2017	 	 2016	

1 EUR 	 1.170	 	 1.074	 	 1.084	 	 1.113	 	 1.090	

1 USD 	 0.976	 	 1.019	 	 0.995	 	 0.985	 	 0.990	

Amended International Financial Reporting Standards and Interpretations, whose application is not yet mandatory
The following Standards and Interpretations published up to the end of 2017 are mandatory for accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018:

Standard 	 Name 	 Effective from	

IFRIC 22 	 Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration 	 1 January 2018	

IFRIC 23 	 Uncertainty over income tax treatments 	 1 January 2019	

Amendements to IAS 28 	 Long-term investments in associates and joint ventures 	 1 January 2019	

Amendements to IFRS 2 	 Classification and measurement of share-based payment transactions 	 1 January 2018	

IFRS 9 	 Financial instruments 	 1 January 2018	

IFRS 15 	 Revenue from contracts with customers and related clarifications to IFRS 15 	 1 January 2018	

IFRS 16 	 Leases 	 1 January 2019	

Various 	 Amendements to IFRS 2014–2016 	 1 January 2018	

Various 	 Amendements to IFRS 2015–2017 	 1 January 2019	

Swisscom will review its financial reporting for the impact of those new and amended standards which take 
effect on or after 1 January 2018 and for which Swisscom did not make voluntary early application. At present, 
Swisscom anticipates no material impact on consolidated financial reporting except for the amendments 
described in the following paragraphs. 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
The Standard includes new rules to classify and measure financial assets and liabilities, the recognition of value 
impairments and the recording of hedging relationships. In certain cases, changes in classification will result from 
the new provisions and also in certain cases, the new provisions regarding value impairment will lead to the earlier 
recording of losses impacting income. Swisscom expects a pre-tax decrease in equity of some CHF 20 million from 
the conversion as of 1 January 2018.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
In contrast to the provisions currently in force, the new standard provides for a single, principles-based, five-step 
model which is to be applied to all contracts with customers. In accordance with IFRS 15, the amount which is 
expected to be received from customers as consideration for the transfer of goods and services to the customer 
is to be recognised as revenue. As regards determining the date or period, it is no longer a question of the transfer 
of risks and opportunities but of the transfer of control over the goods and services to the customers. With regards 
to multi-component contracts, IFRS 15 explicitly rules that the transaction price is to be allocated to each distinct 
performance obligation in relation to the relative stand-alone selling prices. Furthermore, the new standard 
contains new rules regarding the costs of fulfilment and acquiring a contract as well as guidelines as to the 
question when such costs are to be capitalised. In addition, the new standard requires new, more detailed note 
disclosure information. 
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IFRS 15 will have the following material impact on the consolidated financial statements of Swisscom:
> 	 Revenues: In the case of multi-component contracts (mobile-phone contract with a subsidised mobile handset), 

the revenue will be reallocated over the pre-delivered components (mobile handset) with the result that the 
revenue will be recognised earlier. The total revenue remains unchanged over the duration of the contract. 

> 	 Contract costs: Handset subsidies and commissions paid to dealers (contract acquisition costs) as well as costs 
of routers and set-top boxes (contract performance costs) are capitalised and expensed over the term of the 
contract. 

Swisscom has elected to apply the modified retroactive approach for the initial adoption of IFRS 15. In accordance 
with this transitional method, Swisscom must apply IFRS 15 retroactively only for those contracts which have not 
been fulfilled as of 1 January 2018. The resultant impact of conversion will be recognised in equity as of 1 Janu-
ary 2018, thus having no effect on the income statement. The prior year’s amounts will not be restated. 
Swisscom anticipates a pre-tax increase in equity of some CHF 400 million as of 1 January 2018 resulting from 
conversion. This impact flows from the initial recognition of contractual assets and liabilities as well as accrued 
contract acquisition and contract performance costs. For financial year 2018, Swisscom estimates that from 
applying IFRS 15 net revenue will decrease by around CHF 10 million and direct costs will increase by around 
CHF 40 million. How IFRS 15 will impact future results will depend on future business models and products, the 
mix of distribution channels as well as future movements in volumes, prices and costs.

IFRS 16 Leases
For the lessee, IFRS 16 (effective from 1 January 2019) provides for a comprehensive model for dealing with lease 
arrangements in financial statements. The differentiation between finance and operating lease arrangements 
required until now under IAS 17 is thus dropped in future for the lessee. The lessee shall recognise leasing obligations 
in its balance sheet for all future lease payments to be made as well as recognising a right to use the underlying 
asset. For financial reporting purposes, the lessor shall continue to differentiate between finance and operating 
lease arrangements. In this regard, the accounting model foreseen under IFRS 16 does not materially differ from 
the previous provisions under IAS 17. Swisscom expects that the comprehensive modifications will have a mate-
rial impact on the consolidated financial statements. However, a reliable estimate of the impact of applying IFRS 
16 can only be made once a detailed analysis is completed. 
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Statutory Auditor’s Report 
To the General Meeting of Swisscom Ltd, Ittigen (Berne) 

 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Swisscom Ltd and its subsidiaries (the Group), which 
comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2017, the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements (pages 94 to 144) give a true and fair view of the consolidated 
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2017, and its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and comply with Swiss law. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and Swiss 
Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of the Swiss audit 
profession, as well as the IESBA Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

   
Revenue recognition 

 

 
Capitalization of technical facilities and software 

 

    
Fastweb goodwill 

 

    
Provisions and contingent liabilities for regulatory and competition-law proceedings 

 

 
Pension fund obligations comPlan 

 
 Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 

the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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Bericht der Revisionsstelle 
An die Generalversammlung der Swisscom AG, Ittigen (Bern) 

 
Bericht zur Prüfung der Konzernrechnung 

Prüfungsurteil 

Wir haben die Konzernrechnung der Swisscom AG und ihrer Tochtergesellschaften (der Konzern) – bestehend 
aus der konsolidierten Bilanz zum 31. Dezember 2017, der konsolidierten Gesamtergebnisrechnung, der 
konsolidierten Eigenkapitalveränderungsrechnung und der konsolidierten Geldflussrechnung für das dann 
endende Jahr sowie dem Anhang der Konzernrechnung einschliesslich einer Zusammenfassung bedeutsamer 
Rechnungslegungsgrundsätze – geprüft.  

Nach unserer Beurteilung vermittelt die Konzernrechnung (Seiten 96 bis 147) ein den tatsächlichen Verhältnissen 
entsprechendes Bild der Vermögens- und Finanzlage des Konzerns zum 31. Dezember 2017 sowie dessen 
Ertragslage und Cashflows für das dann endende Jahr in Übereinstimmung mit den International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) und entspricht dem schweizerischen Gesetz.  

Grundlage für das Prüfungsurteil 

Wir haben unsere Prüfung in Übereinstimmung mit dem schweizerischen Gesetz, den International Standards on 
Auditing (ISA) sowie den Schweizer Prüfungsstandards (PS) durchgeführt. Unsere Verantwortlichkeiten nach 
diesen Vorschriften und Standards sind im Abschnitt "Verantwortlichkeiten der Revisionsstelle für die Prüfung der 
Konzernrechnung" unseres Berichts weitergehend beschrieben. Wir sind von dem Konzern unabhängig in Über-
einstimmung mit den schweizerischen gesetzlichen Vorschriften und den Anforderungen des Berufsstands sowie 
dem Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants des International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants 
(IESBA Code), und wir haben unsere sonstigen beruflichen Verhaltenspflichten in Übereinstimmung mit diesen 
Anforderungen erfüllt.  

Wir sind der Auffassung, dass die von uns erlangten Prüfungsnachweise ausreichend und geeignet sind, um als 
Grundlage für unser Prüfungsurteil zu dienen. 

 

Besonders wichtige Prüfungssachverhalte 

   
Umsatzerfassung 

 

 
Aktivierung von technischen Anlagen und Software 

 

    
Goodwill Fastweb 

 

    
Rückstellungen und Eventualverbindlichkeiten für regulatorische und wettbewerbsrechtliche Verfahren

 

 
Personalvorsorgeverpflichtung comPlan 

 

Besonders wichtige Prüfungssachverhalte sind solche Sachverhalte, die nach unserem pflichtgemässen Ermes-
sen am bedeutsamsten für unsere Prüfung der Konzernrechnung des aktuellen Zeitraums waren. Diese Sach-
verhalte wurden im Zusammenhang mit unserer Prüfung der Konzernrechnung als Ganzes und bei der Bildung 
unseres Prüfungsurteils hierzu berücksichtigt, und wir geben kein gesondertes Prüfungsurteil zu diesen Sach-
verhalten ab. 
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Revenue recognition 

Key Audit Matter Our response 

Swisscom’s telecommunication business is 
characterized by a high volume of IT-based 
transactions. The contracts underlying these 
transactions often contain various elements that are 
recorded separately. The correct recognition of the 
identified contractual elements in the appropriate 
period and the accuracy of invoicing are highly 
dependent on IT systems. 

 

 

We analyzed the process from the conclusion of a 
contract to the receipt of payment and assessed 
whether transactions are completely and accurately 
recorded in the general ledger. We identified key 
controls relating to revenue recognition and tested, on a 
sample basis, their operating effectiveness. We tested 
the operating effectiveness of IT controls of accounting-
relevant systems, with the assistance of our IT 
specialists, to reflect the high degree of integration of 
service performance and recording by various IT 
systems. 

In addition, we performed analytical procedures. Based 
on internal reports, we analyzed trends related to the 
most important key performance indicators per revenue 
segment and product category, and we critically 
assessed deviations from our expectations. 

With respect to significant newly introduced products, 
we assessed whether the Group appropriately 
determined the point in time and amount of revenue to 
be recognized for the individual components. 

For further information on revenue recognition refer to the following: 

— Notes to the consolidated financial statements, No. 1.1 – Segment information 

 

     
Capitalization of technical facilities and software 

 Key Audit Matter Our response 

 Given the technological change in the 
telecommunication sector, investment in new technical 
facilities and software plays a strategic role in the 
development of Swisscom’s business. In this regard, it 
is important that the costs capitalized in relation to 
acquired and self-developed technical facilities and 
software fulfil the IFRS criteria. 

 

 

We tested whether Swisscom’s capitalization 
guidelines comply with IFRS and whether the key 
controls over the compliance with these guidelines 
operated effectively.  
Among others, using a statistical sampling procedure 
we assessed whether the capitalization of costs 
relating to a sample of technical facilities and software 
met the criteria and took place at the appropriate point 
in time. 

Furthermore, in relation to the development of material 
new projects, we analyzed the amount and proper 
identification of hours of work rendered by Swisscom 
employees. We recalculated, on a sample basis, the 
hourly rates used by Swisscom based on actual 
personnel expenses and analyzed any variances.  
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Bericht der Revisionsstelle 
An die Generalversammlung der Swisscom AG, Ittigen (Bern) 

 
Bericht zur Prüfung der Konzernrechnung 

Prüfungsurteil 

Wir haben die Konzernrechnung der Swisscom AG und ihrer Tochtergesellschaften (der Konzern) – bestehend 
aus der konsolidierten Bilanz zum 31. Dezember 2017, der konsolidierten Gesamtergebnisrechnung, der 
konsolidierten Eigenkapitalveränderungsrechnung und der konsolidierten Geldflussrechnung für das dann 
endende Jahr sowie dem Anhang der Konzernrechnung einschliesslich einer Zusammenfassung bedeutsamer 
Rechnungslegungsgrundsätze – geprüft.  

Nach unserer Beurteilung vermittelt die Konzernrechnung (Seiten 96 bis 147) ein den tatsächlichen Verhältnissen 
entsprechendes Bild der Vermögens- und Finanzlage des Konzerns zum 31. Dezember 2017 sowie dessen 
Ertragslage und Cashflows für das dann endende Jahr in Übereinstimmung mit den International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) und entspricht dem schweizerischen Gesetz.  

Grundlage für das Prüfungsurteil 

Wir haben unsere Prüfung in Übereinstimmung mit dem schweizerischen Gesetz, den International Standards on 
Auditing (ISA) sowie den Schweizer Prüfungsstandards (PS) durchgeführt. Unsere Verantwortlichkeiten nach 
diesen Vorschriften und Standards sind im Abschnitt "Verantwortlichkeiten der Revisionsstelle für die Prüfung der 
Konzernrechnung" unseres Berichts weitergehend beschrieben. Wir sind von dem Konzern unabhängig in Über-
einstimmung mit den schweizerischen gesetzlichen Vorschriften und den Anforderungen des Berufsstands sowie 
dem Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants des International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants 
(IESBA Code), und wir haben unsere sonstigen beruflichen Verhaltenspflichten in Übereinstimmung mit diesen 
Anforderungen erfüllt.  

Wir sind der Auffassung, dass die von uns erlangten Prüfungsnachweise ausreichend und geeignet sind, um als 
Grundlage für unser Prüfungsurteil zu dienen. 

 

Besonders wichtige Prüfungssachverhalte 

   
Umsatzerfassung 

 

 
Aktivierung von technischen Anlagen und Software 

 

    
Goodwill Fastweb 

 

    
Rückstellungen und Eventualverbindlichkeiten für regulatorische und wettbewerbsrechtliche Verfahren

 

 
Personalvorsorgeverpflichtung comPlan 

 

Besonders wichtige Prüfungssachverhalte sind solche Sachverhalte, die nach unserem pflichtgemässen Ermes-
sen am bedeutsamsten für unsere Prüfung der Konzernrechnung des aktuellen Zeitraums waren. Diese Sach-
verhalte wurden im Zusammenhang mit unserer Prüfung der Konzernrechnung als Ganzes und bei der Bildung 
unseres Prüfungsurteils hierzu berücksichtigt, und wir geben kein gesondertes Prüfungsurteil zu diesen Sach-
verhalten ab. 
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On the basis of monthly budgets we also compared 
for significant projects the expected costs to be 
capitalized and those to be expensed with the actual 
amounts and critically assessed any deviations. 

 For further information on capitalization of technical facilities and software refer to the following: 

— Notes to the consolidated financial statements, No. 3.2 – Property, plant and equipment 

— Notes to the consolidated financial statements, No. 3.4 – Intangible assets 

 

   
Fastweb goodwill 

 Key Audit Matter Our response 

 At 31 December 2017 the goodwill related to the 
operating segment Fastweb amounted to CHF 578 
million (2016: CHF 529 million). 

The annual impairment test on the Fastweb goodwill is 
significantly affected by management’s judgements 
regarding the expected future cash flows, the discount 
rate (WACC) used and the expected growth. 

 

 

In the course of our audit, we assessed whether an 
appropriate valuation method was used for the 
Fastweb goodwill impairment test, the calculation was 
coherent and management’s assumptions were 
appropriate. 

In particular, we challenged the input data and 
assumptions related to the underlying cash flows and 
the expected growth rates, as based on written 
statements from local as well as Group management. 
In addition, we retrospectively assessed the accuracy 
of past business plans by a multi-year comparison of 
forecasted and actual amounts. 

We analyzed the individual parameters underlying the 
discount rate, with assistance from our valuation 
specialists, and compared them with the peer group. 

We evaluated the model used for the impairment test 
with respect to mathematical accuracy and 
methodological adequacy. 

We also considered the appropriateness of 
disclosures in relation to the impairment test and 
assessed whether the disclosed sensitivity analyses 
adequately reflect the risks embedded in the 
impairment test. 

 For further information on the Fastweb goodwill refer to the following: 

— Notes to the consolidated financial statements, No. 3.3 – Goodwill 
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Bericht der Revisionsstelle 
An die Generalversammlung der Swisscom AG, Ittigen (Bern) 

 
Bericht zur Prüfung der Konzernrechnung 

Prüfungsurteil 

Wir haben die Konzernrechnung der Swisscom AG und ihrer Tochtergesellschaften (der Konzern) – bestehend 
aus der konsolidierten Bilanz zum 31. Dezember 2017, der konsolidierten Gesamtergebnisrechnung, der 
konsolidierten Eigenkapitalveränderungsrechnung und der konsolidierten Geldflussrechnung für das dann 
endende Jahr sowie dem Anhang der Konzernrechnung einschliesslich einer Zusammenfassung bedeutsamer 
Rechnungslegungsgrundsätze – geprüft.  

Nach unserer Beurteilung vermittelt die Konzernrechnung (Seiten 96 bis 147) ein den tatsächlichen Verhältnissen 
entsprechendes Bild der Vermögens- und Finanzlage des Konzerns zum 31. Dezember 2017 sowie dessen 
Ertragslage und Cashflows für das dann endende Jahr in Übereinstimmung mit den International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) und entspricht dem schweizerischen Gesetz.  

Grundlage für das Prüfungsurteil 

Wir haben unsere Prüfung in Übereinstimmung mit dem schweizerischen Gesetz, den International Standards on 
Auditing (ISA) sowie den Schweizer Prüfungsstandards (PS) durchgeführt. Unsere Verantwortlichkeiten nach 
diesen Vorschriften und Standards sind im Abschnitt "Verantwortlichkeiten der Revisionsstelle für die Prüfung der 
Konzernrechnung" unseres Berichts weitergehend beschrieben. Wir sind von dem Konzern unabhängig in Über-
einstimmung mit den schweizerischen gesetzlichen Vorschriften und den Anforderungen des Berufsstands sowie 
dem Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants des International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants 
(IESBA Code), und wir haben unsere sonstigen beruflichen Verhaltenspflichten in Übereinstimmung mit diesen 
Anforderungen erfüllt.  

Wir sind der Auffassung, dass die von uns erlangten Prüfungsnachweise ausreichend und geeignet sind, um als 
Grundlage für unser Prüfungsurteil zu dienen. 

 

Besonders wichtige Prüfungssachverhalte 

   
Umsatzerfassung 

 

 
Aktivierung von technischen Anlagen und Software 

 

    
Goodwill Fastweb 

 

    
Rückstellungen und Eventualverbindlichkeiten für regulatorische und wettbewerbsrechtliche Verfahren

 

 
Personalvorsorgeverpflichtung comPlan 

 

Besonders wichtige Prüfungssachverhalte sind solche Sachverhalte, die nach unserem pflichtgemässen Ermes-
sen am bedeutsamsten für unsere Prüfung der Konzernrechnung des aktuellen Zeitraums waren. Diese Sach-
verhalte wurden im Zusammenhang mit unserer Prüfung der Konzernrechnung als Ganzes und bei der Bildung 
unseres Prüfungsurteils hierzu berücksichtigt, und wir geben kein gesondertes Prüfungsurteil zu diesen Sach-
verhalten ab. 
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Provisions and contingent liabilities for regulatory and competition-law proceedings 

 Key Audit Matter Our response 

 Swisscom provides regulated access services to 
other telecommunication service providers. The 
pricing of such services is the outcome of regulatory 
proceedings. 

In addition, the Federal Competition Commission 
(WEKO) is conducting various proceedings against 
Swisscom. 

In case of a final verdict establishing market abuse, 
civil law claims may also be brought against Swisscom. 

The recognition of provisions or disclosure of 
contingent liabilities related to such proceedings 
requires management to apply significant judgment.  

We tested the operating effectiveness of the controls 
implemented to identify, assess and recognize legal 
proceedings related to the regulatory and competition-
law environment. 

Specifically, we participated in the quarterly meetings 
where legal proceedings were addressed with the 
relevant departments, and we discussed and 
challenged the summaries of the legal proceedings 
prepared by Swisscom Group.  

With the assistance of our legal specialists, we 
assessed the probability of cash outflows resulting from 
legal proceedings, the point in time for recognizing 
related provisions and the corresponding amount of 
such provisions or the disclosure of contingent liabilities. 
We additionally obtained and critically assessed written 
statements of Swisscom’s external legal counsel for 
significant proceedings. 

We furthermore tested the amount of the provisions and 
contingent liabilities by assessing whether the internal 
and external data was correctly fed into the calculations 
and whether the underlying assumptions were 
adequate. 

We assessed whether the disclosures on contingent 
liabilities in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements appropriately reflect the risks involved. 

 For further information on provisions and contingent liabilities for regulatory and competition-law proceedings 
refer to the following: 

— Notes to the consolidated financial statements, No. 3.5 – Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent 
assets  
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Bericht der Revisionsstelle 
An die Generalversammlung der Swisscom AG, Ittigen (Bern) 

 
Bericht zur Prüfung der Konzernrechnung 

Prüfungsurteil 

Wir haben die Konzernrechnung der Swisscom AG und ihrer Tochtergesellschaften (der Konzern) – bestehend 
aus der konsolidierten Bilanz zum 31. Dezember 2017, der konsolidierten Gesamtergebnisrechnung, der 
konsolidierten Eigenkapitalveränderungsrechnung und der konsolidierten Geldflussrechnung für das dann 
endende Jahr sowie dem Anhang der Konzernrechnung einschliesslich einer Zusammenfassung bedeutsamer 
Rechnungslegungsgrundsätze – geprüft.  

Nach unserer Beurteilung vermittelt die Konzernrechnung (Seiten 96 bis 147) ein den tatsächlichen Verhältnissen 
entsprechendes Bild der Vermögens- und Finanzlage des Konzerns zum 31. Dezember 2017 sowie dessen 
Ertragslage und Cashflows für das dann endende Jahr in Übereinstimmung mit den International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) und entspricht dem schweizerischen Gesetz.  

Grundlage für das Prüfungsurteil 

Wir haben unsere Prüfung in Übereinstimmung mit dem schweizerischen Gesetz, den International Standards on 
Auditing (ISA) sowie den Schweizer Prüfungsstandards (PS) durchgeführt. Unsere Verantwortlichkeiten nach 
diesen Vorschriften und Standards sind im Abschnitt "Verantwortlichkeiten der Revisionsstelle für die Prüfung der 
Konzernrechnung" unseres Berichts weitergehend beschrieben. Wir sind von dem Konzern unabhängig in Über-
einstimmung mit den schweizerischen gesetzlichen Vorschriften und den Anforderungen des Berufsstands sowie 
dem Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants des International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants 
(IESBA Code), und wir haben unsere sonstigen beruflichen Verhaltenspflichten in Übereinstimmung mit diesen 
Anforderungen erfüllt.  

Wir sind der Auffassung, dass die von uns erlangten Prüfungsnachweise ausreichend und geeignet sind, um als 
Grundlage für unser Prüfungsurteil zu dienen. 

 

Besonders wichtige Prüfungssachverhalte 

   
Umsatzerfassung 

 

 
Aktivierung von technischen Anlagen und Software 

 

    
Goodwill Fastweb 

 

    
Rückstellungen und Eventualverbindlichkeiten für regulatorische und wettbewerbsrechtliche Verfahren

 

 
Personalvorsorgeverpflichtung comPlan 

 

Besonders wichtige Prüfungssachverhalte sind solche Sachverhalte, die nach unserem pflichtgemässen Ermes-
sen am bedeutsamsten für unsere Prüfung der Konzernrechnung des aktuellen Zeitraums waren. Diese Sach-
verhalte wurden im Zusammenhang mit unserer Prüfung der Konzernrechnung als Ganzes und bei der Bildung 
unseres Prüfungsurteils hierzu berücksichtigt, und wir geben kein gesondertes Prüfungsurteil zu diesen Sach-
verhalten ab. 
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Pension fund obligations comPlan 

 Key Audit Matter Our response 

 Swisscom maintains several pension plans for its 
employees in Switzerland and Italy. The majority of 
Swisscom’s employees in Switzerland are insured 
against the risks of old age, death and disability by 
the independent pension plan ‘comPlan’. The defined 
benefit obligation resulting from this plan is calculated 
based on a number of financial and demographic 
assumptions. The most significant assumptions are 
the discount rate, expected rates of salary and 
pension increases, the interest rates on old age 
savings accounts, longevity and the expected 
development of the conversion rate. In accordance 
with Swiss regulations, Swisscom’s assumptions also 
include the principle of risk sharing of the remaining 
IAS 19 deficit between employer and employee. The 
calculation of the employer’s share of the deficit is 
based on, among other things, experience relating to 
measures implemented in the past to improve the 
pension plan’s financial situation. 

Management determines these assumptions, which 
involve judgement that has a significant impact on the 
amount of the pension obligation and cost recognised 
related to comPlan. 

 

 

 

We assessed the completeness and accuracy of 
personnel data underlying the actuary’s expert report by 
testing the operating effectiveness of internal controls 
and reconciled the data on a sample basis. We used 
our own specialists to challenge the actuarial 
calculation. We particularly audited the consistent 
application of the risk sharing methodology and the 
accounting impacts resulting from the underlying 
assumptions in the second year of the consideration of 
risk sharing features. In addition, we assessed the 
competence and independence of the actuary engaged 
by Swisscom. 

Supported by our specialists, we analysed in detail the 
conformity with IAS 19 of the expected development of 
the conversion rate and the allocation of the remaining 
deficit between employer and employee. We critically 
assessed the expected development of the conversion 
rate and the determination of the employer’s share of 
the remaining deficit based on Swisscom specific 
empirical information and assessments. 

Furthermore, we challenged Management’s other 
assumptions used in the calculation of the actuary 
mandated by Swisscom. In doing so, we examined the 
methodology used to define the parameters and the 
consistency with prior year and compared these 
parameters with the range of observable market 
information. 

 For further information on the pension obligation related to comPlan refer to the following: 

— Notes to the consolidated financial statements, No. 4.3 – Post-employment benefits 
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Bericht der Revisionsstelle 
An die Generalversammlung der Swisscom AG, Ittigen (Bern) 

 
Bericht zur Prüfung der Konzernrechnung 

Prüfungsurteil 

Wir haben die Konzernrechnung der Swisscom AG und ihrer Tochtergesellschaften (der Konzern) – bestehend 
aus der konsolidierten Bilanz zum 31. Dezember 2017, der konsolidierten Gesamtergebnisrechnung, der 
konsolidierten Eigenkapitalveränderungsrechnung und der konsolidierten Geldflussrechnung für das dann 
endende Jahr sowie dem Anhang der Konzernrechnung einschliesslich einer Zusammenfassung bedeutsamer 
Rechnungslegungsgrundsätze – geprüft.  

Nach unserer Beurteilung vermittelt die Konzernrechnung (Seiten 96 bis 147) ein den tatsächlichen Verhältnissen 
entsprechendes Bild der Vermögens- und Finanzlage des Konzerns zum 31. Dezember 2017 sowie dessen 
Ertragslage und Cashflows für das dann endende Jahr in Übereinstimmung mit den International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) und entspricht dem schweizerischen Gesetz.  

Grundlage für das Prüfungsurteil 

Wir haben unsere Prüfung in Übereinstimmung mit dem schweizerischen Gesetz, den International Standards on 
Auditing (ISA) sowie den Schweizer Prüfungsstandards (PS) durchgeführt. Unsere Verantwortlichkeiten nach 
diesen Vorschriften und Standards sind im Abschnitt "Verantwortlichkeiten der Revisionsstelle für die Prüfung der 
Konzernrechnung" unseres Berichts weitergehend beschrieben. Wir sind von dem Konzern unabhängig in Über-
einstimmung mit den schweizerischen gesetzlichen Vorschriften und den Anforderungen des Berufsstands sowie 
dem Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants des International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants 
(IESBA Code), und wir haben unsere sonstigen beruflichen Verhaltenspflichten in Übereinstimmung mit diesen 
Anforderungen erfüllt.  

Wir sind der Auffassung, dass die von uns erlangten Prüfungsnachweise ausreichend und geeignet sind, um als 
Grundlage für unser Prüfungsurteil zu dienen. 

 

Besonders wichtige Prüfungssachverhalte 

   
Umsatzerfassung 

 

 
Aktivierung von technischen Anlagen und Software 

 

    
Goodwill Fastweb 

 

    
Rückstellungen und Eventualverbindlichkeiten für regulatorische und wettbewerbsrechtliche Verfahren

 

 
Personalvorsorgeverpflichtung comPlan 

 

Besonders wichtige Prüfungssachverhalte sind solche Sachverhalte, die nach unserem pflichtgemässen Ermes-
sen am bedeutsamsten für unsere Prüfung der Konzernrechnung des aktuellen Zeitraums waren. Diese Sach-
verhalte wurden im Zusammenhang mit unserer Prüfung der Konzernrechnung als Ganzes und bei der Bildung 
unseres Prüfungsurteils hierzu berücksichtigt, und wir geben kein gesondertes Prüfungsurteil zu diesen Sach-
verhalten ab. 
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Other Information in the Annual Report 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information in the annual report. The other information 
comprises all information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial 
statements, the stand-alone financial statements of the Company, the remuneration report and our auditor’s 
reports thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information in the annual report and 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information in the annual report and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in accordance with IFRS and the provisions of Swiss law, and for such internal control as the Board 
of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Swiss law, ISAs and Swiss Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law, ISAs and Swiss Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control. 

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made.  

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  
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Bericht der Revisionsstelle 
An die Generalversammlung der Swisscom AG, Ittigen (Bern) 

 
Bericht zur Prüfung der Konzernrechnung 

Prüfungsurteil 

Wir haben die Konzernrechnung der Swisscom AG und ihrer Tochtergesellschaften (der Konzern) – bestehend 
aus der konsolidierten Bilanz zum 31. Dezember 2017, der konsolidierten Gesamtergebnisrechnung, der 
konsolidierten Eigenkapitalveränderungsrechnung und der konsolidierten Geldflussrechnung für das dann 
endende Jahr sowie dem Anhang der Konzernrechnung einschliesslich einer Zusammenfassung bedeutsamer 
Rechnungslegungsgrundsätze – geprüft.  

Nach unserer Beurteilung vermittelt die Konzernrechnung (Seiten 96 bis 147) ein den tatsächlichen Verhältnissen 
entsprechendes Bild der Vermögens- und Finanzlage des Konzerns zum 31. Dezember 2017 sowie dessen 
Ertragslage und Cashflows für das dann endende Jahr in Übereinstimmung mit den International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) und entspricht dem schweizerischen Gesetz.  

Grundlage für das Prüfungsurteil 

Wir haben unsere Prüfung in Übereinstimmung mit dem schweizerischen Gesetz, den International Standards on 
Auditing (ISA) sowie den Schweizer Prüfungsstandards (PS) durchgeführt. Unsere Verantwortlichkeiten nach 
diesen Vorschriften und Standards sind im Abschnitt "Verantwortlichkeiten der Revisionsstelle für die Prüfung der 
Konzernrechnung" unseres Berichts weitergehend beschrieben. Wir sind von dem Konzern unabhängig in Über-
einstimmung mit den schweizerischen gesetzlichen Vorschriften und den Anforderungen des Berufsstands sowie 
dem Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants des International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants 
(IESBA Code), und wir haben unsere sonstigen beruflichen Verhaltenspflichten in Übereinstimmung mit diesen 
Anforderungen erfüllt.  

Wir sind der Auffassung, dass die von uns erlangten Prüfungsnachweise ausreichend und geeignet sind, um als 
Grundlage für unser Prüfungsurteil zu dienen. 

 

Besonders wichtige Prüfungssachverhalte 

   
Umsatzerfassung 

 

 
Aktivierung von technischen Anlagen und Software 

 

    
Goodwill Fastweb 

 

    
Rückstellungen und Eventualverbindlichkeiten für regulatorische und wettbewerbsrechtliche Verfahren

 

 
Personalvorsorgeverpflichtung comPlan 

 

Besonders wichtige Prüfungssachverhalte sind solche Sachverhalte, die nach unserem pflichtgemässen Ermes-
sen am bedeutsamsten für unsere Prüfung der Konzernrechnung des aktuellen Zeitraums waren. Diese Sach-
verhalte wurden im Zusammenhang mit unserer Prüfung der Konzernrechnung als Ganzes und bei der Bildung 
unseres Prüfungsurteils hierzu berücksichtigt, und wir geben kein gesondertes Prüfungsurteil zu diesen Sach-
verhalten ab. 
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— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible 
for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Board of Directors or its relevant committee with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period 
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report, unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine 
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements  

In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and the Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an 
internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
according to the instructions of the Board of Directors. 

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved. 

KPMG AG 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Hanspeter Stocker Daniel Haas 
Licensed Audit Expert 
Auditor in Charge 

Licensed Audit Expert  

 

Gümligen-Berne, 6 February 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 

KPMG AG, Hofgut, PO Box 112, CH-3073 Gümligen-Berne 
 
KPMG AG is a subsidiary of KPMG Holding AG, which is a member of the KPMG network of independent firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative 
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss legal entity. All rights reserved. 
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Bericht der Revisionsstelle 
An die Generalversammlung der Swisscom AG, Ittigen (Bern) 

 
Bericht zur Prüfung der Konzernrechnung 

Prüfungsurteil 

Wir haben die Konzernrechnung der Swisscom AG und ihrer Tochtergesellschaften (der Konzern) – bestehend 
aus der konsolidierten Bilanz zum 31. Dezember 2017, der konsolidierten Gesamtergebnisrechnung, der 
konsolidierten Eigenkapitalveränderungsrechnung und der konsolidierten Geldflussrechnung für das dann 
endende Jahr sowie dem Anhang der Konzernrechnung einschliesslich einer Zusammenfassung bedeutsamer 
Rechnungslegungsgrundsätze – geprüft.  

Nach unserer Beurteilung vermittelt die Konzernrechnung (Seiten 96 bis 147) ein den tatsächlichen Verhältnissen 
entsprechendes Bild der Vermögens- und Finanzlage des Konzerns zum 31. Dezember 2017 sowie dessen 
Ertragslage und Cashflows für das dann endende Jahr in Übereinstimmung mit den International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) und entspricht dem schweizerischen Gesetz.  

Grundlage für das Prüfungsurteil 

Wir haben unsere Prüfung in Übereinstimmung mit dem schweizerischen Gesetz, den International Standards on 
Auditing (ISA) sowie den Schweizer Prüfungsstandards (PS) durchgeführt. Unsere Verantwortlichkeiten nach 
diesen Vorschriften und Standards sind im Abschnitt "Verantwortlichkeiten der Revisionsstelle für die Prüfung der 
Konzernrechnung" unseres Berichts weitergehend beschrieben. Wir sind von dem Konzern unabhängig in Über-
einstimmung mit den schweizerischen gesetzlichen Vorschriften und den Anforderungen des Berufsstands sowie 
dem Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants des International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants 
(IESBA Code), und wir haben unsere sonstigen beruflichen Verhaltenspflichten in Übereinstimmung mit diesen 
Anforderungen erfüllt.  

Wir sind der Auffassung, dass die von uns erlangten Prüfungsnachweise ausreichend und geeignet sind, um als 
Grundlage für unser Prüfungsurteil zu dienen. 

 

Besonders wichtige Prüfungssachverhalte 

   
Umsatzerfassung 

 

 
Aktivierung von technischen Anlagen und Software 

 

    
Goodwill Fastweb 

 

    
Rückstellungen und Eventualverbindlichkeiten für regulatorische und wettbewerbsrechtliche Verfahren

 

 
Personalvorsorgeverpflichtung comPlan 

 

Besonders wichtige Prüfungssachverhalte sind solche Sachverhalte, die nach unserem pflichtgemässen Ermes-
sen am bedeutsamsten für unsere Prüfung der Konzernrechnung des aktuellen Zeitraums waren. Diese Sach-
verhalte wurden im Zusammenhang mit unserer Prüfung der Konzernrechnung als Ganzes und bei der Bildung 
unseres Prüfungsurteils hierzu berücksichtigt, und wir geben kein gesondertes Prüfungsurteil zu diesen Sach-
verhalten ab. 
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Financial statements of Swisscom Ltd
Income statement
In CHF million 	 	 	 2017	 	 2016	

Net revenue from the sale of goods and services 	 	 	 231	 	 229	

Other income 	 	 	 29	 	 66	

Total operating income 	 	 	 260	 	 295	

Personnel expense 	 	 	 (79)		 (78)	

Other operating expense 	 	 	 (92)		 (92)	

Total operating expenses 	 	 	 (171)		 (170)	

Operating income 	 	 	 89	 	 125	

Financial expense 	 	 	 (129)		 (135)	

Financial income 	 	 	 140	 	 140	

Income from participations 	 	 	 105	 	 2,567	

Income before taxes 	 	 	 205	 	 2,697	

Income tax expense 	 	 	 (8)		 (15)	

Net income 	 	 	 197	 	 2,682	
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Balance sheet
In CHF million 	 Note	 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Assets 	 	 	 	 	 	

Cash and cash equivalents 	 	 	 290	 	 180	

Current financial assets 	 	 	 –	 	 86	

Derivative financial instruments 	 	 	 4	 	 9	

Trade receivables 	 3.1	 	 7	 	 17	

Other current receivables 	 3.1	 	 2	 	 7	

Accrued dividends receivable from subsidiaries 	 	 	 –	 	 2,500	

Accrued income and deferred expense 	 	 	 110	 	 100	

Total current assets 	 	 	 413	 	 2,899	

Financial assets 	 3.1	 	 6,045	 	 4,967	

Derivative financial instruments 	 	 	 73	 	 29	

Participations 	 2.2	 	 7,973	 	 7,884	

Total non-current assets 	 	 	 14,091	 	 12,880	

Total assets 	 	 	 14,504	 	 15,779	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Liabilities and equity 	 	 	 	 	 	

Current interest-bearing liabilities 	 3.2	 	 2,211	 	 1,868	

Derivative financial instruments 	 	 	 5	 	 6	

Trade payables 	 3.2	 	 8	 	 5	

Other current liabilities 	 3.2	 	 39	 	 48	

Accrued expense and deferred income 	 	 	 70	 	 84	

Provisions 	 	 	 11	 	 10	

Total current liabilities 	 	 	 2,344	 	 2,021	

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities 	 3.2	 	 6,782	 	 7,403	

Derivative financial instruments 	 	 	 52	 	 84	

Other non-current liabilities 	 3.2	 	 2	 	 4	

Provisions 	 	 	 11	 	 12	

Total non-current liabilities 	 	 	 6,847	 	 7,503	

Total liabilities 	 	 	 9,191	 	 9,524	

Share capital 	 	 	 52	 	 52	

Legal capital reserves/capital surplus reserves 	 	 	 21	 	 21	

Voluntary retained earnings 	 	 	 5,240	 	 6,183	

Treasury shares 	 3.3	 	 –	 	 (1)	

Total equity 	 	 	 5,313	 	 6,255	

Total liabilities and equity 	 	 	 14,504	 	 15,779	
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Notes to the financial statements
1	 General information

1.1	 Name, legal form and domicile

>	 Swisscom Ltd, Ittigen (canton of Berne)
>	 Parent company of the Swisscom Group
>	 Swisscom Ltd is a limited-liability company established under a special statute pursuant to the Telecommunication 

Enterprises Act (TEA) (German: “Telekommunikationsunternehmungsgesetz”) of 30 April 1997.
>	 Company identification number (UID) CHF-102.753.938

1.2	 Share capital

As of 31 December 2017, the share capital comprised 51,801,943 registered shares of a par value of CHF 1 per share, 
as in the previous year.

1.3	 Significant shareholders 

As at 31 December 2017, the Swiss Confederation (Confederation), as majority shareholder, held 51% of the issued 
shares of Swisscom Ltd which is unchanged from the prior year. The Telecommunications Enterprises Act (TEA) 
provides that the Confederation shall hold the majority of the share capital and voting rights of Swisscom Ltd. 

1.4	 Number of full-time employees

The average number of employees of Swisscom Ltd during the financial year, expressed as full-time equivalents, 
exceeded 250, as in the prior year. 

1.5	 Approval and release of Annual Financial Statements

The Board of Directors of Swisscom Ltd approved the present Annual Financial Statements on 6 February 2018 for 
release. No material post-balance-sheet events occurred up to this date. The Annual Financial Statements are 
subject to approval by the shareholders of Swisscom Ltd in its Annual General Meeting to be held on 4 April 2018. 
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 2	 Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1	 General

Significant financial statement reporting policies which are not prescribed by law are described below. The possibility 
to create and release hidden reserves for the purpose of ensuring the sustainable development of the company 
should be taken into account in this respect. 

2.2	 Participations and recording of dividend distributions by subsidiary companies

Participations are accounted for at acquisition cost less valuation allowances, as required. Dividend distributions 
from subsidiary companies are accrued in the financial statements of Swisscom Ltd provided that the annual 
general meetings of the subsidiary companies approve the payment of the dividend prior to the approval of the 
Annual Financial Statements of Swisscom Ltd by its Board of Directors. 
A list of participations held directly or indirectly by Swisscom Ltd is included in Note 5.4 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

2.3	 Derivative financial instruments and hedging transactions (hedge accounting)

Derivative financial instruments which are deployed to hedge foreign currencies and interest rates, are measured 
at market price. Movements in market values are recorded in the income statement. Derivatives which meet the 
conditions for recognition as a hedging transaction, are measured using the same valuation principles as those 
which apply to the underlying transaction. Gains and losses arising from the underlying and hedging transactions 
are dealt with on a joint basis (collective valuation approach with regard to valuation units). 

2.4	 Treasury shares 

At the time of acquisition, treasury shares are recorded at purchase cost as a deduction from shareholders’ equity. 
In the event of a subsequent disposal, the resultant gain or loss is taken to income as financial income or financial 
loss, respectively.

3	 Disclosures on balance sheet and income statement positions

3.1	 Receivables and financial assets

 	 	 	 Thereof from	 	 	 	 Thereof from	

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 participations	 	 31.12.2016	 	 participations	

Trade receivables 	 7	 	 7	 	 17	 	 17	

Other current receivables 	 2	 	 1	 	 7	 	 5	

Financial assets 	 6,045	 	 5,934	 	 4,967	 	 4,855	

3.2	 Liabilities

Trade payables and other liabilities

 	 	 	 Thereof	 	 	 	 Thereof	
 	 	 	 to	 	 	 	 to	

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 participations	 	 31.12.2016	 	 participations	

Trade payables 	 8	 	 4	 	 5	 	 1	

Other current liabilities 	 39	 	 11	 	 48	 	 10	

Other non-current liabilities 	 2	 	 –	 	 4	 	 –	
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Interest-bearing liabilities

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Bank loans 	 736	 	 721	

Debenture bonds 	 6,106	 	 6,101	

Private placements 	 500	 	 750	

Interest-bearing liabilities to participations 	 1,556	 	 1,676	

Other interest-bearing liabilities to third parties 	 95	 	 23	

Total interest-bearing liabilities 	 8,993	 	 9,271	

Of which current interest-bearing liabilities 	 2,211	 	 1,868	

Of which non-current interest-bearing liabilities 	 6,782	 	 7,403	

Debenture bonds

 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

 	 Par value	 	 Nominal	 	 Par value	 	 Nominal	

In CHF million or EUR million 	 in currency	 	 interest rate	 	 in currency	 	 interest rate	

Debenture bond in CHF 2007–2017 	 –	 	 –	 	 600	 	 3.75	

Debenture bond in CHF 2009–2018 	 1,385	 	 3.25	 	 1,425	 	 3.25	

Debenture bond in EUR 2013–2020 	 500	 	 2.00	 	 500		  2.00	

Debenture bond in EUR 2014–2021 	 500	 	 1.88	 	 500	 	 1.88	

Debenture bond in CHF 2010–2022 	 500	 	 2.63	 	 500	 	 2.63	

Debenture bond in CHF 2015–2023 	 250	 	 0.25	 	 250	 	 0.25	

Debenture bond in CHF 2012–2024 	 500	 	 1.75	 	 500	 	 1.75	

Debenture bond in EUR 2015–2025 	 500	 	 1.75	 	 500	 	 1.75	

Debenture bond in CHF 2014–2026 	 200	 	 1.50	 	 200	 	 1.50	

Debenture bond in CHF 2016–2027 	 200	 	 0.38	 	 200	 	 0.38	

Debenture bond in CHF 2017–2027 	 350	 	 0.38	 	 –	 	 –	

Debenture bond in CHF 2016–2028 	 200	 	 0.38	 	 200	 	 0.38	

Debenture bond in CHF 2014–2029 	 160	 	 1.50	 	 160	 	 1.50	

Debenture bond in CHF 2016–2032 	 300	 	 0.13	 	 300	 	 0.13	

Debenture bond in CHF 2017–2033 	 150	 	 0.75	 	 –	 	 –	

Debenture bond in CHF 2015–2035 	 150	 	 1.00	 	 150	 	 1.00	

3.3	 Treasury shares

 	 	 	 Average price	 	 	
 	 Number	 	 in CHF	 	 In CHF million	

Balance at 31 December 2015 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	

Purchases on the market 	 8,000	 	 520	 	 4	

Allocated for share-based compensation 	 (6,486)		 520	 	 (3)	

Balance at 31 December 2016 	 1,514	 	 520	 	 1	

Purchases on the market 	 7,200	 	 468	 	 3	

Allocated for share-based compensation 	 (8,090)		 468	 	 (4)	

Balance at 31 December 2017 	 624	 	 468	 	 –	
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 4	 Further information

4.1	 Collateral given to secure third-party liabilities

As of 31 December 2017, guarantee obligations exist for Group companies in favour of third parties totalling 
CHF 290 million (prior year: CHF 228 million). 

4.2	 Assets used to secure own commitments as well as assets subject to retention of title

As of 31 December 2017, financial assets totalling CHF 105 million (prior year: CHF 109 million) were not freely 
available. These assets serve to secure commitments arising from bank loans. 

4.3	 Shareholdings of the members of the Board of Directors and Group Executive Board

The following table discloses the number of unrestricted and restricted shares held by the members of the Board 
of Directors and Group Executive Board as well as parties related to them, as of 31 December 2016 and 2017:

Number 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Hansueli Loosli 	 2,733	 	 2,350	

Roland Abt 	 205	 	 88	

Valérie Berset Bircher 	 213	 	 96	

Alain Carrupt 	 213	 	 96	

Frank Esser 	 478	 	 332	

Barbara Frei 	 784	 	 648	

Catherine Mühlemann 	 1,443	 	 1,326	

Theophil Schlatter 	 1,419	 	 1,225	

Renzo Simoni 1	 160	 	 –	

Hans Werder 2	 –	 	 1,128	

Total shares held by the members of the Board of Directors 	 7,648	 	 7,289	
 		

1	 Elected to the Board of Directors as of 3 April 2017.
2	 Resigned from the Board of Directors as of 3 April 2017.

Number 	 31.12.2017	 	 31.12.2016	

Urs Schaeppi (CEO) 	 3,964	 	 3,229	

Mario Rossi 	 1,236	 	 1,027	

Hans C. Werner 	 1,068	 	 897	

Marc Werner 	 750	 	 382	

Urs Lehner 1	 115	 	 –	

Christian Petit 2	 –	 	 1,337	

Heinz Herren 	 1,586	 	 1,333	

Dirk Wierzbitzki 	 234	 	 64	

Total shares held by the members of the Group Executive Board 	 8,953	 	 8,269	
 		

1 	Joined the Group Executive Board as of 21 June 2017.
2 	Resigned from the Group Executive Board as of 21 June 2017.

In 2017, 1,493 shares (CHF 0.7 million) were issued to the members of the Board of Directors and 2,121 shares 
(CHF 0.9 million) to the members of the Group Executive Board.
None of the individuals required to make notification holds voting shares exceeding 0.1% of the share capital.
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Proposed appropriation 
of retained earnings
Proposal of the Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders to be held on 4 April 2018 that 
the available retained earnings of CHF 5,240 million as of 31 December 2017 be appropriated as follows:

In CHF million 	 31.12.2017	 	 	

Appropriation of retained earnings 	 	

Retained earnings from previous year 	 6,182	

Ordinary dividend 1	 (1,140)	

Balance carried forward from prior year 	 5,042	

Net income for the year 	 197	

Change in treasury shares 	 1	

Retained earnings available to the Annual General Meeting 	 5,240	

Ordinary dividend of CHF 22.00 per share on 51,801,319 shares 1	 (1,140)	

Balance to be carried forward 	 4,100	
 	

1	 Excluding treasury shares.

In the event that the proposal is approved, a dividend per share will be paid to shareholders on 10 April 2018 as 
follows:

Per registered share 	 CHF	

Ordinary dividend, gross 	 22.00	

Less 35% withholding tax 	 (7.70)	

Net dividend payable 	 14.30	
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1

Statutory Auditor’s Report 
To the General Meeting of Swisscom Ltd, Ittigen (Berne) 

 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Swisscom Ltd, which comprise the balance sheet as at  
31 December 2017, and the income statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion the financial statements (pages 152 to 157) for the year ended 31 December 2017 comply with 
Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation.  

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those provisions and standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the entity in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law 
and the requirements of the Swiss audit profession and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Report on Key Audit Matters based on the circular 1/2015 of the Federal Audit Oversight Authority 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 
the financial statements of the current period. We have determined that there are no key audit matters to 
communicate in our report. 

Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the 
provisions of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation, and for such internal control as the Board of 
Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements. 
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2

As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
internal control. 

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made.  

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going concern.  

We communicate with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Board of Directors or its relevant committee with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report, unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements  

In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and the Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an 
internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements according to 
the instructions of the Board of Directors. 

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss law and the 
company’s articles of incorporation. We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved. 

KPMG AG 
 
  

 
 
 

 
Hanspeter Stocker Daniel Haas 
Licensed Audit Expert 
Auditor in Charge 

Licensed Audit Expert  

 

Gümligen-Berne, 6 February 2018 
 

KPMG AG, Hofgut, PO Box 112, CH-3073 Gümligen-Berne 
 
KPMG AG is a subsidiary of KPMG Holding AG, which is a member of the KPMG network of independent firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative 
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss legal entity. All rights reserved. 
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Glossary
Technical terms

4G/LTE (Long Term Evolution): 4G/LTE is the fourth generation of mobile technology. At present, LTE enables 
mobile broadband data speeds of up to 150 Mbps.

4G+/LTE Advanced: 4G+/LTE+ enables a theoretical bandwidth of up to 300 Mbps using the mobile phone network. 
To do so, it bundles 4G/LTE frequencies to achieve the required capacity. In the near future, theoretical bandwidths 
of up to 450 Mbps will be achieved through the further bundling of 4G/LTE frequencies. 

5G: 5G is the next generation of mobile network technology. While no international definition of a 5G standard 
exists to date, tests are constantly being carried out around the world.

ADSL (Asymmetric Digital Subscriber Line): A broadband data transmission technology that uses the existing 
copper telephone cable for broadband access to the data network. 

All IP: All IP means that all services such as television, the Internet or fixed-line telephony use the same IT network. 
Swisscom is switching all existing communications network to IP. This means that all IP services within Switzer-
land are provided via Swisscom’s own network, ensuring a higher level of security and better availability than 
other online voice service providers.

Bandwidth: Bandwidth refers to the transmission capacity of a medium, also known as the data transmission 
rate. The higher the bandwidth, the more information units (bits) can be transmitted per unit of time (second). It is 
defined in bps, kbps or Mbps.

Bitstream Access: Bitstream Access denotes an upstream product for third-party providers in the telecommunication 
sector. It enables a telecommunications provider to make a data stream available to a specific end customer of 
a third-party provider. This enables the third-party provider to provide its services to a customer that it has not 
connected with its own physical network.

BPO (Business Process Outsourcing): BPO is a special form of outsourcing, of entire business processes.

Cloud: Cloud computing is an approach in which IT infrastructure such as computing capacity, data storage, and 
even finished software and platforms can be accessed dynamically and according to need via the Internet. The 
data centres, along with the resources and databases, are distributed via the cloud. The cloud is also synonymous 
for hardware that does not have a precise location.

Connectivity: Connectivity is the generic term used to denote IP services or the connection to the Internet and the 
ability to exchange data with any partner on the network.

Convergence: The term “convergence” is generally understood in the telecommunications sector to mean the 
interplay of mobile and fixed-line technologies or products that comprise both mobile and fixed-line services.

DSL (Digital Subscriber Line): DSL is the generic term for transmission technologies that use subscriber lines based 
entirely or partly on copper. Examples of DSL technologies: ADSL or VDSL.

EDGE (Enhanced Data Rates for GSM Evolution): EDGE is part of the second generation of mobile telephony and 
is a radio modulation technology used to enhance data transmission speeds in GSM mobile networks. EDGE enables 
data transfer rates of up to 256 kbps. EDGE is currently available to over 99% of the Swiss population.

FTTH (Fibre to the Home): FTTH refers to the end-to-end connection of homes and businesses using fibre-optic 
cables instead of traditional copper cables.
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FTTS (Fibre to the Street)/FTTB (Fibre to the Building)/FTTC (Fibre to the Curb): FTTS, FTTB and FTTC with vectoring 
refer to innovative, hybrid broadband connection technologies (optical fibre and copper). Using these techno
logies, fibre-optic cables are laid as close as possible to the building, or up to the basement in the case of FTTB, 
while the existing copper cabling is used for the remaining section. VDSL2’s upcoming evolution to G.fast will 
significantly increase bandwidths for FTTS and FTTB. 

G.fast (pronounced “gee dot fast”): G.fast, the latest technology for copper lines, is capable of providing far more 
bandwidth than VDSL2. The use of G.fast for FTTS and FTTB is part of Swisscom’s access strategy. 

GPRS (General Packet Radio Service): GPRS is part of the second generation of mobile telephony and increases the 
transfer rates of GSM mobile networks. GPRS enables speeds of 30 to 40 kbps.

GSM (Global System for Mobile communications) network: GSM is a global digital mobile communication standard 
of the second mobile generation. In addition to voice and data transmission, it enables services such as SMS 
messages and phone calls to other countries and from abroad (international roaming). 

Housing: Housing is defined as the placement and network connection of server infrastructure in a data centre.

HSPA (High Speed Packet Access): HSPA is an enhancement of the third generation of the UMTS mobile communi-
cations standard. Compared to UMTS, HSPA enables large volumes of data to be transmitted at faster speeds. 
HSPA enables far more customers to use the same radio cell simultaneously, and at a consistently high speed, than 
would be possible with UMTS. At locations where mobile Internet use is particularly concentrated, HSPA has been 
upgraded to HSPA+ (also referred to as HSPA Evolution). The maximum transmission speed currently delivered by 
this technology is 42 Mbps.

ICT (Information and Communication Technology): A term that became current in the 1980s, combining the 
terms “information technology” and “communication technology”. It denotes the convergence of information 
technology (information and data processing and the related hardware) and communication technology (technically 
aided communications).

Inbound/Outbound (see Roaming)

IP (Internet Protocol): IP enables different types of services to be integrated on a single network. Typical applications 
are virtual private networks (VPN), telephony (Voice over IP) and fax (Fax over IP).

IPTV (Internet Protocol Television): IPTV refers to the digital broadcasting of broadband applications (for example, 
television programmes and films) over an IP network.

ISP (Internet Service Provider): An ISP is a provider of Internet-based services. Also referred to as an Internet 
provider. Services include Internet connection (using DSL, for example), hosting (registration and operation of 
Internet addresses, websites and web servers) and content provision.

LAN (Local Area Network): A LAN is a local network for interconnecting computers, usually based on Ethernet.

MVNO (Mobile Virtual Network Operator): MVNO denotes a business model for mobile communications. In this 
case, the corresponding business (the MVNO) has either a limited network infrastructure or no network 
infrastructure at all. It therefore accesses the infrastructure of other mobile communication providers.

Net Promoter Score (NPS): NPS is a key figure that gives an indication of customer satisfaction directly and 
willingness to recommend the service to other customers indirectly. As such, it is a tool used to determine customer 
satisfaction.
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Network convergence: Network convergence is the dismantling and reorganisation of previously separated 
networks to form a large, convergent network – such as the Swisscom fixed-line and mobile network. 

Optical fibre: Fibre-optic cables enable optical data transmission, unlike copper cables, which use electrical signals 
to transmit data.

OTT (Over the Top): OTT refers to content distributed by service providers over an existing network infrastructure 
that they do not themselves operate. OTT companies offer proprietary services on the basis of the infrastructures 
of other companies in order to reach a broad range of users quickly and cost-efficiently.

Petabyte: Unit of measurement for data size. 1 petabyte is equivalent to approximately 1,000 terabytes, 1,000,000 giga
bytes or 1,000,000,000 megabytes.

PWLAN (Public Wireless Local Area Network): PWLAN denotes a wireless, local public network based on the 
IEEE 802.11 WiFi standard family. A PWLAN typically offers data transmission speeds of 5-10 Mbps.

Roaming: Roaming enables mobile network subscribers to use their mobile phones when travelling abroad. The 
mobile telephone of a subscriber outside Switzerland automatically selects the best-quality partner network. 
Information indicating the country and region where the mobile phone is located at any given time is sent imme-
diately to the exchange in Switzerland where the mobile phone is registered. On receipt of the calling signal, the 
exchange in Switzerland transmits it within a fraction of a second to the right region in the respective country, 
where the signal is forwarded to the base station near where the mobile phone is at that moment. The base 
station then forwards the signal to the mobile phone, and the call can be taken. Roaming works only if all countries 
involved operate on the same frequency bands. In Europe, all GSM networks use the same frequency bands. Other 
countries such as the USA or countries in South America use a different frequency range. Most mobile telephones 
today are triband or quadband and support 900 MHz and 1,800 MHz networks (which are most commonly used 
in Europe) as well as 850 MHz and 1,900 MHz networks.

Router: A router is a device for connecting or separating several computer networks. The router analyses incoming 
data packets according to their destination address, and either blocks them or forwards them accordingly (routing). 
Routers come in different forms, from large-scale network devices to small devices for the home.

Smart data: Primarily refers to the processing and understanding of large, complex and rapidly changing data 
volumes with the aim of creating added value.

Streaming: Denotes the transmission of audio and video signals via a network or the Internet without the need to 
store the data on the local device.

TDM (Time Division Multiplexing): Multiplexing is a method that allows the simultaneous transmission of multi-
ple signals over a single communications medium (line, cable or radio link), for example, by means of classic 
telephony (using an ISDN or analogue line). Multiplexing methods are often combined to achieve even higher 
utilisation. The signals are multiplexed once the user data have been modulated on a carrier signal. At the receiver 
end the information signal is first demultiplexed and then demodulated.

Terabyte: Unit of measurement of data size. 1 terabyte is equivalent to approximately 1,000 gigabytes or 
1,000,000 megabytes.

TIME: Acronym for Telecommunication, Information, Multimedia and Entertainment. It refers to the way in which 
these areas grow together in the course of digitisation.

Ultra-fast broadband: Ultra-fast broadband denotes broadband speeds of more than 50 Mbps – on both the 
fixed-line and mobile networks.
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UMTS (Universal Mobile Telecommunications System): UMTS is an international third-generation mobile 
communications standard that combines mobile multimedia and voice services. A further development of GSM, 
UMTS complements GSM and Public Wireless LAN in Switzerland. Today the UMTS network covers around 99% of 
the Swiss population.

Unified Communications: An attempt used to integrate the wide variety of modern communication techno
logies. Different telecommunication services such as e-mail, unified messaging, telephony, mobile telephony, 
PDAs, instant messaging and presence functions are coordinated to improve the reachability of communication 
partners working on distributed projects.

Vectoring: Vectoring is a technology used in conjunction with VDSL2. It eliminates interference between pairs of 
copper lines, thereby achieving up to a twofold increase in bandwidth.

VDSL (Very High Speed Digital Subscriber Line): VDSL is currently the fastest DSL technology, allowing data trans
mission speeds of up to 100 Mbps. The current form of VDSL is called VDSL2.

VoIP (Voice over Internet Protocol): VoIP is used to set up telephone connections via the Internet.

VoLTE (Voice over LTE): LTE is, in effect, a pure data network. VoLTE enables phone calls to be made via the LTE data 
network.

WiFi Calling: WiFi Calling enables users to make calls via their mobile phone and the WLAN/WiFi network and 
thereby significantly improves mobile phone reception from inside buildings.

WLAN (Wireless Local Area Network): A wireless local area network (WLAN) connects several computers 
wirelessly to a central information system, printer or scanner.

Other terms

Bitstream access (BSA): Regulated bitstream access is a high-speed link that travels the last mile from the local 
exchange to the customer’s home connection via a metallic pair cable. BSA is set up by Swisscom and is provided 
to other telecoms service providers (TSP) as an upstream service at a price regulated by the government. TSPs can 
use this link, for example, to offer their customers broadband services such as fast Internet access.

ComCo (Competition Commission): ComCo enforces the Federal Cartel Act, the aim of which is to safeguard 
against the harmful economic or social impact of cartels and other constraints on competition in order to foster 
competition. ComCo combats harmful cartels and monitors market-dominant companies for signs of anti-
competitive conduct. It is responsible for monitoring mergers and also provides opinions on official decrees that 
affect competition.

ComCom (Federal Communications Commission): ComCom is the decision-making authority for telecommuni
cations. Its primary responsibilities include issuing concessions for use of the radio frequency spectrum as well as 
basic service licences. It also provides access (unbundling, interconnection, leased lines, etc.), approves national 
numbering plans and regulates the conditions governing number portability and freedom of choice of service 
provider.
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Ex-ante: In an ex-ante regime, the particulars of the regulated offerings (commercial, technical and operating 
conditions) must be approved by a government authority (authorisation obligation). The conditions approved by 
the authority (such as price) are known to the parties using the regulated services. There is legal provision for the 
affected providers to establish that the price has been correctly determined.

Ex-post: In an ex-post regulation approach, the parties must agree all possible aspects of the contractual content 
(primacy of negotiation). In the event of a dispute, the authorities decide only on the points on which the parties 
have been unable to agree (objection principle).

Federal Office of Communications (OFCOM): OFCOM deals with issues related to telecommunications and broad-
casting (radio and television), and performs official and regulatory tasks in these areas. It prepares the groundwork 
for decisions by the Federal Council, the Federal Department for Environment, Transport, Energy and Communications 
(DETEC) and the Federal Communications Commission (ComCom).

FTE (full-time equivalent): Throughout this report, FTE is used to denote the number of full-time equivalent 
positions.

Full access: Full access in connection with unbundling means providing alternative telecommunications service 
providers with access to subscriber lines for the purpose of using the entire frequency spectrum of metallic pair 
cables.

Hubbing: Hubbing denotes the trading of telephone traffic with other telecommunication operators.

Interconnection: Interconnection means linking up the systems and services of two telecoms providers so as to 
enable the logical interaction of the connected telecoms components and services and to provide access to third-
party services. Interconnection allows the customer of one telecoms provider to communicate with the subscribers 
of another provider. Under the terms of the Federal Telecommunications Act, market-dominant telecoms providers 
are required to allow their competitors interconnection at cost-based prices (LRIC, see below). 

Last mile: Also referred to as the local loop, the last mile denotes the subscriber access line between the subscriber 
access point and the local exchange (access network, see above). In Switzerland, as in most other countries, access to 
the last mile is regulated (unbundling).

Unbundling: Unbundling of the last mile (Unbundling of the Local Loop, ULL) enables fixed-line-network competitors 
without their own access infrastructure to access customers directly at non-discriminatory conditions based on 
original cost. The prerequisite for ULL is the presence of a market-dominant provider. There are two types of 
unbundling: unbundling at the exchange (unbundling of the local loop/ULL or LLU, referred to as TAL in Switzer-
land), currently available at around 600 unbundled locations, and unbundling at the neighbourhood distribution 
cabinet (sub-loop unbundling, referred to as T-TAL in Switzerland), in which Swisscom’s competitors have so far 
shown no interest.
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Swisscom Group 
five-year review
In CHF million, except where indicated 	 	 	 2013	 	 2014	 	 2015	 	 2016	 	 2017	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net revenue and results 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net revenue 	 	 	 11,434	 	 11,703	 	 11,678	 	 11,643	 	 11,662	

Operating income before depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 	 	 	 4,302	 	 4,413	 	 4,098	 	 4,293	 	 4,295	

EBITDA as % of net revenue 	 %	 	 37.6	 	 37.7	 	 35.1	 	 36.9	 	 36.8	

Operating income (EBIT) 	 	 	 2,258	 	 2,322	 	 2,012	 	 2,148	 	 2,131	

Net income 	 	 	 1,695	 	 1,706	 	 1,362	 	 1,604	 	 1,568	

Earnings per share 	 CHF	 	 32.53	 	 32.70	 	 26.27	 	 30.97	 	 30.31	 					     	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance sheet and cash flows 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Equity at end of year 	 	 	 6,002	 	 5,486	 	 5,242	 	 6,522	 	 7,645	

Equity ratio at end of year 	 %	 	 29.3	 	 26.2	 	 24.8	 	 30.4	 	 34.7	

Cash flow from operating activities 	 	 	 3,931	 	 3,565	 	 3,702	 	 3,722	 	 4,091	

Capital expenditure in property, plant and equipment 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

and intangible assets 	 	 	 2,396	 	 2,436	 	 2,409	 	 2,416	 	 2,378	

Net debt at end of period 	 	 	 7,812	 	 8,120	 	 8,042	 	 7,846	 	 7,447	 					     	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Employees 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Full-time equivalent employees at end of year 	 number	 	 20,108	 	 21,125	 	 21,637	 	 21,127	 	 20,506	

Average number of full-time equivalent employees 	 number	 	 19,746	 	 20,433	 	 21,546	 	 21,543	 	 20,836	 					     	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Operational data at end of period 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Fixed telephony access lines in Switzerland 	 in thousand	 	 2,879	 	 2,778	 	 2,629	 	 2,367	 	 2,047	

Broadband access lines retail in Switzerland 	 in thousand	 	 1,811	 	 1,890	 	 1,958	 	 1,992	 	 2,014	

Mobile access lines in Switzerland 	 in thousand	 	 6,407	 	 6,540	 	 6,625	 	 6,612	 	 6,637	

Swisscom TV access lines in Switzerland 	 in thousand	 	 1,000	 	 1,165	 	 1,331	 	 1,418	 	 1,467	

Revenue generating units (RGU) Switzerland 	 in thousand	 	 12,097	 	 12,373	 	 12,543	 	 12,389	 	 12,165	

Unbundled fixed access lines in Switzerland 	 in thousand	 	 256	 	 180	 	 128	 	 128	 	 107	

Broadband access lines wholesale in Switzerland 	 in thousand	 	 215	 	 262	 	 315	 	 364	 	 435	

Broadband access lines in Italy 	 in thousand	 	 1,942	 	 2,072	 	 2,201	 	 2,355	 	 2,451	 					     	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Swisscom share 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Number of issued shares at end of period 	 in million of shares	 	 51.802	 	 51.802	 	 51.802	 	 51.802	 	 51.802	

Market capitalisation at end of year 	 	 	 24,394	 	 27,067	 	 26,056	 	 23,627	 	 26,859	

Closing price at end of period 	 CHF	 	 470.90	 	 522.50	 	 503.00	 	 456.10	 	 518.50	

Closing price highest 	 CHF	 	 474.00	 	 587.50	 	 580.50	 	 528.50	 	 527.00	

Closing price lowest 	 CHF	 	 390.20	 	 467.50	 	 471.10	 	 426.80	 	 429.80	

Ordinary dividend per share 	 CHF	 	 22.00	 	 22.00	 	 22.00	 	 22.00	 	 22.00	  1

Ratio payout/earnings per share 	 %	 	 67.63	 	 67.27	 	 83.75	 	 71.04	 	 72.59	 					     	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Informations Switzerland 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Net revenue 	 	 	 9,358	 	 9,586	 	 9,764	 	 9,665	 	 9,476	

Operating income before depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 	 	 	 3,685	 	 3,788	 	 3,461	 	 3,572	 	 3,451	

Capital expenditure in property, plant and equipment 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

and intangible assets 	 	 	 1,686	 	 1,751	 	 1,822	 	 1,774	 	 1,678	

Full-time equivalent employees at end of year 	 number	 	 17,362	 	 18,272	 	 18,965	 	 18,372	 	 17,688	
 					     	

1	 In accordance with the proposal of the Board of Directors to the Annual General Meeting.



Fu
rt

he
r i

nf
or

m
at

io
n

Fo
rw

ar
d-

lo
ok

in
g 

st
at

em
en

ts

168

Forward-looking statements

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements. In this Annual Report, such forward-looking statements 
include, without limitation, statements relating to our financial condition, results of operations and business and 
certain of our strategic plans and objectives.

Because these forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties, actual future results may differ 
materially from those expressed in or implied by the statements. Many of these risks and uncertainties relate to 
factors which are beyond Swisscom’s ability to control or estimate precisely, such as future market conditions, 
currency fluctuations, the behaviour of other market participants, the actions of governmental regulators and 
other risk factors detailed in Swisscom’s and Fastweb’s past and future filings and reports, including those filed 
with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission and in past and future filings, press releases, reports and other 
information posted on Swisscom Group Companies’ websites.

Readers are cautioned not to put undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which speak only of the date of 
this communication.

Swisscom disclaims any intention or obligation to update and revise any forward-looking statements, whether as 
a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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